Indiana State University Sycamore Scholars

All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2021

An Investigation To Explore Optimal Contextual Conditions And Models Of Charter School Authorizer Accountability In School Improvement Efforts

Aimee Evan Indiana State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.indianastate.edu/etds

Recommended Citation

Evan, Aimee, "An Investigation To Explore Optimal Contextual Conditions And Models Of Charter School Authorizer Accountability In School Improvement Efforts" (2021). *All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 1861.

https://scholars.indianastate.edu/etds/1861

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Sycamore Scholars. It has been accepted for inclusion in All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Sycamore Scholars. For more information, please contact dana.swinford@indstate.edu.

AN INVESTIGATION TO EXPLORE OPTIMAL CONTEXTUAL CONDITIONS AND MODELS OF CHARTER SCHOOL AUTHORIZER ACCOUNTABILITY IN SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT EFFORTS

A Dissertation

Presented to

The College of Graduate and Professional Studies

Department of Educational Leadership

Indiana State University

Terre Haute, Indiana

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

by

Aimee Evan

May 2021

Keywords: charters, school choice, turnaround, improvement, authorizers

COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Committee Chair: Ryan Donlan, Ed.D.

Associate Professor, Department of Educational Leadership

Indiana State University

Committee Member: Steve Gruenert, Ph.D.

Professor, Department of Educational Leadership

Indiana State University

Committee Member: Jack Barshinger, Ed.D.

University Professor, School of Education, Ed.D. Program

Aurora University

ABSTRACT

This qualitative study sought to learn why authorizers offer current under-performing charter schools the option of turnaround, as well as how, and what models of accountability authorizers use to balance autonomy and accountability to improve low-performing charters. Conducting interviews with nine individuals and document reviews from five authorizers from across the nation, this study explores ways in which authorizer accountability models influence comprehensive and significant improvement processes in five states with charter schools authorized by independent charter boards, institutes of higher education, and a governmental agency. This research provides new empirical evidence of how the varying community actors directly and indirectly view turnaround efforts of underperforming charter schools in lieu of school closure and how authorizers hold schools conducting an improvement effort accountable to achieve and sustain improvement over time. The themes of this study included the two pertaining to public's perception of closure and improvement in each of the authorizer's contexts, including how the purpose of school was factored into decisions about allowing a school to improve. How authorizers approached supporting school improvement and formal and informal mechanisms for holding authorizers accountable were also found. Four themes related to the accountability mechanisms authorizers used to hold schools accountable acknowledge schools are held to the same accountability framework focused on outcomes of their educational program, site visits serve to monitor for improvement and identify support needed, contract year terms are used to increase the level and cadence of oversight and school autonomy is reduced

only when schools fail to improve. Implications pertaining to policy, practice, and leadership include integrating improvement best practices in authorizer accountability and capacity, improving authorizer accountability mechanisms and embedding equity in accountability, and determining sector involvement in improvement to address systemic issues.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my dissertation chair, Ryan Donlan, for his guidance and encouragement to pursue a topic that is personally compelling. Always ready with words of sage advice and guidance, he provided critical feedback and the invaluable opportunity to percolate. The members of my committee were essential to the successful completion of my research, providing critical and insightful feedback, but Jack Barshinger also pushed me to (rightly so) think beyond the charter school sector. Steve Gruenert guided my thinking toward strategic leadership and intentional culture. WestEd leadership and staff supported my educational journey, not only financially, but with words of encouragement and constant motivation. The richness of this research study would not have been possible without the generosity of my study participants. All were extremely accommodating and forthcoming with their stories as authorizers navigating the multiple pressures, priorities and changing political tides their journeys entailed. Thanks to my editor, Brooke Norton, for her diligent review of my writing and her enthusiasm for my research. To the Indiana State University REDS Cohort and smaller "Zoom crew" that spanned several states and time zones: your camaraderie still supports and comforts me to this day. Thank you, my incredibly supportive husband and patient children, who perhaps saw the back of my head more often than they would have liked as I banged away on the keyboard. This research project would not have been possible without the love and excitement they provided me on this journey. I would also like to thank my parents and in-laws. They have cheered me on from the start. Finally, to my Grandpa. With only an elementary education, he taught us the value of education and hard work early on with a "quarter for every A" on our report cards.

v

TABLE OF CONTENTS

COMMITTEE MEMBERS ii
ABSTRACTiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
LIST OF TABLESx
STUDY RATIONALE AND FOUNDATION1
Background and Context of the Problem2
Options for Low-Performing Schools
Statement of the Problem
Areas of Focus of Turnaround for Accountability
Purpose of the Study9
Research Questions
Significance of the Study10
Methodological Brief11
Limitations12
Delimitations13
Definition of Terms14
Theoretical Framework16
Organization of the Dissertation17
LITERATURE REVIEW19
Literature Review Methods
Charter Schools

	Charters Debut	23
	Charters Today	26
	Political Support and Opposition to Charters	27
	Charter Types	31
	Charter Demographics	31
	Charter Outcomes	32
	Charter Authorizers	38
	Authorizer Accountability	41
	Authorizers as Linchpins to Improving Charter Sector	44
	Changing Charter Landscape: Ensuring Equitable Access	44
	School Closure	45
	State Policy Changes to Address Underperforming Charters	46
	National Policy Changes to Address Underperforming Charters	47
	Authorizers' Changing Role	49
	Charter Schools and Turnaround	.50
	Framework for Turnaround	52
	Turnaround Leadership	52
	Talent Development	54
	Instructional Transformation	55
	Culture Shift	57
METHODOLO	DGY	.60
	Research Design	.61
	Population and Sample	.62

	Recruiting Procedures	63
	Data Collection Methods	64
	Document Review	
	Interview Protocol	
	Data Analysis	68
	Developing Codes	
	Reliability and Validity	69
	Summary	69
FINDINGS		70
	Study Sample	70
	Characteristics of Participants and Institutions	71
	Data Collection	73
	Case Study Analysis	74
	Major Themes of the Study	75
	Themes from Research Question One	
	Improvement Versus Closure	
	Supporting School Improvement	
	Themes from Research Question Two	
	Accountability Frameworks	
	Site Visits	
	Contract Year Terms	
	School Autonomy	
	Summary	107

SUMMARY, DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS, IMPLICATIONS	
Research Questions	
Summary and Discussion of Findings	
Contextual Factors of Improvement	110
Accountability Mechanisms for Improvement	
Conclusions	116
Implications for Policy, Practice and Leadership	117
Implications for Policy	
Holding Authorizers Accountable for Improvement	
Introducing Legislative Guardrails to Support Improvement Options	
Explicitly Examining Equity in Accountability	121
Implications for Practice	123
Updating Authorizing Principles and Standards	123
Improving Authorizer Accountability Mechanisms	
Implications for Leadership	125
Intentional Sector Involvement in Improvement	125
Build Authorizer Capacity Regarding Improvement	127
Opportunities for Future Research	
Closing Remarks	
APPENDIX A: DRAFT RECRUITMENT EMAIL	
APPENDIX B: INTERVIEW PROTOCOLS	
APPENDIX C: OPEN AND AXIAL CODES AND THEMES	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Demographic Characteristics of Student Population in Charters versus Traditional
Public Schools
Table 2 Research Question and Data Sources 65
Table 3 Participants
Table 4 Number of Authorizers' Performance Frameworks with Specific Academic Performance
Outcomes
Table 5 Number of Authorizers' Performance Frameworks with Specific Operations Outcomes
Table 6 Number of Authorizers' Performance Frameworks with Specific Financial Outcomes. 94
Table 7 Implications for Policy, Practice and Leadership 118

CHAPTER 1

STUDY RATIONALE AND FOUNDATION

While still public schools, charter schools operate independently like a private school. In return for more extensive say in their programming than traditional public schools, charter schools agree to stipulations outlined in a performance contract, or "charter." Entities, called authorizers, hold charters to these agreed-upon financial and academic results. Charter schools that meet these goals will be renewed by the authorizer. If charter schools do not meet the authorizers' criteria, authorizers can choose not to renew their charters and may even close the schools. The threat of closing underperforming schools serves as an important and needed lever in improving the overall quality of charter schools. Unfortunately, as found by researchers at the Center for Research on Education Outcomes (CREDO), the assumption that students will find a better schooling option after their charter school is closed does not always ring true, as the majority of students whose schools have closed do not always find better educational options in their new schools (CREDO, 2017). Additionally, transition research argues that transitioning students to a different school has long term negative impact on students' academic abilities (Hanushek et al., 2004; Schwerdt & West, 2011).

The most common reasons for school closure are poor finances, governance, and academic achievement (David & Hesla, 2018). We know these reasons because authorizers set up transparent structures focused on compliance accountability,

facilitating clear and concise decision-making about the charter renewal process with two outcomes. Authorizers set benchmarks, and schools are charged with meeting specific targets or goals. Schools unable to meet their goals have their charters revoked. Schools that do meet goals have their charters renewed. Offering the option of turnaround in a charter is messy, but some authorizers have done so with success.

This qualitative study sought to learn why authorizers offer current underperforming charter schools the option of turnaround, as well as how, and what models of accountability they use to set up the balance of autonomy and accountability to improve low-performing charters rather than close them. Conducting interviews with nine individuals and document reviews from five authorizers from across the nation, this study explores ways in which authorizer accountability models influence comprehensive and significant improvement processes in five states with charter schools authorized by independent charter boards, institutes of higher education, and a governmental agency across the U.S.

Background and Context of the Problem

Families choose to send their children to publicly funded charter schools at the same rate at which they choose to send their children to private schools. Publicly funded charter schools offer free attendance, but students must participate in high-stakes standardized testing (O'Brien & Dervarics, 2010). Charter school enrollment is unlike traditional public schools which are often referred to as neighborhood schools because students automatically attend if they live in the geographic boundary of the school (O'Brien & Dervarics, 2010; Zimmer et al., 2008). By comparison, enrollment in charter schools occur when parents choose to enroll their child in a specific school based on other factors than just geographic boundaries. The number of students attending charter

schools has quickly risen in the brief period charters have existed. Enrollment in charters in 2000 was 0.4 million (close to 2% of students) and 3.2 million in 2017; the number of schools rose from 2,000 in 2000 to almost 7,500 schools in 2017 (McFarland et al., 2017; National Alliance for Public Charter Schools, n.d.-b). Both the number of charters opening and the enrollment size at charters has grown (McFarland et al., 2017).

The rapid increase in the charter sector is due to a growth in the choice market as well as previous federal legislation, which allowed a narrow set of prescriptive options for low-performing traditional public schools (No Child Left Behind Act [NCLB], 2002). One of four turnaround options allowed for consistently low performing traditional public schools consisted of reconstituting the school as a charter school. The rationale for reconstitution came from research on turnaround efforts in traditional public schools which found schools conducting improvement efforts were more successful when they were not only held accountable by an outside entity but that they also had the autonomy and flexibility to make the changes needed based on the needs of the school (Dragoset et al., 2017; U.S. Department of Education, 2014). Charter schools by design offered such "autonomy and flexibility for accountability."

Options for Low-Performing Schools

At the same time of rapid growth in charter schools, research on charter outcomes has found that while many high-performing charter schools exist, the sector is still plagued by many poor performers (Finn et al., 2016). Specific policy options for addressing under-performing charters differ depending on authorizer policy and state law. In practice, approaches to addressing low or under-performance of charter schools vary from strict enforcement of accountability where low performing schools are closed, to inaction (Chait et al., 2019). State legislation that dictates charters must be automatically

closed for low performance or provides a performance threshold below which charters must be closed, offers few options to authorizers for improvement. The purpose of closing schools was to provide students a better option elsewhere (Chait et al., 2019).

Unfortunately, the underlying assumption when closing schools that students will find a better schooling option when their school is closed does not always ring true, as the majority of students whose schools have closed do not find better educational options in their new schools (CREDO, 2017). Additionally, transition research argues that transitioning students to a different school has long-term negative impact on students' academic abilities (Hanushek et al., 2004; Schwerdt & West, 2011). In addition, as CREDO (2017) recently found, the burdens associated with school transfers disproportionately affect minority students. For instance, schools serving higher percentages of students in poverty or minority-majority populations were closed more often (CREDO, 2017).

While school closure rates disproportionately affect historically underserved populations, closures only capture a small fraction of the low-performing charters and traditional public schools. Less than 10 percent (5.5%) of the low performing charters identified in CREDO (2017) were closed, indicating students continued attending schools with the lowest reading and math scores in their state (CREDO, 2017). Researchers identified 1,522 low-performing schools meeting such criteria for their study, across 26 states. If such low-performing schools are not going to be closed, substantial turnaround efforts are warranted.

Authorizers hold charter schools accountable to engender good will and confidence in the sector. If schools are closed, it signals to the public that authorizers are doing their due diligence. However, there may be political downsides to closure as well.

Political theory called the Overton Window specifically describes a range of policies on any given topic. The Overton Window identifies within that range of policies the "window" the public would find acceptable (Mackinac Center, n.d.). To move the window of publicly accepted policy, the Overton Window advises employing a policy far from acceptable. With closure as the currently accepted policy for under-performing schools, the Overton Window helps explain how the public may come to consider turnaround of an under-performing charter as acceptable and another way for authorizers to conduct their responsibilities appropriately.

Over the last thirty years, researchers have increasingly examined the elements of a successful school turnaround, including charter school turnaround (Doyle & Field, 2013; Evan, 2019; Evan & Canavero, 2020; National Association of Charter School Authorizers, 2015; Therriault, 2016). The literature base on turnaround offers few success stories, and most turnaround attempts that have been studied have failed. However, the conditions found in successful turnarounds are inherent in the makeup of charters, potentially making charters good candidates for turnaround. The following factors have been correlated with successful and sustainable school turnaround: 1) School autonomy, such as the ability to hire highly qualified staff, fire staff deemed unqualified or incompetent; 2) Creation of new school culture; 3) Transformation of academic programming (curriculum, assessment support, and instructional support); and 4) Operational flexibility, including the ability to shift budget priorities to invest in improvements focused on academic achievement (Corbett, 2015). An additional factor found relevant to successful turnaround was when schools were held accountable by external entities such as an authorizer (Hitt et al., 2018; Kowal et al., 2009). Unlike traditional public schools, charters are obligated to meet conditions of their performance

contract within a certain time period, most often five years. "External accountability from the authorizer exerts pressure on the school board and school leadership to dedicate the necessary time and resources to the turnaround effort" (Chait et al., 2019, p. 5).

Statement of the Problem

The recent reauthorization (December 2015) of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) as the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) increased the options for states to support districts in improving low-performing schools. A national review of school improvement strategies proposed in states' consolidated ESSA state plans does not veer too far from the narrow and prescriptive options under previous ESEA (Center on School Turnaround, 2017). However recent emerging research provides a framework for rapid and sustainable turnaround that many states are adopting or adapting (Center on School Turnaround, 2017; Evan & Canavero, 2020).

It is difficult to determine whether turnaround efforts will be worth the number of resources, including time, energy, and willpower to provide a viable option for students to get an excellent education. In a charter context, turnaround efforts may not align with the philosophy of the authorizer, as it may see the only option for a low-performing school is closure. However, the detrimental effects of closure on students, particularly disproportionately minority and low income students, help make a stronger case for turnaround. If so, research has identified the areas of focus for turnaround efforts to examine and improve, including leadership, talent, instruction, culture, and operations.

Areas of Focus of Turnaround for Accountability

From their comprehensive literature review, Leithwood et al. (2004) found that the quality of leadership at the school, while not as impactful as what teachers do, is still quite effective in producing gains in student growth and achievement. In addition, school leadership is necessary to guide turnaround (Thompson et al., 2016). Leaders are responsible for a wide variety of improvement actions with the most important being improving instruction and making positive changes in school climate.

Effective school leaders recruit and retain a high-quality staff, foster positive school culture, establish high expectations, and reach out to the community (Almanzan, 2005; Clifford et al., 2012). School leadership is not limited to a single person. Teachers and other school staff all play critical roles in effectively leading the school (Herman et al., 2008; Shannon & Bylsma, 2007). Distributed leadership (collaboration between administrators and leadership teams) can have a positive impact on school quality (Hallinger & Heck, 2010; Spillane et al., 2001).

In addition to finding adequate and prepared leaders, schools deemed in need of improvement often have a more difficult time recruiting effective teachers (Brackett et al., 2007). Talent management also includes supporting the teachers already on staff. In addition to recruiting effective staff, schools need to develop the teaching staff they have through effective professional learning and retain staff who will contribute to the school's growth in performance.

Typically, school staff are charged with turning around the instructional practice and culture within a school. This instructional transformation should be data driven, rigorous, and supported system-wide (Anderson et al., 2010; Hamilton et al., 2009; Herman et al., 2008; Lachat & Smith, 2005; Masumoto & Brown-Welty, 2009; Moore & Emig, 2014). To do so, teachers need to be able to identify students' needs and base their instruction around them, build effective scaffolding into their instruction to support students based on their needs, and have the support and infrastructure available to apply

assessment results to instructional plans (Hamilton et al., 2009; Lachat & Smith, 2005; Love et al., 2008).

Quality teaching requires that teachers have clear notions of how learning develops (i.e., learning progressions) and how to guide learners forward. Assessing students' progress toward mastery of standards, skills and/or competencies also known as formative assessment, plays a key role in this process (Hamilton et al., 2009). Through monitoring student knowledge and understanding during instruction, formative assessment yields data that allow teachers to make real-time adjustments to their instruction and helps learners to reflect on their learning (Love et al., 2008). A landmark meta-analysis from Black and William (1998) found that formative assessment positively impacts students' achievement when teachers use the results to change lessons based on students' needs.

A strong school culture creates positive interactions both within the school building and with the larger community. High-performing schools partner with families that support students in determining and achieving their life goals (Shannon & Bylsma, 2007; Weiss et al., 2010). This is accomplished by working through any language or other cultural barriers to establish trust, increasing the types and impact of interactions with families, and providing families with approaches to use in supporting students at home (Paredes, 2011). Students attending schools using impactful family engagement strategies increased the likelihood by four-fold that the school's reading and math performance would improve (Bryk et al., 2010).

What sets apart successful school improvement efforts from less successful efforts are the decisions made pertaining to staffing, programs, budget, schedule, and data decisions. In successful improvement efforts, these functions serve to support

improvement efforts (Ouchi, 2009; Zavadsky, 2016). School leaders need to know how to align these systems to support school improvement efforts effectively.

State legislation that dictates charters must be automatically closed for low performance (15 states) or provides a threshold by which charters must be closed should performance go below it (19 states) provides few options to authorizers for improvement. The purpose of closing schools was to offer students a better option elsewhere. Laws calling for automatic closure make it difficult for authorizers to move beyond a binary decision tree pertaining to how to support low-performing schools. Improving the charter sector has thus far included starting high-quality schools and closing low-quality schools (LiBetti et al., 2019).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to contribute to the fields of accountability and education policy by investigating models of authorizer accountability for charter turnaround efforts and determining optimal contextual conditions to facilitate a turnaround option.

Research Questions

To fulfill the purpose of this study, the following two research questions were investigated:

- (1) What contextual (e.g. theoretical, conceptual, or research-based) conditions were in place for the authorizer to facilitate school turnaround?
 - a. Does school improvement in charter schools fit into the Overton Window and what factors influenced the political will to allow the option of turnaround?

- b. What policies (state and local) were in place to allow a lowperforming charter school to engage in turnaround?
- c. Was the authorizer held accountable for improving charter schools?
- (2) What models of accountability were used for schools conducting turnaround?
 - a. What autonomies were provided to the school?
 - b. When and how was the turnaround process monitored for progress?
 - c. What components of the school were monitored for progress (i.e., leadership, talent, instruction, culture)?

Significance of the Study

The field has a dearth of information on school improvement in charter schools. Because of the independent nature of charters, there is no designated entity in the charter ecosystem to support a charter's turnaround, although turnaround could be a beneficial option for some schools and students. To start, if a charter has been deemed capable of conducting its own turnaround, policymakers at the state level could apply the policies, opportunities, and funding available to support traditional public school turnaround (Evan and Canavero, 2020). Local philanthropy could provide resources to support organizations to conduct or support charter school turnaround. National philanthropy organizations could strategically invest in incubating effective practices for charter turnaround (Chait et al., 2019). This study suggests one additional aspect of charter turnaround: how authorizer accountability can be set up to support or impede the process of improvement in schools.

Charters answer to, report to, and are compliant with an authorizer throughout the application, monitoring, and renewal or closure process. This study sought to determine the type of accountability authorizers are using to hold schools accountable through a

turnaround process. A primary argument for improving the sector lies within the role of the authorizer to open new successful schools and close low-performing schools (LiBetti et al., 2019). Several authorizers are looking to improve their current schools in lieu of closing the school or letting it languish. Instead authorizers are choosing to provide underperforming schools the option of a comprehensive turnaround. As Finn et al. (2016) pointed out, "authorizer failure, combined with policy failure to create a properly accountable authorizing structure, is the biggest reason in most places for weak charter performance" (p. 88). It is therefore important to assess how well authorizers fulfill their role as overseers of the turnaround process, both in how they hold low-performing schools accountable and how they are being held accountable themselves.

Methodological Brief

This multi-case study contributes to charter research by analyzing how the charter movement has evolved over time in terms of the ways in which authorizers are attempting to improve the sector through charter authorizer accountability frameworks. This study had two major areas of interest and contributions: (1) to document the contextual conditions in how authorizers came to offer the option of turnaround, including how authorizers are held accountable for offering turnaround as an option; and (2) to provide an analysis of the accountability models authorizers use when offering turnaround through the content analysis of renewal and improvement documents and interviews with authorizer representatives, including exploring what criteria authorizers use to hold charters accountable when offering turnaround to a particular low-performing charter school. The study contributes to modern education research by creating a typology describing and differentiating authorizer accountability models and illustrating any authorizer variation in accountability approach.

The primary research tool for this study consisted of a document review of charter authorizer documents and semi-structured interviews of charter authorizer staff. Authorizer's policies and rules were analyzed to determine the emphasis on improvement accountability strategies among statewide authorizers in the United States. Research for this study was operationalized based on the analysis of the policies used for reviewing charters and monitoring schools in turnaround status. This study connects authorizer closure and improvement data to accountability strategies. Additionally, supplementary interviews with authorizers were conducted to provide insights and historical, administrative, and organizational context to the data being collected.

Limitations

The way data were collected is a limitation to this study. For this study, authorizers reported their perceptions and thoughts about their own experiences holding charter schools accountable during turnaround. These data were self-reported and thus may not be wholly representative of authorizers' experiences across the country. To minimize the impact of self-reported data, document analysis was performed as a means of triangulating findings. When possible, multiple employees were interviewed at each authorizer to obtain multiple viewpoints and knowledge of authorizer systems and practice.

Another limitation is the role of researcher. I am currently a Senior Research Associate with a national research and technical assistance organization. I have been working in education for 20 years and have been a part of a charter school turnaround team. I have also studied turnaround in both traditional and charter schools, and written toolkits, research studies, and policy briefs on the topic of turnaround and charter school turnaround. Researcher bias is often raised as a concern in qualitative research pertaining to trustworthiness. The researcher is central to the research process as both the data collector and interpreter in a qualitative study (Patton, 2015). I have reflected on both my own background and experience as well as how these experiences might subjectively impact the collection and interpretation of the data. Given that I have been trained to ensure that my prior experience does not bias my research, I believe I have kept an open mind and conducted this study with impartiality and neutrality, as suggested by Moustakas (1994).

Delimitations

Delimitations in this study include a purposeful sample, which may limit generalizability. States which mandate that authorizers close low or under-performing charter schools were excluded from the study because authorizers in these states are not allowed by law to offer any other option but closure of under-performing schools. In addition, states with mandatory turnaround options were also excluded. By limiting the sample, this research was able to capture states and authorizers that were allowed, but not mandated, to offer turnaround in order to offer the best opportunity to generalize to other contexts without these mandates. Because turnaround in the charter sector is rare, the authorizers selected were not selected randomly but purposefully based on whether they offered the option of turnaround.

One area of focus found needed for successful turnaround is autonomy, specifically, the autonomy to make decisions pertaining to staffing, use of time, programming, financial and facilities to address school needs. While this autonomy is typically already a part of the charter contract, the level of autonomy and what charters have autonomy to do varies from state to state. Given the few charter turnarounds, a delimitation placed on this study is around parsing out or inquiring about the specific levels and types of autonomy upheld during turnaround, which would in itself provide a major contribution to the literature base.

Definition of Terms

Accountability. Accountability has a wide range of connotations which make it impossible to meet the needs in every context, but at the heart of accountability is "being called to account for one's actions" and holding consequences (Mulgan, 2000, p. 555).

Authorizer. Authorizers are also referred to as sponsors in some states. Authorizers are a "state-sanctioned entity [that] licenses a school to operate in the first place and is then responsible for monitoring its performance and renewing its charter if that performance is satisfactory" (Finn et al., 2016, p. 87).

Autonomy for accountability tradeoff. As indicated in the definition of charter, charters are exempt "from certain state or local rules and regulations. In return for flexibility and autonomy, the charter school must meet the accountability standards outlined in its charter" (U.S. Department of Education, 2019a, para. 1).

Charter. The charter itself is a legally enforceable contract between the authorizer and the governing body. The charter describes the laws and rules the school will follow, timeframe of the contract, the school's program, expected results and the metrics used to evaluate the school (Finn et al., 2016).

Charter School. A charter school (charter) is a

publicly funded school that is typically governed by a group or organization under a legislative contract—a charter—with the state, district, or other entity. The charter exempts the school from certain state or local rules and regulations. In return for flexibility and autonomy, the charter school must meet the accountability standards outlined in its charter. A school's charter is reviewed periodically by the entity that granted it and can be revoked if guidelines on curriculum and management are not followed or if the accountability standards are not met. (U.S. Department of Education, 2019a, para. 1)

Governing board. The governing board is the school's governing entity and typically approved by an Internal Revenue Service as a nonprofit. The governing board consists of between five and 10 individuals and is responsible for adopting the budget. It also has a fiduciary duty for all funds, and it is legally responsible if anything goes wrong including being accountable for the academic results of the school. (Finn et al., 2016).

Operator. If a school is part of a group of schools such as a network, the school will have an operator. Operators tend to be responsible for employing the staff, determining which curricula the school will use, distributing the budget and conducting operations responsibilities such as heating, cooling, cleaning, repairing facilities. In many ways the operator manages the school (Finn et al, 2016).

Turnaround. For purposes of this study the first part of the definition comes from the federally-funded Practice Guide from the What Works Clearinghouse. The practice guide distinguishes between *school improvement*, as more incremental and slower in nature from *turnaround*, which is rapid even though school improvement and turnaround "may have common approaches, but they differ in implementation" (Herman et al., 2008, p. 4). This definition of rapid efforts of turnaround was further explained in WestEd's Center on School Turnaround, a federally funded comprehensive center: "Turnaround is more than an initial jolt of bold changes in structure, authority, and personnel . . . it's an upward trajectory with rapid, significant, and sustainable improvement in the lowest-performing schools" (Center on School Turnaround, 2017, p. 2).

Theoretical Framework

Political theorist John Overton developed Overton's theory, entitled the Overton Window that describes an array of policies per topic that are currently publicly acceptable (Mackinac Center, n.d.). "Just outside of the window lie 'acceptable' policies, and beyond those the 'radical' and 'unthinkable'" (Marsh, 2016, p. 1). This window of political possibilities is fluid, with political will ever changing (Mackinac Center, n.d.). To bring unpopular ideas into the mainstream, Overton proposed,

not to advocate for minor, incremental changes to an already accepted idea, but to make the case for a currently "unthinkable" idea, stating it cogently and provoking an informed discussion. These efforts would make radical ideas look more normal, nudging them into the "acceptable" category, and eventually making them politically viable. (Marsh, 2016, p. 2)

Authorizers hold charter schools accountable to engender good will and confidence in the sector. If schools are closed, it signals to the public that authorizers are doing their due diligence. Political theory and the Overton Window, specifically, describe a range of policies on any given topic "that are, at that moment, popular enough for a politician to campaign on successfully" (Mackinac Center, n.d., para 1). Just outside of the window lie 'acceptable' policies, and beyond those the 'radical' and 'unthinkable''' (Marsh, 2016, p. 1). If turnaround is considered radical compared to closure, the Overton Window helps explain how the public may come to consider turnaround of an underperforming charter as acceptable.

Charter authorizers play an instrumental role in addressing charter underperformance. How authorizers address struggling charters has been found to make a significant difference in whether they continue to struggle or improve (CREDO, 2017). Several guides for authorizers, such as the National Association of Charter School Authorizers' (NACSA) Principles & Standards for Charter School Authorizing, summarize experiences of high-performing authorizers and recommend several authorizing practices authorizers indicated were associated with improving charter quality. One notable practice recommends that authorizers conduct accountability activities such as rigorous and transparent guidelines for charters around applying to open new schools, renewing charters and decisions pertaining to revocation (NACSA, 2018b).

Given the autonomy for accountability tradeoff, charter school authorizers seemingly only have two options for schools not meeting performance expectations: closing the school or ignoring it so they do not have to close it, allowing it to languish indefinitely. However, some charter authorizers are experimenting with a third option that consists of comprehensive improvement for the purpose of turning around a school. If this option becomes politically acceptable, perhaps it would become a more mainstream option across authorizers. Therefore, the problem addressed in this dissertation project was to investigate models of accountability for charter schools and the contextual events that took place to allow for and hold the authorizer to be accountable for offering the option of turnaround.

Organization of the Dissertation

Chapter one provides a short summary of the background literature in order to introduce the problem, context, and significance of the study. Chapter one contains the research questions grounding this study and the theoretical framework by which the research questions were examined. Chapter two reviews the full literature on the history and purpose of charters, whom they serve, their outcomes, challenges and opportunities as well as the improvement literature and how it relates to charters to lay the foundation for establishing a conceptual framework to guide the data collection and analysis. Chapter three provides the research methodology, including a methodological basis for a case study approach as well as the cases to be examined, limitations, and delimitations to the approach in addressing the research questions.

The next chapter provides an overview of the history of the charter school movement, previous charter school research, and the literature on turnaround and accountability. By providing an overview of preceding research, this study's uniqueness and contributions to the field can be highlighted to show how it adds to the literature of education policy, including school improvement and accountability of authorizers and by authorizers to improve the charter sector for all students.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

This literature review identifies, analyzes, and synthesizes relevant studies related to the purpose of the study and its research questions, as viewed through the theoretical framework. The purpose of this multi-case study was to understand the experiences of authorizers who have offered low-performing schools a turnaround option by investigating both the optimal contextual conditions in which turnaround was offered and the models of accountability for charter turnaround efforts. The following two research questions guided this investigation:

- (1) What contextual conditions were in place for the authorizer to facilitate school turnaround?
 - a. Does school improvement in charter schools fit into the Overton Window and what factors influenced the political will to allow the option of turnaround?
 - b. What policies (state and local) were in place to allow a lowperforming charter school to engage in turnaround?
 - c. Was the authorizer held accountable to improving charter schools?
- (2) What models of accountability were used for schools conducting turnaround?
 - a. What autonomies were provided to the school?
 - b. When and how was the turnaround process monitored for progress?

c. What components of the school were monitored for progress (i.e., leadership, talent, instruction, culture)?

This chapter first describes the methods used to review the literature. The chapter also provides background and definitions from the charter and turnaround literature, reviewing the history of charters and authorizers, as well as challenges and opportunities currently taking shape within the charter sector, including a concern over the equity of access to high quality options for students. The literature review concludes by detailing the impact of closing low-performing schools on students, examining the literature of turnaround, and identifying the need for policy options for authorizers to improve low-performing charter schools beyond the two options currently available: closing the school or letting the school languish. Throughout the literature review, connections are made to political theory and more specifically, Joseph Overton's Overton Window. The literature presented and reviewed in this chapter illustrates not only the need for improving the charter sector for the 3.2 million students currently enrolled, but also the 8.5 million students whose parents would send them to a charter school should one exist in their locale (Rees & Edelin, 2019).

Literature Review Methods

Studies relevant to the topic of interest for this literature review were included by searching multiple academic databases, including Education Source, EBSCOhost/ERIC, Dissertation Abstracts International, and JSTOR. In addition, professional charter, charter authorization and turnaround content centers, and association websites and charter school organization websites were also reviewed for further context. Although turnaround in charter schools is a budding concept, and most relevant articles were published within the past 10 years, no time restrictions were used in the search to ensure that any earlier

studies were included. Additionally, only sources written in English were reviewed. Various search terms were used to identify relevant literature, using the following primary terms and their variations and combinations: principal, leadership, school, charter, turnaround, improvement, authorizer, authorizer accountability, and political theory. Review of the abstracts determined whether the article fit the topics of interest and need.

Charter Schools

One of the most prolific reform efforts in recent educational history (Finn et al., 2016), chartering, allows the creation of schools of choice, run primarily independently from the district. While still public schools, charter schools have autonomy to establish their own budgets and determine school and class size, length of school day and year, curricula, and educational program offerings. In return for more extensive say in their programming than traditional public schools, charter schools agree to stipulations outlined in a performance contract, or "charter," with an authorizer and are held accountable to the agreed-upon financial and academic results. Charters are reviewed according to the metrics and timeline indicated in their charter, and the charter is re-issued or revoked by their authorizing agency depending on performance (Zimmer et al., 2008). Charters that do not meet their renewal criteria are most often closed.

Charter schools are publicly funded and therefore free to attend. Students who attend charter schools enroll in them by choosing the specific school, similar to how families enroll their students in private schools (O'Brien & Dervarics, 2010). In most states the staff employed by charters choose to work there instead of being placed by the district or mandated by a union contract (Finn et al., 2016). Charter schools enjoy the freedom of private schools, while being free to all students (Finn et al., 2016; O'Brien & Dervarics, 2010; Zimmer et al., 2008). For instance, charters have a governing structure like private schools, where an independent board of directors oversees the school. Charter schools are also oftentimes freed from state mandates and local regulation and are afforded more autonomy in several key decisions, such as staffing and freedom from bargaining agreements, curriculum, and schedule.

Charters come in many different shapes, forms, and grade configurations, and charters can be started by a wide variety of petitioners. Schools can be single, independent schools or part of a group of schools managed by networks such as non-profit charter management organizations (CMOs) or for-profit education management organizations (EMOs) (Abdulkadiroğlu et al., 2009). Charters can be started by a wide variety of stakeholders, including teachers, leaders, parents, nonprofit organizations and private firms, or converted if enough teachers and/or parents petition or if in effort to turn around a low-performing traditional school (Finn et al., 2016). While most charters are started as new schools in recent years, traditional public schools have also been converted to charter status.

For charters to be offered to students, states must pass legislation that allows for the option of charters. The state dictates which entities can authorize charters, and the roles of authorizers in holding charters accountable for effectiveness. States also determine whether any limitations on charters exist, how charters are funded, and, often, the types of facilities or facilities' funding to which charters will have access (National Conference of State Legislatures, n.d.). All charters operate under a contract with a charter school authorizer that holds the school accountable to the standards and performance metrics outlined in their charter (National Alliance for Public Charters Schools, n.d.-a). For charters to exist, authorizers must approve their application. Authorizers also set the expectations in the performance contract and are responsible for overseeing that school performance meets these set expectations. Depending on a school's performance, authorizers decide which schools will be renewed to continue to serve students. State law determines which entities may be authorizers. For example, the most common authorizers are school districts; however, state education agencies, independent chartering boards, institutions of higher education, government offices, and not-for-profits also serve as chartering entities in states (Abdulkadiroğlu et al., 2009; National Alliance for Public Charter Schools, n.d.-b; O'Brien & Dervarics, 2010; Zimmer et al., 2008).

Charters Debut

Several individuals are credited with the start of charters. However, as Finn et al. (2016) pointed out, "the debut of chartering was no lightning bolt," and the idea of charters was not just one single vision or theory of doctrine. Rather, many ideas for charters came from academics and economists, teachers' unions, think tanks, and legislators (p. 7).

Ideas of school choice began to surface in the 1960s from conservative and liberal philosophers, although the arguments were for different reasons. Nobel Prize-winning economist Milton Friedman, who published *Capitalism and Freedom* in 1962, proposed providing needy families vouchers they could use to attend private school. The vouchers would cause failing schools to close by allowing market forces instead of the government to shape public education. However, regardless of the rationale for school choice, the

push toward school choice has always been, and continues to be, that "way too few kids in America have been able to pick their schools, and way too many have been stuck in bad schools that they have no alternative to" (Finn et al., 2016, p. 17).

Some of the ideas for school choice began to expand in the 1970s when Ray Budde, an education professor, proposed that local school boards grant teachers charters to create laboratories of innovative educational pedagogy within public schools. However, it was not until a series of reports on the poor performance of public education that Budde's idea gained real political and societal momentum.

In the Spring of 1983, the National Commission on Excellence in Education released *A Nation at Risk: The Imperative for Educational Reform.* Written in plain language for public consumption, the report "sounded alarm bells about the state of K–12 education in the United States" (Patterson, 2018, para 1). *A Nation at Risk* drew the public's attention to what it deemed as a failing of public education in sufficiently preparing the next generation of citizens for the future (*A Nation at Risk*). After the Russians beat the U.S. to the moon with Sputnik, A Nation at Risk only stoked the Cold War terror by connecting America's national security and sliding economy to the mediocre performance results of schools (Cohen, 2017).

At the time, education was pretty much the domain of the experts, the people who were in the K–12 field. Superintendents. District leaders. State leaders and colleges of education. They were in charge – and [the feeling was] everyone else should mind their own business. *A Nation at Risk* basically disrupted that closed system by saying other people needed to be involved in the conversation about education, that the American people had a real stake in this topic. (Patterson, 2018, para. 4)

A Nation at Risk emphasized the need to focus on outcomes, and more specifically confronted the issue that "kids were not learning enough to participate fully in the kind of society and the kind of world that was emerging" (Patterson, 2018, para. 5). It spoke of the importance of setting rigorous expectations for all students. While charters and school choice did not appear in A Nation at Risk, reactions to the review interpreted the need to dissolve what was deemed as a monopoly school districts had on our educational system and agitate for the need for school choice. The report incited a wave of panic in political leaders across the country, whose efforts to reform public schooling became even more urgent (Cohen, 2017). The National Governors Association (NGA), led by Tennessee's Republican governor Lamar Alexander, who would later become Tennessee's senator, Senate Health, Education, Labor and Pensions Committee chairperson, and one of the major authors of the reauthorization of ESEA's Every Students Succeeds Act (ESSA) (Alexander, n.d.; Cohen, 2017), backed school choice in a series of Time for Results reports in 1986. The Time for Results reports led to an allgovernors meeting held in 1989, in which the purpose was to "swap red tape for results," which became part of not only the push for charter schools, but also for other reforms we see today (Finn et al., 2016, p. 16).

In response to calls for reforming public education, Albert Shanker, President of the American Federation of Teachers Union, expanded the idea of charters to include an entire school rather than limiting the concept to select teachers.

Though teachers' unions almost unilaterally oppose charters today, Shanker became the charter movement's first major booster. Writing to a wider audience in *The New York Times*, he extended Budde's argument, and proposed the establishment of publicly funded, independently managed schools that could

experiment with ways to educate the some 80% of students that he estimated traditional schools weren't serving well. (Jason, 2017, p. 26)

By empowering teachers to experiment with their craft, charters could serve as innovative laboratories where practices incubated in charters could be taught to teachers in traditional public schools. A group of educators and policymakers in Minnesota were soon curious about the idea, including Ted Kolderie and Joe Nathan. While teachers' unions had previously feared a lack of accountability associated with the charter movement, they also feared charters would initiate more support for school choice options such as vouchers for private schools (Jason, 2017). In 1991, Minnesota became the first state to pass a law allowing for charters based on the premise that "a charter is an agreement between a school and a [school district]" (Miron & Nelson, 2002, p. 3).

California soon followed in 1992, and an additional six states in 1993 wrote legislation approving charters in the school context. Early charter advocates "envisioned small-scale, autonomous schools run by independent mom-and-pop operators who would be best positioned to respond to local community needs" (Lubienski & Weitzel, 2010, p. 5). This vision appealed to a national audience, across party lines. "Everyone from the NAACP to the Walton Family Foundation to the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation supported charter schools. Bill Clinton signed a federal support program for charters in 1994, and every president since has advocated for school choice" (Jason, 2017, p. 26).

Charters Today

The number of students attending charter schools has been on the rise since their inception. Between 2004 and 2017 the number of students enrolled in charters grew from just under 1 million to 3.2 million in 44 states and territories (McFarland et al., 2017; National Alliance for Public Charter Schools, n.d.-b). Charters are not currently located

in Vermont, and a cluster of states: Montana, North Dakota, South Dakota, and Nebraska, as well as Kentucky. Kentucky's neighbor, West Virginia, is the newest state to pass legislation allowing for charters, although none have been opened yet. Washington State recently overturned their charter school legislation, so while they previously offered charters, they no longer do. However, while charters are serving increasingly large numbers of students through expanding current schools, the number of new charter schools being opened has begun to decline as of 2014.

Political Support and Opposition to Charters

Charters have experienced bi-partisan support at the federal level, including from the Clinton, Bush, Obama, and Trump presidential administrations as well as at state and local levels (Zimmer et al., 2019). "In every state with a charter law, governors and legislators on both sides of the aisle have favored this innovation, and most such statutes (and later revisions of them) happened through bipartisan effort" (Finn et al., 2016, p. 19). While charter support tends to fall politically across the spectrum, charter proponents tend to fall into one or more of three camps: anti-bureaucracy, market-driven educational options, and raising teachers' level of status as a profession (Garn, 1999). Whereas advocates from the anti-bureaucracy side hold that by "legislating an ever-growing" number of best practice methods and penalizing deviation, various government agencies have created a top-down educational system that chokes out innovations" (Brouillette, 2002, p. 6). Those who apply to start charters from an anti-bureaucracy viewpoint argue that if they can determine what would work best for students instead of following the mandated offerings, they would be more effective at serving the underlying needs of their students.

Charter opponents suggest that while charters allow parents and families choice of options, regardless of zip code and neighborhood, family choice does not extend beyond the selection of the school (Sondel, 2015). Equal access may as well not be equal for all students. Opponents suggest charter schools recruit top performing students in an area, while discouraging and excluding low-performing students, or students with special educational or English Language learner needs (Ravitch, 2010).

In terms of autonomy, the amount of freedom charters are granted from local and state regulations varies across the states. Charter proponents, who come to support charters because of a market-driven view, believe district schools have a monopoly on public school students and therefore continue to conduct business as usual into perpetuity, regardless of educational outcomes. Charters, on the other hand, have to compete for their students and families. Charter supporters believe that if district schools must compete with charters, they are forced to adapt, to innovate, to attract and retain their students. This competition drives the improvement of the quality of public education (Brouillette, 2002). However, opponents argue that while charter schools offer families choice, these choices are often not better for students than traditional public schools, which is explored in the section below. In fact, opponents argue that charter schools not only are a less effective option for students, but also diminish the effectiveness of all schools in the area by siphoning off resources (Wells et al., 1999).

Finally, another group of charter school supporters believe charters are an opportunity for teachers to use their professionalism to serve students well. Charters offer an opportunity to respect the expertise of teachers and give them autonomy to make decisions that drive what and how students learn in class. Charter supporters in this camp see charters as "collaborative enterprises, where teachers and parents work together for

the good of the child" (Brouillette, 2002, p. 6). However, since most charters are exempt from teacher collective-bargaining agreements, and teachers teaching in charters are not required to meet the same certification requirements as traditional public schools, unions are often opposed to charters and suggest charters hinder teacher professionalism (National Education Association, 2017).

Although until very recently charters have flourished in part due to bipartisan support, this support from both sides of the aisle often masks the variety of reasons for initiating charters (Brouillette, 2002). The land of "a thousand flowers" would better describe the charter sector than "one best system" (Finn et al., 2016). For instance, an analysis conducted in 2005 on the 41 states at that time with charter school legislation attempted to summarize the legislators' purpose for charters. Close to 20 different reasons were found. The most common reason (found in more than half of states' laws) was that charters improve the achievement of all students and provide more options for all families. But a variety of other goals were found as well, matching the reasons for supporting or opposing charters (Smarick, 2005). Wells et al. (1999) posited that state charter laws show a clear indication of the negotiating and policy development possible between politicians from across the aisle who come to the discussion seeking different ends.

As one of the four accepted models under the previous reauthorization of the ESEA entitled No Child Left Behind (NCLB) to improve chronically low-performing traditional public schools, charters became the response to the low performance of minority-majority schools in economically desolate areas. For example, conversion to charter schools comprised over 1,300 schools in 2012–13. A conversion occurs when a traditional public school is given permission to become a charter in an effort to improve

academic outcomes and other school quality shortcomings (National Charter School Resource Center, 2014). Schools were often just converted without any additional systemic improvement to support the conversion (National Charter School Resource Center, 2014). The Race to the Top federal policy also encouraged charter expansion by tying competitive funding to including additional space for charters, resulting in \$4.35 billion in funding allocated to expanding charters (Mora & Christianakis, 2013).

While funding is a very tangible input, several opponents to charters saw the issue as being focused on a different goal than funding (Hursh, 2007; Mora & Christianakis, 2013; Ravitch, 2010). Opponents argued against the move to privatize the public education system. While the purpose of NCLB was to identify and support subgroups of students with the greatest need, opponents argued that the traditional public school system, and the needy students it served, were the casualty of a faulty policy (Mora & Christianakis, 2013; Ravitch, 2010). Under NCLB, schools were labeled as failing, and these schools closed. If failing public schools were not closed immediately, they were converted to privately run charter schools. Many of these charter schools were also eventually closed because the systemic reasons for their initial failure were not addressed (Mora & Christianakis, 2013).

This differing set of motives, interpretations, as well as compromises to offer charters have caused charter programs across the 44 states to produce a mixed makeup of types, demographic student bodies, and a wide variety of outcomes (Betts & Tang, 2018). This variance provides both charter supporters and charter opponents ammunition about the legitimacy and benefit of the schools themselves.

Charter Types

The charter sector started with individual, independent schools, and today 60% of charter schools remain as individual, independent schools. However, some leaders realized the monumental task for small, isolated schools and began creating clusters of schools called networks. Networks allow for the pooling of resources including the centralization of tasks, such as curriculum planning, finances, special education, and back-office services such as bookkeeping. A network also allows for a rather efficient way to replicate practices and models of schools found to be successful. Of the schools in the charter sector today, 40% are part of larger networks (Finn et al., 2016).

Charter Demographics

According to the U.S. Department of Education's Common Core of Data (CCD), charters across the 44 states enroll a higher percentage of minority students and economically disadvantaged students compared to their district counterparts (U.S. Department of Education, 2019b). There are also higher percentages of charters that enroll majority-minority student bodies, with 23% of charters enrolling more than 50% of African American students versus just 9% of traditional public schools. There is a similar trend with a majority Hispanic student body: 26% of charters have student bodies consisting of over 50%, versus 16% traditional public schools in 2016–17. This is partly due to where charters are located as most charters are in urban areas, as well as the states in which charters are located. While charters exist across 44 states, the vast majority of schools and students enrolled in charters are located in the most populous states including California and Texas, and almost half of all students enrolled in charters are located in five of the 44 states: California, Texas, Florida, Arizona, and Michigan. This is also partly due to the reason charters were started or offered in a state, since charter

enrollment has increased most in districts with a history of low academic outcomes and funding disparities (Rees & Edelin, 2019). For example, "in New Orleans, Detroit and Washington, D.C., the share of students enrolled in public charter schools is 92%, 53%, and 47%, respectively" (Rees & Edelin, 2019, para.2). Although flourishing in districts with high populations of struggling students, charters tend to serve a smaller percentage of students qualifying and receiving special education services than their surrounding district (Morando-Rhim & Kothari, 2018).

Table 1

Demographic Characteristics of Student Population in Charters versus Traditional

Public Schools

Demographic	Charters	Traditional Public Schools
White	33.1%	49.9%
African-American	26.8%	14.7%
Asian/Pacific Islander	4.3%	5.4%
Hispanic/Latino	31.7%	25.6%
American Indian	0.7%	1.0%
Two or more races	3.4%	3.4%
Eligible for free/reduced-priced lunch	54.7%	51.9%
Eligible for special education services	10.6%	12.5%

Note. McFarland et al., 2017; Morando-Rhim & Kothari, 2018.

Charter Outcomes

As charters have spread across the United States, there has been an equally steep increase in federally legislated accountability based on standardized test scores starting with the reauthorization of ESEA entitled NCLB, and now under the current reauthorization of ESEA, Every Students Succeeds Act (ESSA). As such, student achievement is a mandated goal of the charter ecosystem—by the schools themselves and the entities authorizing them—and the sole basis for their existence is to meet performance metrics and be held accountable to them. As noted earlier, charters were introduced in many states to boost student achievement; charter authorizers often base renewal or revocation decisions on test scores (Wohlstetter et al., 2013).

The question of whether students attending charters increased student achievement over the past three decades is a central one to the sector. Unfortunately, the answer to the question on effects of charters depends on the location, data, methods, and interpretation. To prioritize studies from the literature determining charter school effectiveness, the Review of Individual Studies Protocol (RISP) version 3.1 from the What Works Clearinghouse (WWC) was used to determine studies included in this summary. The RISP addresses the data and methodological concerns of conducting and reviewing studies and provides a standardized set of criteria by which to review more complex causal methodologies, such as randomized control trials, quasi-experimental designs, regression discontinuity designs, and considerations for reviewing single case study designs (U.S. Department of Education, 2020).

Studies on charters cannot utilize a traditional randomized control trial of assigning some students to a charter school and others not, as assigning goes against the main purpose of charters by taking away the fundamental choice parents make (Betts & Tang, 2018; Zimmer et al., 2019). Instead, researchers have used one of two methods for randomization. For charters with more student applicants than seats, students are chosen for enrollment via lottery. These studies have compared students who were successful in a charter lottery versus those that were unsuccessful.

Studies using a lottery for randomized control designs demonstrate higher academic achievement growth for charter students than students attending traditional public schools (Abdulkadiroğlu et al., 2009, 2011; Hoxby & Murarka, 2007, 2009). Students in grades 3-8 admitted via lottery in New York City compared to non-admitted students experienced small positive effects (Hoxby & Murarka, 2007, 2009). Over time, these same students, those attending charters in poverty-ridden Harlem and in the wealthy suburbs of Scarsdale, closed the achievement gap by 86% in mathematics and 66% in reading (Hoxby et al., 2009). Researchers conducting evaluations comparing charter lottery winners to students not picked in Boston found that the reading achievement gap among black and white middle school students was greatly reduced and the math achievement gap was eliminated (Abdulkadiroğlu et al., 2009). The longer the students attended charter schools, the more impact they experienced; when students remained enrolled in charters through graduation, the achievement gap was eliminated in both reading and math (Abdulkadiroğlu et al., 2011).

Caution is given to lottery studies for several reasons. The first is that the findings cannot be generalized to the larger charter sector since not all charters receive more student applications than they have room to serve (Zimmer & Engberg, 2016). Given that the large cities in which most lottery studies have been conducted have district-wide low achievement, a more subdued effect was seen in lottery studies not conducted in solely large cities with histories of low achievement (Zimmer et al., 2019). For example, one lottery study conducted with a national sample of middle charter schools found no effects on educational achievement for low-income, low-performing students, but for students that were economically advantaged the effects were negative (Gleason et al., 2010). Another study conducted across 13 states found similar results: overall, no significant effects but closer examination of disaggregated results showed positive effects

for schools with high percentages of free/reduced priced lunch recipients versus a negative effect for advantaged schools (Clark et al., 2015).

For charters without large waitlists, researchers have used two other methods to determine charter effectiveness. These studies are quasi-experimental. The first, from CREDO at Stanford University uses a matched-comparison, where each charter student is "matched" with a traditional public school student based on the student's demographic characteristics such as race and ethnicity, whether the student qualifies for the federal meal program, whether the student requires special education or English Language Learner services, and the student's previous achievement (CREDO, 2009, 2013, 2015). By matching students based on these characteristics, "we have designed the analysis so that differences in the academic growth between the two groups are a function of which schools they attended" (CREDO, 2013, p. 10). Studies using propensity score matching methodology also match students in a similar way (Furgeson et al., 2012). While these matching methodologies can include a wider set of charters, this research suffers from selection bias or other inherent differences in students not accounted for in the characteristics being used to match, such as parental involvement.

CREDO's first matched comparison study of 16 states found that less than 20% of charters outperformed traditional public schools, while 31% of charter students performed worse. The remaining performed statistically indistinguishably from their traditional public counterparts (CREDO, 2009). CREDO's second matched comparison study of 27 states, including the same 16 from 2009, encompassed more than 95% of charter students across the U.S. This was the first time that charters across the U.S. had been studied. Overall, there were no significant differences in math growth between traditional public and charter schools, and a small positive effect of charters on reading

growth. A slightly higher percentage of charters performed above, and a slightly lower percentage performed worse than their traditional counterparts than in 2009 at 29% and 19% respectively. In addition, students in poverty and minority students in poverty saw more positive gains in reading and math attending charters, whereas affluent students attending charters saw similar or negative impacts compared to their traditional public counterparts (CREDO, 2013).

Finally, CREDO's (2015) study used a similar methodology to analyze impacts of online charter schools, which showed that students attending online charters had very weak academic growth compared to similar students attending a traditional public school. To help operationalize the results, CREDO translated the findings to days of instruction. The online charters results "equate to a student losing 72 days of learning in reading and 180 days of learning in math, based on a 180-day school year" (CREDO, 2015, p. 3).

A propensity score matching study comparing students enrolled with particular Charter Management Organizations (CMOs) compared to traditional public school students found positive, but not significant, differences in reading and math achievement scores. However, disaggregating by CMO found large variations in results. For example, students in 10 CMOs had significant positive impacts on four academic subjects (reading, math, science and social studies), while students attending four CMOs had significantly negative impacts on these four subjects compared to students attending traditional public schools (Furgeson et al., 2012).

Other quasi experimental studies show mixed results on student achievement when comparing performance of the same student when they were enrolled in traditional public schools versus when enrolled in charters (Bifulco & Ladd, 2006; Booker et al., 2008; Davis & Raymond, 2012; Hanushek et al., 2007; Sass, 2006; Zimmer & Buddin,

2006; Zimmer et al., 2012). Studies in Florida, North Carolina and Texas showed negative effects in reading and math for charter students in grades 4 through 8 (Booker et al., 2008; Bifulco & Ladd, 2006; Hanushek et al., 2007; Sass, 2006). In Utah, small negative effects were found for charter students in grades 1 through 6 in math and language arts and no effects for the same subjects for students in grades 7 through 11 (Ni & Rorrer, 2012). A study examining student achievement in 14 states found only 19% of charter schools had higher achievement than their local traditional public school (Davis & Raymond, 2012), whereas a different study found no significant differences in scores in math in Chicago, Philadelphia and San Diego, positive impacts on math scores in Denver and Milwaukee, and negative impacts on math scores in Ohio and Texas (Zimmer et al., 2012). In reading, no significant difference was found except in Chicago, Ohio, and Texas where a negative effect was reported (Zimmer et al., 2012). A study looking at California charters found no significant differences in reading achievement of elementary students, but a small positive effect for secondary students. For math, elementary charter students exhibited small negative effects, but no difference was found at the secondary level (Zimmer et al., 2003).

Most recently, researchers have used a value-added approach to determine charters' effectiveness (Baude et al., 2019; Chingos & West, 2015; Ladd et al., 2017; Spees & Lauren, 2019). This approach also creates a "matched student comparison" in a traditional public school based on prior achievement and student demographics. Using a regression analysis, a value add determines whether a current charter student's test score is higher than that of a comparable TPS student and follows students over time instead of just one year's worth of comparison data (Zimmer et al., 2019). Studies conducted in Arizona (Chingos & West, 2015) and North Carolina (Ladd et al., 2017; Spees & Lauren, 2019) found charters are less effective than traditional public schools but are increasing in effectiveness over time. In Texas, charter schools have increased in effectiveness so much over time that researchers found large positive effects in reading and moderate effect sizes in math (Baude et al., 2019). In the case of charters, focusing on the average scores, instead of the large standard deviations found in these studies, hides much of the success and detriment across minority, geographic, state, district, and time period of the charter movement.

Charter Authorizers

Given the mixed outcomes of charters, a significant question in the charter movement is: Are schools being held accountable? As such, a national study on charter school student outcomes found the role of the authorizer, sometimes referred to as a sponsor, to be pivotal to the success of the charter school movement (Palmer & Gau, 2003; Vergari, 2001).

Behind every charter school is an authorizer. Any entity allowed to be an authorizer by the state's charter law is responsible for deciding "who can start a new charter school, set academic and operational expectations, and oversee school performance. They also decide whether a charter should remain open or closed at the end of its contract" (NACSA, 2015, para. 1).

According to the National Alliance for Public Charter School's Charter School Data Digest, of the 963 active authorizers, nearly 90% (863 authorizers) were Local Education Agencies (LEAs), 4.6% (44 authorizers) were higher education institutions (HEIs), slightly more than 2% were state education agencies (SEAs) (21 authorizers) and less than 2% were 'other' authorizing entities, such as independent chartering board (ICBs) (18 authorizers), non-educational government entity (NEGs) (2 authorizers), and non-for-profit organizations (NFPs) (15 authorizers) (National Alliance for Public Charter Schools, 2020). These different entities offer varying capacities and limitations to monitoring and supporting charter schools. The number of schools authorized varies often by type of authorizer. For example, while LEAs make up most authorizers, they only authorize slightly more than half of all charters. Whereas SEAs and ICBs constitute a smaller number of authorizers, they authorize slightly more, and slightly less than 20% of all charters, respectively (National Alliance for Public Charter Schools, 2020). As of 2020, 14 states only offered one option of authorizing entity. The rest of the states were somewhere in the middle of a few too many authorizer options. According to NACSA, "best practice is to have more than one type of authorizer (local school districts plus an alternative); however, in six states, school districts are the only bodies that can approve and oversee charters" (NACSA, 2015, para. 3). NACSA also recommends at least one full time equivalent staff member for every three charter schools (NACSA, 2013) For some authorizer types, such as district authorizers with small numbers of charter schools, or ICBs with very large portfolios, this ratio can be difficult to achieve.

Research findings disagree over which entity might be best set up to provide quality authorizing. The wide range in charter quality is a direct effect of the type and quality of authorizers. (CREDO, 2015). Charter school authorizers offer varying degrees of resources, including staff expertise, experience, and authorizing capacities. Universities, state education agencies, and school districts may be more likely to have relevant expertise, which is why they may be the most common authorizers (Palmer & Gau, 2003; Zimmer et al., 2014). Recent analysis of school authorizer practices and philosophy may help explain not only the variance of quality, but the impact of authorizer practices on the charter sector as well (Chen, 2016).

The differences in authorizing practices and authorizing capacity are important, but so are the authorizer's priorities and ability to hold their schools accountable for the flexibility and freedom charters are given over traditional public schools (Chen, 2016). There is some guidance on how authorizers can provide quality authorizing and several definitions of what constitutes quality authorizing (Lake & Hill, 2006; NACSA, 2015; Palmer & Gau, 2003; U.S. Department of Education, 2007a). The Center on Reinventing Public Education (CRPE) suggests quality charter school authorizing includes: (a) investing resources to develop relationships with schools; (b) setting high standards to determine applicant decisions for new schools; (c) working with schools, but not becoming obliged to them; (d) taking into account the performance at the system and school when making revocation decisions; and (e) actively working to recruit a diverse provider portfolio (Lake & Hill, 2006). The U.S. Department of Education also established practices for quality authorizing: (a) work to build strong organizations; (b) develop a robust talent pool; (c) select schools that show promise of quality; (d) support your new operators; (e) provide oversight that is both transparent and meaningful; and (f) uphold accountability to performance goals (U.S. Department of Education, 2007a). This third set of criteria, outlined by NACSA, is the most commonly cited set of authorizer quality criteria. NACSA outlined quality authorizing: (a) maintains rigorous standards, (b) upholds autonomy, and (c) protects public and student interests (NACSA, 2018b).

In 2015, NACSA launched a national research and technical assistance organization, Public Impact--the Quality Practice Project, intent on uncovering what qualities were exhibited in authorizers with high-performing versus average performance charters, as measured by student performance and other practices. Findings from the project showed three differences across the authorizers. In charter sectors that were flourishing, authorizers had competent leadership, institutional commitment, and strong professional judgment. The report provided examples of authorizer practices found in high quality authorizers versus average sector authorizers pertaining to their culture that went beyond merely opening great schools and closing failing schools. For instance, high-quality sector authorizers distinguished their roles as being supportive but not giving schools direction about what they should do to improve. In authorizers' opinions, they recognized the consequences of giving direction not only as both overstepping their role, but also going beyond their expertise. In addition, while authorizers did not provide direction, authorizers with high quality sectors did implement other systems to allow charter schools to flourish, including establishing frequent data collection and monitoring, having the expertise with organizational function and knowledge of the school to be able to differentiate between normal fluctuations of data and data trends that are concerning for the school. NACSA found that, most importantly, successful authorizers were those that developed strong and intentional feedback loops between authorizers and school boards. Authorizers should manage data monitoring, and the communication with boards should help schools know where they stand and help authorizers have difficult conversations about performance with schools (NACSA, 2018a).

Authorizer Accountability

Holding authorizers accountable for their role, much like the charter movement itself, has continued to evolve as the outcomes for charters are continually studied. Authorizers are held accountable through internal evaluations of the authorizers themselves and state-specific legislative mandates on roles, responsibilities, and consequences, as well as external evaluations of the authorizer sector itself (Finn et al.,

2016). State policy determines the means by which authorizers are held accountable. National policy takes stock of the changing role of authorizers and for what authorizers should be accountable.

Legislative mandates on authorizer practice dictate how authorizers are held accountable. For example, the Education Commission of the States reviewed the legislation pertaining to charter policy across the 45 states (44 states, plus District of Columbia). Fifteen of the 45 states with charters have legislation that indicates authorizers can be sanctioned for failing to correct a wrongdoing. Most sanctions include removing the charter authorizing authority entirely; other states allow schools to petition for another authorizer should they find theirs unfitting.

Most states (26 of the 45) require the authorizers to provide a summary of the performance of the authorized schools. Other states require the authorizer to submit performance reports, such as annual reports put together by the schools themselves to the state education agency, while others are mandated to conduct annual reviews of charter schools to ensure schools are meeting charter requirements. Some states are required to conduct analyses of school performance compared to traditional public schools, while others are required to report student growth (Education Commission of the States, 2020).

Several states are held accountable for the performance of their charters and are issued consequences for any low-performing charter schools. For example, in Illinois and Hawaii, "persistently unsatisfactory performance of an authorizer's portfolio of public charter schools . . . may trigger a special review by the board" (HI 302D-6 Principles and Standards for Charter Authorizing, 2016). Several states have a process for evaluating the charter authorizers, including Ohio, Missouri, and Minnesota (Education Commission of the States, 2020).

Many state laws also provide conditions and/or procedures for holding schools accountable, including when authorizers can and/or must revoke a school's charter. These conditions including breaches to the charter agreement, local, state and/or federal law, or failure to meet academic achievement or specific charter related targets, such as "to meet or exceed enrollment and retention targets of students with disabilities" (NY 2855-Causes for Revocation or Termination, 2014). State legislation determines how authorizers approach low-performing schools. Currently, all but one state (Maryland) specifies the basis for terminating mid-term or not renewing at the end of a school's charter. Auto-closure laws in 15 states and closure thresholds in 19 states make it difficult for authorizers to move beyond a binary decision tree pertaining to how to support lowperforming schools. Several states (Alabama, Idaho, Kansas, Louisiana, Massachusetts, Mississippi, New Hampshire, and Texas) have an automatic closure law, wherein authorizers are required to close schools not meeting one or more charter criteria. Delaware can deny a renewal based only on certain criteria. Authorizers in Oklahoma are required to provide justification before the state board of education should it not close a school in the bottom 5% of performance across the state. Nineteen states have a threshold beneath which a charter school must automatically be closed. Fifteen of the 19 states indicate schools must be closed based on certain academic thresholds, such as being identified as the federal designations of being in the bottom 5% of performance across the state (Education Commission of the States, 2020).

Authorizers as Linchpins to Improving Charter Sector

When applying to open a school, charter authorizers usually require the applicant to specify goals for student outcomes as well as how the school plans to reach these goals. For instance, charter applications include a request for a mission statement, goals for student achievement, information about how the school will measure students' performance, as well as the foreseen discipline policies (Finn et al., 2016). Charters are often required to meet the goals in their contracts within the period of time specified in order to remain open. Usually this time period is five years.

Some states require that charters report to the authorizer and/or public every year on how the school and students performed on the goals established in the performance contract (Education Commission of the States, 2020). Annual reports help authorizers determine whether progress is being made toward renewal outcomes and help the school gauge whether they are on track to be renewed (Consoletti, 2011). The secret to quality authorizing is not in requiring data submission, but in the authorizers' ability to provide monitoring and oversight, as the difference in what an authorizer does with this information is found as the primary source of charter school failure or success (CREDO, 2015).

Improving the charter sector has thus far included starting high quality schools and closing low quality schools. However, as one authorizer from the University of Missouri-Columbia Charter Schools Office opined, "We can't close our way to improvement" (Dr. Kettenbach, personal communication, October 2019).

Changing Charter Landscape: Ensuring Equitable Access

Across the 44 states, education leaders are troubled by the persistent geographic segregation and achievement gap between students of different racial, ethnic, and income

groups (Finn et al., 2016). Charters were founded for multiple purposes. In some places, they were founded to disrupt the enrollment patterns based on where families live and provide underserved students with high-quality options; in other places, they were founded to provide a wider variety of educational and programmatic offerings. However, students do not have equal access to this choice, nor equal access to high quality choices (Campbell et al., 2017).

School Closure

When charters do not meet the authorizer's criteria, authorizers can choose not to renew their charter and close the school. The option of closure is seen as an important lever in improving the quality of charters. In 2012, NACSA challenged authorizers to close failing schools and open highly effective ones (Forbriger, 2019). Then Secretary of Education, Arne Duncan, declared, "In some cases [closing a low-performing school is] the only responsible thing to do. It instantly improves the learning conditions for those kids" (Duncan, 2009).

However, state and district specific studies on the impact of charter school closure on students has yielded conflicting findings. Students are not guaranteed a better school after the closure of their underperforming school (Barnum, 2018; Carlson & Lavertu, 2015; de la Torre et al., 2015; Steiner, 2009). Studying impacts of closure across 26 schools, CREDO found 48% of students were relocated to a school that was higher performing than the charter one that closed (2017). This means a student relocated from a closed school has only a one out of two chance of ending up in a higher performing school.

In addition, transition research argues that transitioning students to a different school has long term negative impacts to students' academic abilities (Hanushek et al., 2004; Schwerdt & West, 2011) higher suspension (Engec, 2006) and dropout rates (Rumberger & Larson, 1998). More so, this burden of transferring because of school closure unequally affects minority students and students living in poverty (CREDO, 2017).

The annual number of charter school openings has historically exceeded the number of charter school closings. However, charter school openings have been slowing slightly since 2014, while closures have seen an increase. This trend signals a change in the charter sector. Whereas between 2005 to 2014 there was an insurgence and rapid growth of the numbers of charters, since 2014 may have seen a drop-off because many authorizers now employ robust performance frameworks that allow them to monitor school performance. These more rigorous monitoring practices can signal whether schools meet state required closure criteria. This drop may also be due to the number of charter schools reaching any district or state imposed caps (Finn et al., 2016)

State Policy Changes to Address Underperforming Charters

Given the slower growth of charter schools and the varying impacts on students' educational outcomes, some states have passed legislation to acknowledge the flexibility for accountability tradeoff may not be enough to create high quality educational options for all children. For instance, North Carolina

may not close a charter school solely for being low-performing if the school has met growth in each of the 3 immediately preceding school years or if the school has implemented a strategic improvement plan approved by the state board and is making measurable progress (Education Commission of the States, 2020, para.2 North Carolina). States that can put schools on probation include California, Indiana, Missouri, New Jersey, and Ohio, and states that must intervene if schools are struggling are California and Missouri. Finally, Florida authorizers are mandated to make "academic achievement for all students the most important factor when determining whether to renew or terminate the charter" (Fla. Stat. Ann. § 1002.33), and they are required to terminate the contract of charters earning two consecutive grades of "F".

As the charters have continued to proliferate, the focus has moved not necessarily to quantity of choice, but quality of choice, with some emerging research ascertaining how well authorizers fulfill their role as overseers of choice (Chen, 2016). How *quality* is defined is up to the authorizer. However, this definition can have effects on the charter movement itself.

National Policy Changes to Address Underperforming Charters

Changes to the national policy context have also pushed for options beyond school closure to address underperforming charters. In 1994, Congress enacted the Charter Schools Program (CSP). With support in Congress from both Democrats and Republicans, the CSP program has increased in budget from \$4.5 million in 1994 to \$440 million in 2019 (Campbell, 2019; U.S. Department of Education, 2018). The purpose of the grant was to fund the opening of new charters and evaluate how innovative they were able to be. Not everyone gets charter school funding. States must apply to receive the federal dollars, and then operators must apply to receive the funding from the state. In terms of the overall federal education budget, the CSP program is "just 1 percent of overall spending on K–12, and charters, like traditional district schools, also get additional federal, state, and local funds" (Phenicie, 2019, para. 9).

Recently, the Center for American Progress suggested a pivoting of purpose for the CSP. Approximately \$377 million (85% of the grant dollars) of the CPS funds is being used to open new charter schools (U.S. House of Representatives, 2018). However, as the Center for American Progress indicated, "If we think that charter schools are worth investing in, then it would be good policy to invest in helping the 7,000 or so that are out there" (Phenicie, 2019, para. 3). Campbell (2019) argued that the charter sector has changed much since the enactment of the CSP in 1994. To improve the sector,

in addition to grants to open new schools and facilities financing assistance, the CSP should reflect a balanced approach to charter school policy focused on encouraging the smart growth of excellent schools, improving the quality of existing charter schools, and confronting challenges in the charter sector. Using this approach, federal policymakers can support states and local communities in reaching the goal of public schools having a good seat for every child. (Campbell, 2019, p. 1)

Campbell argued this is especially true given the nature of support surrounding most charters.

The results of attending charters have certainly been mixed, and results from the different types of charters have been even more so. For instance, most charters (65%) serving most students enrolled in charters (57%) are independently managed charters (National Association for Public Charter Schools, n.d.-a). Independently managed charters have experienced the least amount of impact on student achievement and unfortunately continue to be the most likely type of management to be favored. Since independent charters do not have a Charter Management Organization or Education Management Organization to provide support, in the form of leadership training, staff

recruitment and hiring, and instructional and cultural support, independently managed schools are on their own to either provide the services themselves or seek out organizations or vendors to provide the services for them. This is costly and, further, the level of quality of services is not guaranteed.

Authorizers' Changing Role

While work has been done to clarify the role and responsibility of charter school authorizers to establish new schools and monitor existing schools, there has been an evolution of thought around authorizers' responsibility for directly supporting the improvement of a charter. For example, state and local education associations have evolved to be less of a monitor and more of a support entity. However, these entities typically only provide support to traditional public schools and sometimes charters deemed lowest performing. However, unless a charter school meets that designation, no such entity is currently designated to support struggling charter schools (Chait et al., 2019; Evan & Canavero, 2020).

Some states, such as Florida and North Carolina, are beginning to mandate that authorizers are legally required to support schools in need of turnaround.

Other authorizers may want to [support schools] but lack the resources to help. SEAs and LEAs that serve as authorizers may want to help any failing charter school they have approved, but their required focus on the lowest-performing schools (e.g., Comprehensive School Improvement or Targeted School Improvement schools under the ESSA) may well consume the agencies' limited improvement resources (Chait et al., 2019, p. 9).

In addition, authorizers may lack the capacity to help improve a school regardless of where they stand philosophically about their role as an authorizer (Mead, 2012). Beyond

the ability, either in resources or skill, some authorizers are reticent to get directly involved because "doing so creates an awkward tension because, in the end, if the turnaround fails, the authorizer is the one who pulls the plug" (Chait et al., 2019, p. 9). This scenario may create legal difficulties with the revocation proceedings, requiring the authorizer to justify the closure if the authorizer failed to provide adequate support (Chait et al., 2019).

My study sought to determine why some authorizers are moving beyond the dichotomous option awarded to charters (a school succeeds, it stays open; or it fails and is closed) to offer the option of turnaround to existing charter schools in the hopes of improving them. This study looked to understand the political context of how the opportunity of turnaround became an option beyond closure for low-performing charter schools. As importantly, this study provides an understanding of how the authorizer held the school conducting improvement efforts accountable, as well as how they were held accountable for improvement.

Charter Schools and Turnaround

The turnaround literature is based most often on research conducted in traditional public schools, where most often turnaround fails to improve the school (Baroody, 2011; Bonilla & Dee, 2020; Center on School Turnaround, 2017; Dee & Dizon-Ross, 2019; Dougherty & Weiner, 2019). Contrasting unsuccessful and the limited successful attempts of turnaround revealed what conditions schools need in order for turnaround to be successful. A national study of federal School Improvement Grantees found school leaders need a greater level of autonomy to confront the needs specific to their school (Dragoset et al., 2017; U.S. Department of Education, 2014). Schools which were afforded autonomy to make decisions pertaining to staffing budgets and how time is

allocated and used, as well as those which were held accountable to improvement goals by an external entity, were able to lead successful turnaround efforts (Lutterloh et al., 2016). Charters already exist with these autonomies through the autonomy for accountability tradeoff (Corbett, 2015; Evan & Canavero, 2020).

Corbett (2015) described the autonomy for accountability tradeoff. The first type of autonomy concerns staff autonomy. Autonomy of staffing entails having the decision-making ability to hire, fire, and offering incentives. Autonomy in staffing found to be most useful also included how and where to assign staff, as well as how to develop the staff professionally. A second type of autonomy is that charters also have the freedom to determine how to use time, both in how long school lasts for the year and day and what students and staff are doing during that time. A third type is to give charters the decision-making authority regarding programming, such as the ability to choose how the school will teach state standards and how these decisions will be financed. Depending on state law and local autonomy, charters can determine what their priorities are as a school and allocate funding accordingly. Finally, charters have the ability to pick or renovate their facilities at their will (Corbett, 2015).

Under the NCLB, the lowest-performing public schools were required to follow one of four pathways toward improvement. One of those pathways was converting the public school to a charter school. ESSA opened the options for states to support local education agencies (districts, and in the case of charter schools that are determined to be a local education agency, the school itself) in improving low-performing schools. While a national review of school improvement strategies proposed in states' consolidated ESSA state plan does not veer too far from the narrow and prescriptive options under the previous ESEA, recent emerging research provides a framework for rapid and sustainable turnaround that many states are adopting or adapting (Center on School Turnaround, 2017).

Framework for Turnaround

The federally funded *Center on School Turnaround* is part of the Comprehensive Center Network, which is a network of content and regional supports to states and districts. Center on School Turnaround researchers summarized the methods from research and practice found to be effective in turning around schools. The *Four Domains for Rapid School Improvement* (Center on School Turnaround, 2017) framework organizes the issues state, district, and school leaders should consider when planning for a successful and sustainable turnaround: (1) turnaround leadership, (2) talent management, (3) instructional transformation, and (4) culture shift.

Turnaround Leadership

ESSA recognized that school improvement and turnaround require highly effective school leaders (ESSA, 2015). The research on school turnaround supports this emphasis, as quality leadership is often central to school turnaround and rapid improvement (Herman et al., 2017; Klute et al., 2016; Leithwood et al., 2004; Thompson et al., 2016). From their comprehensive literature review, Leithwood et al. (2004) found that the quality of school leadership is second only to that of teachers in producing gains in student achievement. In addition, school leadership is necessary to guide turnaround, such as improving instruction and making positive changes in school climate (Thompson et al., 2016).

The competency of leadership to lead the charge for turnaround effectively is also of great importance and interest (Hitt & Meyers, 2017). The competencies required for turnaround go above and beyond what is deemed effective in less demanding

circumstances (Steiner, 2009; Steiner & Hassel, 2011). "Successful school turnarounds– characterized by quick, strategic changes in school culture and systems that result in dramatic improvement in student achievement in persistently low-performing schools–are hard work and difficult to achieve and sustain" (Lutterloh et al., 2016, p. 1). Organizations can use competencies for many purposes such as hiring effective turnaround leaders, evaluating leadership performance, and providing professional development for school turnaround leaders that are based on needs (Steiner & Hassel, 2011).

School leaders have many critical responsibilities. In their Balanced Leadership Framework, Waters and Cameron (2007) identified 21 responsibilities and 66 practices for which principals are responsible. These myriad areas of work can be distilled to two core functions: providing direction and exerting influence (Seashore-Louis et al., 2010). This illustrates the breadth of responsibilities that school leaders hold, as well as the complexity of managing the roles in a way that attends to the most urgent and important needs of their schools.

Effective school leaders recruit and retain a high-quality staff, foster positive school culture, establish high expectations, and reach out to the community (Almanzan, 2005; Clifford et al., 2012). Yet, school leadership is not limited to a single person. Teachers and other school staff all play critical roles in effectively leading the school (Herman et al., 2008; Shannon & Bylsma, 2007). Distributed leadership (collaboration between administrators and leadership teams) can have a positive impact on school quality (Hallinger & Heck, 2010; Spillane et al., 2001).

Talent Development

In addition to finding adequate and prepared leaders, schools in improvement have a more difficult time recruiting effective teachers (Brackett et al., 2007). Given this reality, in addition to recruiting effective staff, schools need to develop the teaching staff that they have through effective professional learning and retain staff who contribute to the school's growth in performance. "An effective talent system will identify teachers who are excelling, plateauing, and struggling" (Minnici et al., 2016, p. 2).

Teachers most beneficial in a turnaround context have developed the content and pedagogical competencies needed to drive improvement in student outcomes (Center on School Turnaround, 2017; Evan & Canavero, 2020). However, talent management is also successful in a turnaround context if schools attract and recruit teachers who do not yet demonstrate being exceptional teachers but have the desire and willingness to grow into being great teachers (Evan, 2019). Schools undergoing turnaround should provide ongoing training to ensure staff are ready to address the demands of the work required and students reap the benefits immediately (Brackett et al., 2007).

The turnaround context benefits most when teachers understand their own professional learning needs, leadership understands these needs and provides ongoing and embedded opportunities to reflect on and progress in their practice (Center on School Turnaround, 2017; Evan & Canavero, 2020). "To do this successfully, talent management systems must include assessment of teaching practice, feedback to individuals, and professional learning geared to both better [*sic*] use strengths and support continuous improvement" (Minnici, 2016, p. 6). Talent management is effective for turnaround contexts when the school works regularly to understand and address teachers' needs in meeting students' needs. Smatterings of unrelated topics for professional development

have been found to have little to no effect in developing teachers. Students make significant academic gains when taught by teachers engaged in growth opportunities that are part of the school culture and cadence (Darling-Hammond et al., 2009). One common strategy to provide ongoing, embedded support for teachers is through instructional coaching (Odden et al., 2002).

Finally, schools with effective talent management in the turnaround context retain their best performing staff and determine how to utilize their knowledge to drive improvement at the school and help them continue to grow (Center on School Turnaround, 2017; Evan & Canavero, 2020). This may include creating "opportunities for the strongest teachers to influence their peers and reach more students... and gives teachers the ability to form career aspirations while remaining in the classroom" (Minnici et al., 2016, p. 8). Teaching in a turnaround context is difficult. Teacher turnover can have detrimental effects on the improvement efforts at a school. A recent study found that entire staffs turned over every 3–4 years, making deep seated, sustainable reform difficult to implement (Holme et al., 2017).

Instructional Transformation

Typically, school staff are charged with turning around the instructional practice and culture within a school. This transformation should be instructional transformation and should be data-driven, rigorous, and supported system-wide (Anderson et al., 2010; Hamilton et al., 2009; Herman et al., 2008; Lachat & Smith, 2005; Masumoto & Brown-Welty, 2009; Moore & Emig, 2014). To do so, teachers need to be able to identify students' needs and base their instruction around them, build effective scaffolding into their instruction to support students based on their needs and have the support and

infrastructure available to apply assessment results to instructional plans (Hamilton et al., 2009; Lachat & Smith, 2005; Love et al., 2008).

Improvement in student learning outcomes depends on system-wide support for change in the classroom instruction (Center on School Turnaround, 2017; Evan & Canavero, 2020; Herman et al., 2008; Masumoto & Brown-Welty, 2009). Effective instructional practice must include strong standards-based instruction, data-based planning, differentiated learning and individualization. As authors James Stigler and James Hiebert noted in their book, *The Teaching Gap* (2009), "Teaching...is the passageway through which all other educational reforms must travel if they are to make it through the classroom door and, ultimately, improve students' learning" (p. xi). Differences in teaching and teacher quality can have significant implications for student learning. For example, differences in learning gains between a top quartile and bottom quartile teacher can be as much as two-thirds of a school year (Measures of Effective Teaching Project, 2010).

Quality teaching requires that teachers have clear notions of how learning develops (i.e., learning progressions) and can guide learners forward. Formative assessment plays a key role in this process. Through monitoring student knowledge and understanding during instruction, formative assessment yields data that allow teachers to make real-time adjustments to their instruction and helps learners to reflect on their learning. A landmark meta-analysis from Black and William (1998) found that formative assessment positively impacts students' achievement when teachers use the results to change lessons based on students' needs.

While students learn from teachers, teachers can also learn and improve their instructional strategies through effective professional learning systems. Professional

learning involves external training, sometimes called professional development, and jobembedded activities that drive changes in teacher craft (Darling-Hammond et al, 2009). For a professional learning system to be effective, it must be reflective and incorporate strong communication, collaboration, and leadership (Bryk et al., 2010; Vescio et al., 2008). Staff professional development should also be well connected to the school's priorities and goals; teachers should be able to link professional learning activities easily to local requirements as the teachers drive toward a shared goal (Darling-Hammond et al., 2009; Fullan et al., 2004).

Also key to quality teaching and learning is alignment of the level of rigor in the curriculum and instruction as well as assessments to what is expected in the grade level standards. While students' foundational skills may need improvement, students benefit when they build these foundational skills within the content and expectations of grade-level curriculum. Teachers who utilize student assessment information that is collected regularly and adjust their instruction maximize the impact of instruction (Cohen, 1987; English & Steffy, 2001). Educators and schools that effectively use data are working to ensure all students are growing and progressing, as well as determining professional learning opportunities for teachers (Shannon & Bylsma, 2007).

Culture Shift

Culture can uphold or unravel the important work of turnaround. A strong school community builds the culture within and among members of the community, including families. Schools with a strong culture partner with families that support students in determining and achieving their life goals (Shannon & Bylsma, 2007; Weiss et al., 2010). This is accomplished by working through any language or other cultural barriers to establish trust, increasing the types and impact of interactions with families, and

providing families with approaches to use in supporting students at home (Paredes, 2011). Schools that used impactful family engagement strategies saw a four-fold increase in that school's reading and math performance (Bryk et al., 2010).

The success of turnaround can be affected by many factors. In traditional public schools, "two major factors affect turnaround success: the characteristics and actions of the turnaround leader, and the support for dramatic change that the leader and staff receive from the district, state, and/or other governing authority" (Steiner & Hassel, 2011, p. 1). In the case of charter schools, authorizers hold schools accountable but often do not provide support. Support to charters can also be provided by partners or outside consultants (Evan & Canavero, 2020).

Based on the literature regarding turnaround in a charter context, it is difficult to determine whether offering and conducting turnaround will be worth the vast amount of resources, including time, energy, and willpower to provide a viable option for students to get an excellent education. In a charter context, turnaround efforts may not align with the philosophy or capacity of the authorizer, as the authorizer may see the only option for a low-performing school is closure. Turnaround efforts may also not align with the "window of opportunity" by which charter authorizers are held responsible. However, the detrimental effects of closure on students, especially minority and low-income students, help make a stronger case for turnaround. This study identifies the optimal conditions of how some authorizers have offered the option of turnaround, as well as how authorizers are held accountable for the outcomes of their sector and how authorizers hold schools in turnaround accountable. Understanding the option of turnaround from these two pressures (pressure on the authorizer and pressure on the schools) is imperative if the option is to become more widely accepted and conducted.

The next chapter details the research methodology and how it will be used, including a rationale and description of the case study method, sampling plan for the cases, and the data collection methods to address the research questions.

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

This chapter describes the methodology used for this study and the specific choices made and rationale in designing the study. This study intended to understand the experiences of authorizers who offered low-performing schools a turnaround option by investigating both the optional conditions in which turnaround was offered, and their models of accountability for charter turnaround efforts. To do so, the following two research questions were investigated:

1. What contextual conditions were in place for the authorizer to facilitate school turnaround?

- a. Does school improvement in charter schools fit into the Overton Window and what factors influenced the political will to allow the option of turnaround?
- b. What policies (state and local) were in place to allow a lowperforming charter school to engage in turnaround?
- c. Was the authorizer held accountable to improving charter schools?
- 2. What models of accountability were used for schools conducting turnaround?
 - d. What autonomies were provided to the school?
 - e. When and how was the turnaround process monitored for progress?

f. What components of the school were monitored for progress (i.e., leadership, talent, instruction, culture)?

In this chapter, there will be an in-depth explanation of the research design of the multi-case approach, using content analysis, along with a description of the context of the study, the methods that were used to select the sample, collect, and analyze the data.

Research Design

This study used a multi-case approach to a case study as the methodology. A case study is a research design that provides a rich, in-depth, and focused portrayal from which to understand a phenomenon within a single or multiple settings (Eisenhardt, 1989; MacDonald & Walker, 1975). In this study, each authorizer represented a single "case" and setting. Given the dearth in the literature base about authorizer practices to hold schools employing turnaround accountable, the goal of the design was to describe and document authorizer practice in relation to schools in turnaround in order to understand better the phenomenon, as well as for others to learn more about how and why particular tactics were used so they can ultimately apply the lessons learned to their own context.

By examining authorizer practice across multiple authorizers, this study provides further understanding of authorizer practice from a wider variety of authorizers, therefore contributing a richer portrayal to the field of accountability and education policy. The wide variety of authorizer philosophies (Chen, 2016) and types (NACSA, 2015) provides a unique opportunity for research. The examination of the experiences that individual charter school authorizers have with charter schools in turnaround may provide a deeper understanding of beneficial authorization practices as well as the authorization experience within differing political contexts.

Population and Sample

A database of schools closed between 2015 and 2019, organized by state, authorizer, and year closed was obtained from the National Alliance for Public Charter Schools. From there, state laws related to low or underperforming charter school policy were reviewed. A pool of potential participants for were selected for recruitment by meeting the following criteria:

1. State in which authorizer is located does not have an automatic closure law (as obtained from policy scan of auto-closure laws from Education Commission of the States, 2020)

2. State policy did not indicate a type of probation, improvement plan, or other opportunity to improve was mandatory prior to charter renewal decisions (as obtained from policy scan of charter laws from Education Commission of the States, 2020)

3. A central repository of states and/or authorizers offering the option of turnaround does not currently exist. Therefore, confirmation of a turnaround or significant improvement effort had been or is being conducted in a charter school, conducted through a search of news articles and authorizer websites.

From this pool, a purposeful sample was chosen to represent a variety of geographic, authorizer type, authorizer capacity, and size of authorizer portfolio. Purposeful sampling is used when trying to gain as much insight and understanding about the phenomenon (Patton, 2015). As demonstrated in the review of literature in chapter two, charters are employed for a multitude of purposes, with a wide range of philosophies and types of authorizers. The size of the sample was determined from research recommendations when using multiple case study approaches. Suggested sample size is at least two, but for more complex phenomenon, five to six cases are recommended to illustrate similarities and differences across cases (Yin, 2009). Turnaround is quite a complex phenomenon; therefore, seven authorizers were recruited to participate in the study, with the hopes that consent agreements would be secured by at least five of the authorizers. Of those recruited, five authorizing agencies agreed to participate. Of the two authorizers who were invited but did not participate, one did not respond even after several attempts to contact them, and one indicated they were only a two-person office and did not have the capacity to participate. This latter authorizer is a district office, which accounts for the majority of authorizers across the U.S. (NACSA, 2020). Although district offices tend to each authorize only a small number of charter schools, not having a district office included in this study limits their perspective in this study.

Qualitative studies typically employ two levels of sampling. Sampling includes first the case, and then the people, activities, or documents within the case (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). In this study, nine individuals were chosen based on their role within the authorizers' functions. The size of authorizer teams varied greatly, so roles and job functions were used to identify participants. Specifically, this study interviewed the individuals involved in making decisions pertaining to charter renewals and closures, but also in performance reviews and support.

Recruiting Procedures

Interview participants were recruited by obtaining their email addresses from authorizer websites and contacting them via email to confirm their responsibilities and ask their permission to set up a time for an interview. Potential participants, such as Executive Directors from charter authorizing agencies were emailed via their authorizing agency email listed on the authorizing agency website. Potential participants were

recruited using the draft email in Appendix A to explain the purpose of the study, explain the risks and benefits of participation in the study, request their voluntary participation in the study and request their resume and suggestions from whom else in their office would provide beneficial information from their authorizing agency.

As indicated in the draft recruitment letter, potential participants were informed the interview would take approximately one hour and should they be willing, they were asked to respond to a scheduling poll indicating available dates and times within a two week window to be interviewed. Participants were informed of the data privacy and confidentiality procedures I intended to follow, which included not naming individuals or authorizing agencies specifically, or attributing any quotes to individuals. Potential risks and benefits to participation included a national exposure to the research findings. Because I am currently a researcher for the National Charter School Resource Center these findings will potentially be shared through this national vehicle. This is both a benefit and a risk to authorizers. To ensure their comfort and lessening of risk, I created pseudonyms for each authorizing entity instead of naming them specifically. All information from the interviews was kept on a file system that was accessible only through a password and was only accessible to the researcher. My professional email address and cell phone number was provided should any potential participant have any questions or concerns prior, during, or after their participation in the study.

Data Collection Methods

This study relied on two methods of data collection: documents and interviews, allowing for a variety of perspectives on how and why turnaround was offered to lowperforming schools. The use of multiple data sources is a method used in qualitative research to increase credibility as well, by being able to triangulate and verify findings

across sources (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Below is a discussion of each data collection

method in detail. Please see Table two for data collection methods by research question.

Table 2

Research Question and Data Sources

	Research Question	Data Source		
		Documents	Interviews	
(1)	What contextual factors were in place for the authorizer to facilitate school turnaround?	Х	Х	
a.	Does school improvement in charter schools fit into the Overton Window; what factors influenced the political will to allow the option of turnaround?		Х	
b.	What policies (state-local) were in place to allow a low-performing charter school to engage in turnaround?	Х	Х	
c.	How was the authorizer held accountable to improving charter schools?	Х	Х	
(2)	What models of accountability were used for schools conducting turnaround?	Х	Х	
a.	What autonomies were provided to the school?	Х	Х	
b.	When and how was the turnaround process monitored for progress?	Х	Х	
c.	What components of the school were monitored for progress (i.e. leadership, talent, instruction, culture)?	Х	Х	

Documents in this study were collected, including policies, procedures for the authorizers and schools when the option of turnaround is offered to a low-performing charter school. Documents gathered or requested included the following:

- Rationale for why improvement should be considered or is being offered as an option
- Policy and practice documents, such as
 - Performance frameworks;
 - Site visit protocols, descriptions, rubrics, reports;
 - Guidance to board members and improvement plan templates and how plan will be evaluated;
 - Timeframe(s) allowed for improvement and any guidance on determination of timeframe;
 - Process for determining improvement-related conditions and/or performance benchmarks and how the charter will be renewed and/or amended;
 - Process and schedules for monitoring the progress of any school in improvement.
- Evaluations of the authorizer

Interview Protocol

For each authorizer in the study, I downloaded and reviewed as many of the documents in the list above from what was publicly available on the authorizer's website. After reviewing documents, and making note of additional documents needed, a one-

hour, semi-structured interview was conducted. These interviews were conducted virtually using an interview protocol.

The interview protocol developed for this study (located in Appendix B) included both structured and unstructured interview questions to allow the interview to flow more like a conversation, as questions were asked out of order and worded to connect with interviewers' previous answers as well as tailored to reference specific documents or information that was uncovered during the document review (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). While there was specific information gathered from all participants, there were also less scripted probing questions asked depending on interviewees' answers to allow for exploration and a multifaceted understanding of authorizers' perspectives.

The interview protocol was developed to ensure the research questions were adequately addressed and the interview would take place within a 45- to 60-minute timeframe. Political theory also informed the interview question development. The interview protocol was field tested to ensure the questions are clear, concise, and provided the type of information the questions are meant to uncover. The protocol explored the topic areas of research for this study including the contextual factors allowing an authorizer to offer and facilitate school turnaround and the models of accountability used in monitoring schools conducting turnaround.

As indicated in the Appendix, and with approval through the Indiana State University IRB, each interview began by describing the purpose of the study, reminding participants that they may choose not to participate or conclude the interview at any time, and ask if they have any questions before we started. As permitted by the interviewees, each interview was recorded so the recordings could be transcribed for analysis. All recordings were destroyed after transcription. To ensure confidentiality, authorizers were

not identified on transcripts, or in the findings in chapter four, and only the researcher conducting this study was able to access the recordings or transcriptions of interviews.

Data Analysis

Rather than being coded all at once, data were coded within each case as they were collected in an ongoing manner with coding and collection happening simultaneously (Merriam, 2009; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Data were secondarily coded cross-case and analyzed cross-case after all data were collected (Stake, 1995). While ongoing coding allows for an iterative process, with constant comparison, analyzing the data in its totality allowed for the magnitude of themes and patterns to emerge from the full dataset and be grouped within themes (Yin, 2009). To do so, initial reflections were noted after each interview was conducted. Interviews were transcribed and read.

Developing Codes

As interview transcripts and documents were reviewed, codes and categories were identified from the data themselves instead of prior to analysis, as described as tabula rasa (Strauss & Corbin, 1998). This allowed the researcher to put aside any prejudices or presuppositions and previous knowledge of the subject area.

After codes were determined, they were organized into broader categories with common characteristics (Saldaña, 2013). This type of coding allowed for broader and interconnected themes both within and among cases to emerge within the data (Creswell, 2013; Miles & Huberman, 1994). Creswell (2013) recommended the final step as making meaning by interpreting the data. These interpretations compared findings from interviews and document review to the literature base to raise additional and new questions and suggest implications and recommendations for moving forward.

Reliability and Validity

As mentioned previously, the use of multiple data sources, in this case, multiple interviews and documents, increases validity of the findings since findings can emerge from multiple sources through the process of triangulation (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). In this study, reliability was ensured by keeping an audit trail, which is a log of how the researcher collected data, analyzed data, and arrived at findings presented in chapter four.

Summary

This case study identifies the optimal contexts and accountability frameworks being used by authorizers from varying capacities, sizes of sector and geographic locations. Chapter four presents further description of these characteristics of participants and the analyzed results of the interviews and document analysis to the research questions anchoring this study. Chapter five provides conclusions and implications, as well as suggestions for future research.

CHAPTER 4

FINDINGS

There were two questions that guided this research study. The first was to explore the contextual factors in place for the authorizer to facilitate school turnaround, including (a) public perception of turnaround and whether improvement fit into Overton's Window of "acceptable"; (b) policies and legislation that allowed low performing schools to engage in turnaround instead of being automatically closed; and (c) how the authorizer was held accountable to improving charter schools and whether this accountability offered to authorizers supported them in offering schools the chance to improve.

The second question was designed to document the models of accountability authorizers used for schools conducting turnaround, including (a) what decisions the authorizer allowed the schools to make pertaining to improvement; (b) when and how turnaround progress was monitored; and (c) what components the schools were monitored for progress to improve.

Study Sample

Of the five authorizers reviewed in the study, turnaround was most often referred to as a state-determined criterion and not by the authorizer. Therefore, many of the questions asked had to be redefined to pertain to comprehensive school improvement. The descriptions used included efforts "low or underperforming" charters partake "in lieu of closure." The authorizers who agreed to participate in this study were offered confidentiality. The citations for the primary sources related to the authorizers in the sample have been partially redacted and listed as "Authorizer, 2020" to protect the confidentiality of the authorizer, as this information would reveal the identity of the authorizer.

Characteristics of Participants and Institutions

Profiles of the five authorizing agencies that agreed to be part of this study provide a description of the varying authorizer contexts and capacities. The profiles are based on interview data combined with document review collected from the authorizer or state webinar accessed through its websites. Table 3 provides a synopsis of the contextual conditions, followed by a description summarizing each. To protect the anonymity of participants as promised, limited information for each authorizer is provided.

Table 3

Participants

Authorizer	No. Range of	Total	Geographic	Authorizer	Authorizer
	Charter	Closures	Regions	Туре	Capacity*
	Schools	2015-2019			
А	51–75	21	Midwest	IHE	High
В	Above 100	27	South	Independent	Average
С	25-50	9	Midwest	Other	Low
D	51–75	3	West	Independent	Average
Е	25-50	6	West	Independent	High

Note. National Alliance for Public Charter Schools, Charter Closure data 2015 to 2019 by state, authorizer, and year.

*The ranges of authorizer capacity are summarized here as high, average, and low according to the average of one third of a full-time equivalent staff member for each charter school in their portfolio needed (NACSA, 2013). Capacity was calculated by

dividing the number of staff in the authorizing office by the number of schools in their portfolio.

All authorizers included in this study had at least 25 schools in their portfolios. The majority of authorizers (67 percent) typically only authorize 1–2 schools (LiBetti et al., 2019; NACSA, 2015); therefore, the subset of authorizers included in this study represent the minority of authorizers in the U.S. Two authorizers had portfolios between 25 and 50 schools, two authorizers had between 51 and 75 schools and one authorizer had over 100 schools currently authorized.

The authorizers collectively closed 66 charter schools between 2015 and 2019. The number of schools closed per authorizer ranged from three schools to 27 during this time period. The database of closed schools did not provide the underlying reasons for each of the schools being closed; however, overall reasons for school closure included financial hardship and academic underperformance. Authorizers interviewed confirmed these underlying reasons as well.

Authorizers represented three of the four geographic regions, including one authorizer from the South and two authorizers from the West coast (U.S. Census Bureau, 2018). Two authorizers from the Midwest region were also included in the study. Authorizers from the Northeast region were not represented in this study.

Authorizer types in this study represented all authorizer types, except district authorizers. There was one authorizer included in the study from an Institution of Higher Education, two that were Independent Chartering Boards, one State Education Agency, and one authorizer that was considered "other." For purposes of confidentiality, and because there is a limited number of authorizers that fall into the "other" category, further description is not provided.

Interview participants included executive directors from each of the authorizers as well as an additional staff member that led the accountability and/or support process for schools implementing improvement efforts. The number of staff within authorizers' offices ranged from under 10 staff members to over 40. Two authorizers were considered high capacity, as they had approximately more than one staff member per 3 schools. Two authorizers were considered average, as having one staff member per 3 schools and one authorizer was considered low capacity because their staff was responsible for more than three schools. Three of the five authorizers (two high capacity and one average capacity) had staff that provided direct support to schools, two authorizers (low capacity and average capacity) did not. Authorizer capacity is explored more fully in the findings.

Data Collection

Taking the literature review into account related to authorizing practices and effective accountability for improvement, several ideas became apparent. These ideas evolved into a list of pertinent documents to review as well as interview questions that provided the structure to collect data from authorizers. Prior to each interview, documents from the authorizers' websites were downloaded and reviewed. Semi-structured interviews were conducted with each of the nine participants from the five authorizing agencies. All of the interviews were audio recorded and transcribed in real time through AI software called Rev. Upon conclusion of each interview, a summary of each interview, including key takeaways and connections to the authorizers' documents were written. Once the interviews were complete, transcripts were reviewed quickly allowing me to "build a sense of the data as a whole" prior to data being sorted, coded and analyzed, both within each case and across cases, keeping consistent with multi-case study analysis (Creswell & Poth, 2018, p. 188). Interviewer notes were also sorted,

coded, and analyzed. A more in-depth document review was also conducted, where data derived from the documents were coded and analyzed.

Case Study Analysis

When using a multi-case study approach, coding and analysis are done both within each individual case, as well as across cases. In this study each authorizer served as a case. Coding and analyzing data in this fashion allows for themes to emerge within the context of a particular authorizer as well as across contexts. Data were secondarily coded cross-case and analyzed cross-case after all data were collected (Stake, 1995). Given that one of the research questions specifically sought to capture the intersection of context and phenomenon made this methodology suitable and appropriate for the study.

Data from both the documents and interviews were coded with early codes and categories through memos. Memos are "not just descriptive summaries of data but attempts to synthesize them into higher level analytic meanings" (Miles et al., 2014, p. 95). After all data were coded, these codes were reviewed and then categorized into broad themes. These broad themes were then reanalyzed within the data to determine final themes and overarching concepts. Finally, interpretation of the data in the context of the literature as well as within and across authorizer context was also conducted. The results of which are provided below. Other colleagues also reviewed the codes, themes, and evidence supporting the findings to provide additional insight about the key themes and findings.

Multiple strategies were used in this study to check for validity in this work, as suggested by Creswell (2013). The first was triangulation of data. Through interviewing more than one person at each authorizer and collecting and analyzing documentation from the authorizer, I was able to cross reference self-reported information provided in the interviews. The use of quotes from authorizers related to the various themes helped connect the readers to each context. Finally, peer review occurred, when peers and committee members reviewed and asked questions about the study ensuring researcher bias was limited.

As will be discussed in the following section, authorizer contexts, purposes, and roles vary as widely as the rationales for charter schools themselves. All participants attributed charter schools, and improving existing charter schools, as a means of offering families needed choice. If an abundance of choices was already present, spending the time "pushing a round peg in a square hole" was not deemed worth the effort, time, and resources needed. How significant improvement efforts were offered and the ways in which authorizers held schools accountable to these efforts are explored further below.

Major Themes of the Study

Through semi-structured video-interviews with nine authorizer staff members, I was able to gather insight into the experiences, context, and policy and accountability frameworks for offering and holding charter schools accountable to improvement. The goal of this study was to determine and describe the patterns, common connections, and themes throughout the findings that could impact other authorizers implementing an improvement option and synthesize the relationships among the differing contexts and themes throughout the findings. The following six themes emerged. They are presented, not in order of frequency, but in order of magnitude of theme and subtheme interrelatedness, as related to the literature review. The open and axial codes as well as themes emanating from these codes is included as Appendix for reference.

Themes from Research Question One

The themes of this study are organized by research questions. The first research question explored what contextual factors were in place for the authorizer to facilitate school turnaround, including policies that were in place pertaining to offering improvement, and the factors that influenced the political will to allow the option of turnaround. The political theory, Overton's Window, was used to explore whether improvement was deemed "acceptable." Lastly, formal and informal mechanisms for holding authorizers accountable were also explored. Themes pertaining to this question included:

- Authorizers weigh positive and negative factors regarding students, community, and themselves when making decisions about improvement versus closure
- Supporting school improvement varied greatly among authorizers

Improvement Versus Closure

The first theme from research question one pertained to the decision to offer turnaround. While all authorizers in this study were recruited specifically because they offered an improvement option to schools, authorizers shared their experiences both positive and negative with improvement and closure. Authorizers also shared their experiences of how the decision to offer turnaround or closure impacts students, communities and themselves. Authorizers weighed several of these factors in policy pertaining to underperforming schools. **Improvement**. All authorizers shared that the main reason they offered improvement was motivated by the same reason given for closure: the students. Whether all schools were given the option of improvement, or if authorizers determined which schools to allow to stay open and pursue improvement, the option that seemed best for the students typically tipped the direction. As one authorizer shared,

The reason we offer turnaround is the students. If the family is saying they don't have a quality option, we're not going to give up on those kids. If we feel turnaround gives them a better option, then we're going to do the work to get them there.

Authorizers also shared that improvement can be beneficial to communities, ultimately causing less disruption for families and students. Schools that improve "offer a great option for families," when these options fail to exist otherwise. Improving a school can also spark improvement in the community itself, as shared by one authorizer:

I want to give students an option of high-quality education that they wouldn't have otherwise. And especially in areas that don't have any options, [turnaround] can be the beacon in that area. Once you have one good thing, more good things come from it. And you just need that one thing to start it.

Authorizers shared that the relationships they had with schools, boards, and communities benefited from offering turnaround because authorizers were willing to engage deeply with schools on their outcomes. Communities' trust for authorizers grew and, as a result of these relationships and conversations, communities' knowledge and understanding of key educational outcomes. Authorizers' knowledge and capacity for the difficulty of improving a school also increased.

All authorizers examined students' educational outcomes in one school compared to other educational options offered. Some authorizers compared individual schools to the sector itself. Other authorizers compared schools to geographic constructs consisting of traditional and charter schools, considering the schools students could attend if their

current school closed. How authorizers regarded this information, or the educational experiences, varied. Some authorizers took the availability of better educational options into account when determining how much they would push for improvement. For example,

We spend time looking at, if the kids were not attending this school where would they be attending? What would that education look like? Because we're dealing with kids' lives. Every year lost is just so hard to regain. We know that.

One authorizer provided workarounds in the form of transportation assistance to families to attend other schools in the sector. This particular authorizer specifically does not take these comparison circumstances into account. This authorizer explained why:

Just because your high school was slightly outperforming the neighborhood high schools around it . . . That is something we talk about, it's what the schools push the conversation to be about, but it's not a factor in our determination [for improvement]. We had one arts school, the conversation was like, yeah, they have a theater program. That's amazing for those students. And we heard the three or four students who really took off in the arts after they left. But their academic scores were still so low, and their growth was low. We couldn't justify keeping them open for a theater program.

Another authorizer considered the schools' impact well beyond "reading, writing and arithmetic" with a purpose not only about educating students but anchoring communities:

One way to think about it is these schools are community assets. And that goes beyond academic performance. Yes, the academic performance of schools is the most important thing that we oversee, but you have a school that was the elementary school named after the first principal [of name redacted for confidentiality]. Where thousands and thousands of residents went to school there. If we close that school without recognizing the role that it plays in the community as a center, as a touchstone and just abandon it . . . That I think would be problematic. In a lot of ways we don't measure that necessarily directly through state accountability.

The same authorizer went on to say,

But the cultural relevance of the school itself, I think, is undervalued sometimes and needs to be part of the conversation, which is why intervening in the way that we do allows us to keep the sort of essence of what the school was for the community. And not abandon that, but also offer better academic options for students.

Authorizers also shared other pressures when looking to improve the schools within their portfolio instead of closing them. For example, one authorizer acknowledged the difficulty and pushback from districts within the state to open new charter schools. Within this context, this particular authorizer prioritized staff time and resources to support current schools than to close and open new ones.

Authorizers acknowledged negative aspects to improvement as well. Authorizers shared past experiences with schools and admitted that not all schools attempting to improve did. Authorizers described improvement as a time and resource intensive endeavor on the part of the school and authorizer, and authorizers described spending quite a bit of time and energy determining if a school is a good candidate for improvement versus closure, as one authorizer explained,

We spend so much time on those [improvement] decisions. Even when we do come to the closure decisions, we turned over every rock and tried to really think through what makes sense. If we don't try to pursue a turnaround, the biggest reason is that it is a lot of work. And it isn't a high percentage of success. When we do try it, it's because we do think we have an operator for that area. We think we have a board that still has the stamina and the commitment to do it.

Authorizers shared that improvement was not always deemed the best option at every school. Schools that were severely low performing, consecutively low performing, financially insolvent or found to be egregiously non-compliant were often mandated to close. All other schools that had not met renewal criteria were up for discussion of improvement.

Closure. The authorizers included in this study were not fundamentally opposed to shuttering a low performing school; in fact, the authorizers interviewed had closed schools. Authorizers expressed that closing an underperforming school was the "option easier on authorizers" and being more "predisposed to closing a charter school that's low performing then going through a full turnaround process." However, while national policy challenges authorizers to close all low performing schools, other than being easier on authorizers, no authorizers expressed a positive reason for closure (NACSA, 2013). While authorizers discussed positive and negative aspects of improvement, authorizers only discussed negative experiences with closure. Improvement served to avoid the negative consequences of closure on authorizer, community, and students, while potentially being beneficial to students and communities.

A huge positive [with improvement] is if we cannot disrupt the school community and if turnaround is effective in that their academic outcomes are starting to increase, and the students are getting a stronger education. That's a huge positive.

Closure was viewed by the authorizers as disruptive and having long term negative impacts on students. One authorizer expressed an upcoming study examining the extent to which students from closed schools dropped out and failed to finish high school. Their anecdotal evidence suggested almost half of the student body failed to complete high school when the authorizer closed a secondary school. "The number of dropouts we lose when we close a high school and even in middle school is horrible." This authorizer went on to explain the reality of what happens when schools close in her sector,

We have also seen that when a school closes, the students in that school tend to enroll in other low performing schools. We've tried to really work our magic and try and get students into higher performing schools. But it's difficult. There are roadblocks for multiple reasons and the low performing schools have seats open, and then we close THAT school. So we had some students who went through two high school closures within three years. I feel like that should never happen--even having one school closed. It is just so disruptive. So I think for us really trying to take a look at the data of what happens with students in the school that closes.

Authorizers shared that closure decisions were the hardest to make and that they spent countless hours and staff professional judgment determining whether to move forward. One authorizer described it as "I can't ever recall a conversation that was not brutal and talking about, are we going to recommend closure? There's always been a hope that there's another way out." Some authorizers have strict policies or "backstops they can

lean on" when faced with what they consider to be a difficult decision regarding whether to close a school.

From the perspective of Overton's Window, authorizers indicated that improvement is more accepted publicly than closure and shared that improvement helped avoid the negative aspects of closure. One authorizer shared that "it's becoming harder and harder [publicly] to close." Another authorizer indicated they had received community backlash for school closings in the past and, so, "ideally we don't want contentious closures if we can avoid it." The community aspect of closure often adds to the consternation felt by many authorizers. One authorizer described the community reaction to closure being

a heartbreaking experience and in many cases, parents tend to fight it. In many cases, the school kind of leads a campaign to get their families to show up at public hearings to try to show a side from all the data and all these numbers. This is the human side, and these are folks that want their kids in our school. And so it turns from being like very number and data driven conversations to very personal and it can get quite emotional. Which is why I think that when there is an opportunity for turnaround or takeover our board is very open to it.

If the push to keep schools open stems from parents, they may be biased in their conclusions of the quality of education being offered. Authorizers with the strongest community backlash also admitted they needed to do more to build relationships with families and help families better understand the performance frameworks in which they held schools accountable. Authorizers who did not experience such strong parental protests to closure likened this wider degree of acceptance because of the work they did to keep the public connected and informed. This work included having representatives at

the schools purposefully connect with parents about the outcomes of the school. Several authorizers also shared when they need to close a school; they publish a letter "telling their side of the story" both in the newspaper and sent to the school. This helps inform parents, as authorizers have found parents are not always receiving accurate information from the leaders of the school. They explained what happens when a school is being closed,

We notify the board officially via a letter. The letter is never short. It usually contains our side of the story, so to speak, and it speaks for itself. So, as that letter becomes public or as that story gets out there, parents read the information and say, 'Oh, I didn't realize all of this.' And so then that picture starts to get painted. And then the story kind of loses some of its luster.

The first theme under research question one explored the decision to offer turnaround. Authorizers take many factors into account when deciding to offer turnaround or close a school. At the heart of this decision is what is best for students. However, authorizers also weigh positive and negative aspects of turnaround and closure.

Supporting School Improvement

The second theme from the first research question pertained to once an improvement option was offered, what was the authorizers' role beyond accountability. and whether authorizers offered support to schools conducting improvement initiatives. The biggest variation across authorizers was how much or how little authorizers believed they should support schools' improvement processes and in what ways. This was the stickiest and most difficult line for authorizers. Authorizers on one end of the spectrum held the philosophy of providing no support: "We have a fine line between how much we support schools and then upholding that accountability," seeing providing support

services as reducing their ability to hold schools accountable if they failed to improve. Other authorizers had teams of staff that provided direct support in the form of trainings, in-school root cause analysis and needs assessment processes, and capacity building communities of practice.

There were three types of authorizers represented in this study's sample: independent chartering boards, institutes of higher education and other. All three types were represented in either camp of no support or direct support for improving schools, but they did vary by staff size, suggesting that the overall capacity of an authorizer might be more important than the authorizer's type. NACSA found that authorizers average one third of a fulltime equivalent staff member for each charter school in their portfolio (NACSA, 2013). The authorizers that provided no support in our sample fell just at or below that threshold, while those that provided direct support had higher staff to school ratios by which to do so.

Authorizers acknowledged several criteria needed for a successful turnaround. Determining whether other high-quality options were available for students was an initial deciding factor for one authorizer, whereas for the remaining authorizers, offering a school the chance to improve was automatic. Authorizers discussed the need for having the "right" people: leaders, operator, and board members "that have the stamina and commitment to do it. It's a huge commitment. Do you have the right folks either currently in those positions or that are ready to take on those positions to turn around an organization?" Some authorizers with higher levels of capacity were able to train operators and board members, to ensure a smooth transition.

We do a lot of board training as well. We'll do individualized training throughout the year. We have a series, but for these schools, we do an intensive just for that

board and work with them throughout the year on specific trainings to get them up to speed and support them.

Several authorizers were quick to explain a particular area of training often needed was ensuring the board understood the data and the outcomes the school was producing. This type of training was determined to be the most important role an authorizer could take in the overall improvement of the sector. From their perspective, authorizers have found that once the performance framework has been communicated effectively, and understood, this served as the motivator for improvement.

A lot of it is getting the board to understand the data. Because 99 times out of 100 when boards aren't making the decisions needed, it's because they don't truly understand how bad the situation is, for whatever reason.

It was important, when a new charter operator was taking charge of a school in improvement status, for operators to understand the expectations of the authorizer as well.

The reason that we're in a turnaround is generally because the school has been unable previously to perform, so it is definitely already at a lower level. And so the expectation is not that you have 20 years to start making the growth. So the idea is that the operator that's coming in understands what they're walking into and that the expectation is for them to hit the ground running and demonstrate that they can be effective in this environment is going to be critical.

Along with training, authorizers acknowledged the significance of relationships with school boards and leaders. Authorizers recognized that relationships have to be something created from the beginning, with all schools, "because the backend it's already too late at that point." Authorizers needed the staff capacity to do so but that the time was

well worth the effort; as one authorizer explained, developing the kinds of relationships needed takes time and staff to:

Really invest in the relationships with the people that are on the other side of these difficult circumstances. Those relationships have really gone a long way in helping to make it so that when we have these difficult conversations, like the words, the words land in a way that they may actually have some real impact.

Lastly, there was no formal accountability mechanism included in the legislation or in practice, for any of the authorizers included in this study. While all the states represented had laws in place to sanction authorizers for performance, there were limited mechanisms that collected information to do so. All authorizers interviewed named informal and indirect accountability metrics in the form of annual funding from legislation, political backing, or market/community support. However, there lacked external accountability for authorizers and a determination of whether authorizers' decisions to direct their resources of time and talent, funding, and focus paved the way for improvement or created barriers to improvement. Further, a lack of accountability further stunted an authorizer's ability to determine what is working and not in their sector and to pivot to more effective practices.

The second theme from research question one concerned the role, beyond accountability, that authorizers play for schools in improvement status. Some of the ways in which authorizers supported schools was to provide direct support, such as training boards, leaders, and operators. Other authorizers, however, took an opposite approach and did not provide direct support but rather, due to capacity or philosophy, chose to serve a connecting role by connecting schools with trainings or vendors. Finally,

authorizers in this study did not participate in any type of formal evaluation to determine whether their version of support was working or not for their sector.

Themes from Research Question Two

The second research question explored policy, practice, and accountability levers authorizers employ to hold schools accountable. Several authorizers described the fear of whether they have "closed a school too soon or left a school open for too long." Striking the right balance of accountability and attempting to hold schools accountable to do the work needed to improve were difficulties all authorizers acknowledged. The mechanisms authorizers used to hold schools accountable and what schools were held accountable for was reviewed based on the *four domains* improvement framework in the literature that identified four domains needed to ensure sustainable charter school turnaround, which include: leadership and governance, talent management, instruction and culture as well as financial and operational soundness (Evan & Canavero, 2020). Several themes (4) related to accountability, school autonomy, and the mechanisms used to hold schools accountable arose in the data and included:

- All schools are held to the same accountability or renewal framework focused on outcomes of their educational program
- Site visits serve to monitor for improvement and identify support needed
- Contract year terms varied depending on performance
- School autonomy is reduced when schools fail to improve

Authorizers have multiple accountability mechanisms to improve the charter sector: (1) the performance framework, (2) site visits, (3) charter time terms, and (4) levels of autonomy. While all schools are held accountable to the same performance framework, regardless of improvement status, site visits are utilized most to monitor progress of improvement efforts and measure impact of improvement. Varying charter time terms were utilized to offer authorizers a mechanism to be able to "pull the plug when needed." Autonomy was upheld until improvement failed to occur.

Accountability Frameworks

The first theme from research question two pertained to authorizers' accountability framework. Often referred to as performance frameworks or renewal frameworks, authorizers held all schools, regardless of improvement status, accountable for outcomes of their education program. These outcomes included metrics for academic and financial performance, and sometimes operational as well. These data help authorizers determine the extent to which schools are or are not meeting performance criteria as outlined in schools' charter. As charter schools can offer a myriad of programmatic and curricular offerings, having a universal set of indicators across a portfolio also provides a way to compare schools. For schools in improvement status, performance frameworks provide a less-subjective measure for stakeholders, such as parents, board members, and leaders to understand.

Academic Outcomes. The various academic outcomes authorizers used to measure schools' academic performance are included in Table 4. Academic outcomes were collected from students enrolled in grades K-12. The most common measures collected included standardized test data for students in grades 3–8 and one grade level in high school. Measures of student achievement included the percentage of students meeting the criteria of proficiency of college and career ready standards (as based on the states' high stakes assessment used to measure college and career ready standards), as well as measuring the extent to which students showed progress (or growth) in their academic ability over time. Also often collected was student growth on literacy and mathematics compared to geographic locations, home school, or national or state averages. Measures of student subgroup performance, such as subgroup growth for students in grades 3-8, was less often collected. Indicators that authorizers referred to as "mission-specific" were included by one authorizer if the school sought to serve specific student demographics or curricular offerings.

High schools were often measured by the statewide assessment of students' levels of post-secondary readiness (often in grade 10) and graduation rates. Additional high school performance measures included, but less often common were opportunity and performance on Advanced Placement exams, and career specific measures, such as earning career and technical certifications. Like elementary and middle school, subgroup post-secondary readiness was less often included in authorizers' performance frameworks.

Academic performance frameworks are typically how authorizers determine whether schools are improving if they were struggling with meeting academic performance. Some authorizers recognize how difficult it may be to improve particular indicators, such as proficiency rates. One authorizer pays a bit more attention to growth than proficiency:

We dig deep into a lot of our indicators. We have [state's] ratings. Growth is a big part of that. There are multiple different growth measures and proficiency. We'll go deep onto some of those measures, too. To say, well, proficient, it looks like their rating didn't move that much, but actually we're seeing a lot of progress on the growth side. Also digging deep on the data on the back end to understand what that looks like and what that means.

Table 4

Number of Authorizers' Performance Frameworks with Specific Academic Performance

Outcomes

Academic Outcomes	No. of Authorizers
State and Federal Accountability	
State Grading/Rating System	4
State Designations	3
Student Growth	
Nationally Normed Tests	2
Growth Measure using State-level Assessment Data	5
Subgroup Growth	3
Student Proficiency	
Proficiency on State Exams	5
Subgroup Proficiency	2
Schools Serving Similar Populations	2 3
Comparison of Student Options	4
Post-Secondary Readiness	
ACT/SAT/Post Sec Readiness Indicator	4
Subgroup Post-Secondary Readiness	1
High School Graduation Rates	4
High school Dropout Rate	1
AP/IB/Dual-Credit/Industry Certifications	2
Post-Secondary including Military/Workforce/College	1
On-Track to Graduation Rate (Post-Sec)	3
Remediation Rate	1
Post-Sec Second Year Persistence/Completion Rate	1
Mission-Specific Academic Goals	
Diversity: ELL, Free/Reduced IEP enrollment	1
Mission-Specific Academic Goals	1

Note. Documents collected from interviewed authorizers.

Operations Outcomes. If authorizers had an operational framework, the measures included typically determined whether schools were compliant in following specific terms, as well as local, state, and/or federal rules and legislation. For example, as noted in Table 5, several authorizers measured whether schools were in compliance of federal laws pertaining to students qualifying for special education services or English

Language Services. All authorizers measured whether schools followed financial management rules and procedures and almost all measured schools against management accountability and whether schools were compliant in submitting the myriad of local, state, and federal reports. Depending on the state law, authorizers also measured whether schools were complying with the specific governance requirements, such as board members could not benefit materially or be awarded contracts from the school. Indicators pertaining to staffing compliance, such staff being properly credentialed and performing background checks were also depending on state law. Several authorizers also collected measures on facilities and transportation, health and safety, and whether schools were in compliance with keeping student data secure and confidential.

Some authorizers also collected outcomes as part of their school operations, such as students' average daily attendance and percentage of students who re-enrolled the following year. The former measure served as a proxy for student engagement. This latter measure serves as a proxy for parent satisfaction, with the idea being that if parents are satisfied, they will continue to enroll their child(ren) at the school. Evidence of student support services, such as emotional and instructional support were also collected by one authorizer.

Table 5

Number of Authorizers' Performance Frameworks with Specific Operations Outcomes

Operations Outcomes	No. of Authorizers
Educational Program	
Material Terms of the Charter	2
Education Requirements	1
Students w/Disabilities	3
ELL Students	3
Financial Management & Oversight	
Financial Reporting & Compliance	5
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)	5
Governance & Reporting	
Governance Requirements	4
Governance Vacancy duration	1
Governance Attendance	1
Management Accountability	4
Reporting Requirements	4
Students & Employees	
Attendance/Attendance Goals	2
Staff Credentials	2
Employee Rights	1
Student Re enrollment	3
Background Checks	2
School Environment	
Facilities and Transportation	3
Health and Safety	3
Information Management	2

Note. Documents collected from interviewed authorizers.

Financial Outcomes. The financial indicators measured by authorizers on performance frameworks varied across authorizers but tended to fall into two categories, near term and long term, as indicated in Table 6. Near term indicators provided a prediction of whether the school would be able to meet its financial obligations over the next 12 months, with schools meeting the desired standards seen as demonstrating "low risk of financial distress" for the coming year. Schools that fail to meet the standards may currently be experiencing financial difficulties and/or are at risk for financial hardship in the near term (Authorizer Performance Framework, 2020). Some authorizers also captured sustainability measures that provide a prediction of longer term (usually 3 years) financial viability.

Most authorizers collected near term measures of financial stability including enrollment variances between the number of students predicted to be enrolled compared to the actual number of students enrolled. Keeping track of whether a school hits their enrollment target (since this is what schools use to build their annual budget) helps authorizers home in with the school about how they will either be bringing in the amount necessary or cut necessary expenditures to ensure the school is in a healthy financial position (Authorizer, 2020). Almost all authorizers captured enrollment variance because the funds charters receive per student enrolled is typically the largest revenue source for schools and provides not only a view into the schools' ability to attain enrollment goals, but also how they adjust when those enrollment targets are not met. Additional near term measures include cash on hand (or some timeframe allocation of cash on hand, such as days, months, quarters that a school can pay its expenses without further funds needed), any defaults on debt payments, and ratio of current assets versus current liabilities.

Financial sustainability, or longer-term measures included net income, which is a measure of whether a school is operating at a surplus or deficit. Because schools have different expenses in different years, such as purchasing curriculum or technology or a capital planning project, often times the net income is averaged over a period of time to show financial trends of surplus or deficit. Another longer-term financial indicator is debt to asset ratio (similar to the current ratio observed annually). This indicator measures the total amount owed versus the assets owned and how much the school relies on borrowed

funds for operations. States have varying laws about long term financial viability. For

example, one state law prohibits schools from spending more funds than they have

(Authorizer, 2020).

Table 6

Number of Authorizers' Performance Frameworks with Specific Financial Outcomes

Financial Outcomes	No. of Authorizers
Near-Term	
Current Ratio	5
Unrestricted Days Cash	4
Cash to Current Liabilities	2
Enrollment Variance	4
Sources of Revenue	1
Debt Default	4
Sustainability	
Total Margin/Aggregated 3-Year Margin	5
Debt to Asset Ratio	4
Cash Flow	3
Debt Service Coverage Ratio	2

Note. Documents collected from interviewed authorizers.

At the time of interview, several authorizers discussed changes currently occurring or in the near future to embed a layer of equity to their performance frameworks. For instance, one authorizer provided a larger weight on their performance framework to schools that enrolled a more diverse or historically underserved population than their neighboring schools. Another authorizer planned to add an examination of outcome data per student subgroup to ensure the school was meeting the needs of all students. Whereas one other authorizer was exploring how they could examine a school's outcomes within the context of the student population in which they were serving, in order to recognize the differences of what the schools needed in order for high quality options to be equitably accessed across the sector.

Research question two examined the crux of accountability and how authorizers held schools accountable for improvement. The first theme under research question two examined the threshold of existence for particular charter schools, the accountability or renewal framework. All schools are held to the same standards consisting of academic, and oftentimes operational and financial indicators as well. However, these latter indicators are more centered on compliance than quality. While all schools were held to the same standards, authorizers oftentimes weighted academic indicators such as growth more heavily than other indicators such as proficiency when reviewing schools attempting to improve. Few authorizers examined outcomes from an equity lens to determine if schools were producing equitable outcomes per student subgroup.

Site Visits

The second theme from research question two pertained to another of authorizers' monitoring and oversight mechanisms employed: site visits to schools. The authorizers interviewed described visits as often consisting of classroom observations, observations of school processes (i.e., morning routine, lunch time, dismissal), and interviews or focus groups with key stakeholders such as leaders and other staff, including teachers, support staff, and the leadership team including staff leading special education and English language learning services, board members, and families. Data collection and analysis and document reviews are also often conducted during a site visit.

Some authorizers had set schedules for conducting site visits, such as every 3 years or 5 years, or in the first 2 years of a new school launch. These schedules were often modified to visit schools in improvement status whether or not they met these

schedules. While site visit protocols were developed to determine the quality of schools' programming, they also serve as mechanisms for authorizers to review schools in improvement or turnaround status to ascertain how schools were implementing their improvement plan.

The site visit served different purposes for different authorizers. Some authorizers incorporated the site visit findings into the overall evaluation of the school. Other authorizers used them more informally. Site visits were also tailored to a variety of purposes for the visit, such as pre-opening "readiness" check, initial site/facilities evaluation, renewal, or support visits. One authorizer who stated how site visits fit within the authorizer's mechanisms for accountability described the purpose of the site visit as:

The purpose of [the site] visits depends on the nature of the visit. In most cases, it is to exercise oversight, gather formal and anecdotal evidence that supports the [authorizer's] monitoring of its schools, and document progress toward goals outlined in schools' charter to ensure accountability as a state-authorized, public school. Focus is on the academic performance and organizational effectiveness of the school, as well as adherence to the approved charter and charter contract with the [authorizer]. In other visits, it is to support schools under the [authorizer] and help schools reach their goals. We want schools, especially those we authorize, to succeed. Our work, whether through evaluative or support visits, is designed to help schools do their best for students and ensure schools are able to continuously operate at high levels of performance (Authorizer, 2020, p. 9)

Some authorizers incorporated the site visit findings into the overall evaluation of the school. "Evidence gathered during site visits is ultimately used by the staff in its recommendations for renewal." Authorizers using site visits for renewal decisions tended to rate the schools on the components of data reviewed during the visit through a rubric against which schools were rated. Other authorizers do not use a rubric, but rather personalize the visit to the school in which they are visiting and use professional judgment to determine the efficacy of the program. The focus of the site visit is often academic performance, and the level of fidelity to the school's charter; however, reviewing schools for financial solvency and organizational effectiveness is also included as part of the site visit process.

Site visits also assist authorizers to monitor schools for improvement and identify support needed. For purposes of monitoring schools in improvement status, a site visit has the potential to offer the authorizer and school feedback on improvement efforts to determine progress of improved school quality that authorizers are collecting through their accountability process. The authorizer can use the information gathered to determine strengths and weaknesses for schools and provide support as needed, as described by one authorizer:

When we do our site evaluations, we bring the context of what's happening in terms of school performance into those conversations. And we use that as a chance to ask questions, to validate, to verify kind of how things are going. And often we learn a lot through the teacher conversations, the parent conversations about, if there is a change going on, how has that change been working?

Authorizers' site visits did not often collect and review schools according to the following core content areas, as identified by a framework for sustainable charter school improvement: leadership, governance, talent, climate, instruction, financial and operational (Evan & Canavero, 2020). Site visits that reviewed leadership (including the leadership team) pertained to the collective understanding and fidelity of the staff to

the school's mission, vision and key design, and the ability of the leadership to identify goals and align programming, such as instruction, professional development of teachers, and budgetary decisions to meet these goals. Other areas of focus for site visit reviewers included the communication style of the leader; the ability of the leaders to develop relationships with staff, parents, and students; and the systems/structures implemented.

The strengths of the governance structure at a school were most often related to the body's ability to develop a strategic vision. Some authorizers looked deeper into the process governing boards used to develop and monitor against the strategic vision. There was no discussion of site visitors reviewing the quality of the strategic vision.

Only one authorizer included organizational factors, such as compliance of reporting or submitting required documentation on time in their site visit protocol. Other authorizers collected or tallied these data in other reports.

Few authorizers collected information pertaining to talent management as part of their site visits. The quality of professional development was one authorizer's area of focus pertaining to talent development, while another authorizer collected data pertaining to the adequacy of the school's human resource system and whether its staff were deployed effectively.

Data pertaining to climate were often pertaining to a safe and orderly environment for students, and a respectful and collegial environment for staff. Two authorizers collected information pertaining to the relationship between the school and families, including the types and effectiveness of communication with families.

By far the most frequent area of focus for site visits entailed that all authorizers collected information pertaining to the instructional focus, quality, and alignment of curriculum and pedagogies used in classrooms to deliver effective instruction. One

authorizer also examined the extent to which the level of quality was evident across the school, instead of classroom by classroom. Another common area of focus was in the use of assessments and the extent to which students received differentiated instruction based on their needs. Only one authorizer collected data pertaining to the school's process and delivery of special education and English language services to students.

Financial data were often not included in site visit data collection. Authorizers often reviewed annual audit reports or conducted separate financial reviews as part of their oversight. Some authorizers reviewed these data prior to a site visit to inquire regarding the follow-up on any issues relating to financial findings during the site visit.

Documents reviewed, either prior to or during a site visit, may include, but are not limited to the following examples: staff directory, including non-instructional staff and any consultants/contracted employees, such as speech pathologist or cafeteria workers; organizational chart; teacher roster, which may or may not include certification information; student and/or teacher schedules; list and calendar of assessments for all diagnostic, formative, and summative assessments administered by each grade level throughout the year; professional development calendars; core curriculum documents and English language curriculum; lesson plans; assessments and analysis of previous assessment information shared with staff (such as item analysis) and staff plans resulting from assessment data; and student writing samples, as well as special education and English language policy and procedure manuals. Talent information included documents such as evaluations of staff (including teachers, administrators, leaders), professional development materials, staff recruitment materials, and plans.

In summary, the second theme from research question two centered around authorizer site visits. Site visits were a valuable opportunity for authorizers to deem how

improvement was being implemented. However, the majority of authorizers did not collect information helpful for turnaround. While all authorizers collected information on instruction, very few collected data on other core components, such as leadership, governance, talent, culture. Those that did were very comprehensive in their examination of these core content areas. Site visits served different purposes for different authorizers. Some authorizers incorporated the site visit findings into the overall evaluation of the school. Other authorizers used them more informally. Site visits were also tailored to a variety of purposes for the visit, such as pre-opening "readiness" check, initial site/facilities evaluation, renewal, or support visits.

Contract Year Terms

The third theme from research question two pertained to authorizers' use of contract year terms. If allowed, authorizers described that they used contract year terms depending on a school's performance. Schools that are attempting to improve often have shortened contract year terms where schools need to meet performance renewal metrics in a limited time frame. Most authorizers offered schools three years to improve, which is in line with research on time most turnaround takes. We know from past successful efforts that sustainable efforts take at least three years to see improvements in student outcomes (Evan & Canavero, 2020). Unless an authorizer is looking to other leading indicators that show whether a school is showing signs of improvement, such as increases in retention of high qualified staff, student re-enrollment rates, and stability in funding or operations processes, authorizers may not be giving schools enough time to improve or may miss improvement markers. While contract terms can serve as a mechanism for further data collection efforts, shorter contract terms due to having to meet renewal criteria every year were found to be burdensome for schools, as one authorizer learned.

We used to give schools a lot of two year-three year contracts. And it really was just creating extra work for them. And for us. It takes a chunk of time to turn a school around and see actual change. So we've moved away from shorter terms. This authorizer went on to explain that longer contract terms allow schools to "keep the work in the classroom."

While the point of some authorizers offering shorter time period contracts meant a school was up for and had to meet renewal more often, other authorizers offered a longer contract term, but added further data collection criteria.

Our school lead assigned to that school is going to be pretty involved, certainly attending board meetings, doing classroom observations, drop in visits with leadership, whereas maybe they wouldn't attend every one previously, they would here. These serve as temperature checks for how the turnaround is going. We look at standardized test data. But that's a lagging indicator and we don't want to wait until a whole year has gone by. But with turnarounds we pay attention to the growth component.

Another authorizer employed five-year charter terms with annual criteria that allowed schools to ebb and flow in improvement but still meet minimum criteria. This type of "stair step performance" stipulated the school would meet a gradually increasing level of performance that "ideally gets the school to the renewal benchmark by the next review [at the end of the five years]." The school is also not allowed to dip below a particular floor threshold on outcomes during any year of the five years. However, the five-year time frame allows schools to implement and see real progress in student achievement scores, often "the hardest to move the needle." This type of contract term allowed the authorizer to shut down the school if progress went wildly in the wrong direction but gave the school time to meet renewal criteria and improvement programming.

Some authorizers aligned their contract terms to state law. As stipulated in one state's law, schools were mandated to close after three consecutive years of being at the lowest level of the state's ratings. The authorizer did have discretion to close the school prior to the three years. Another state had a similar "accountability clock" for the two lowest performing categories of schools across the state, including charters. This state's time frame was five years before the state board takes over. The authorizer was clear this policy has not been followed in practice, however, and hoped to avoid a similar scenario of allowing schools to languish in low performance,

If you're on the clock for more than five years, the state board will intervene in theory. I guess that's the one fear is we don't want to become the same as the state board where they look at a CSI school [a school that qualifies as being in the bottom 25% of school performance] and says, oh, they've been on the clock for eight years and haven't done anything. We want to avoid that at all costs.

This same authorizer went on to explain given the loose policy around school improvement in the state, it was difficult to establish a formal timeframe for schools that carried weight, explaining that they offered underperforming schools two-year contracts to "create a sense of urgency." Even though the contract was only for two years, this authorizer's sense was improvement would take longer and hoped to cap the time frame around four years:

Maybe it's not formally articulated in policy, but I think the way we envisioned it when we started rolling out the performance contracts was, when you come up for renewal, let's say you got a two plus two [contract time frame of two years to

meet renewal criteria to get another two year contract]. You miss the plus two. That's kind of close to the end. So it's almost like two missed performance contracts. You know, four-ish years. You've been given sufficient warning, sufficient notice, sufficient opportunity in theory, to have moved the needle. And four years is a really long time, especially for those kids who have been with you all four years and have not seen appreciable improvement. So that's kind of how it is in my head. It's, you know, it's one, maybe two missed performance contracts, before we need to have those really hard conversations around an off ramp or a wind down.

The third theme for research question two about authorizers' accountability levers examined contract time limits. The purpose of contract terms was to have a shorter time period for schools to meet renewal standards and increase frequency of monitoring. Contract time terms were used variably by authorizers either because of past experience with school in improvement or past experience with state law policy. Term limits ranged from two years to five years, with most authorizers offering contract term limits of three years. This is in line with the research on the time it takes to see improvement in outcomes. Some authorizers used contract term limits to ensure schools were monitored more often and would benefit from looking beyond performance framework metrics to gauge improvement progress.

School Autonomy

Finally, the fourth theme from research question two was regarding schools' decision-making or autonomy. The autonomy afforded to charter schools was often spelled out in state legislation. For charters looking to improve, all but one authorizer described autonomy being limited at some point. The authorizers use different milestones

to begin limiting charters' autonomy. Some authorizers limit schools' autonomy immediately upon the school needing improvement, other authorizers wait until improvement has not succeeded before doing so.

State legislation of the authorizers interviewed typically afforded charter schools exemptions from local district policies and regulations. In one state, charter schools have to request waivers for specific autonomies (e.g., curriculum). In another state, the charter law did not dictate whether charter schools had autonomy from policies (district or otherwise). Some states also exempted schools from a limited set of state provisions, or they offered schools the option to apply for a waiver if the charter was not automatically exempted. Charter schools were still required to follow all federal rules, regulations and statutes, and schools' compliance with these laws was often part of the authorizers' performance frameworks.

Authorizers were often clear in how they approached autonomy for schools in improvement status, although autonomy was not approached the same way by all authorizers. For example, some authorizers interpreted their role as telling the school board that the leader needed to be replaced. Other authorizers determined this type of feedback to be overstepping the boundary of autonomy for schools. Most authorizers initially discussed that they were in the strict camp of not telling schools what to do to improve but provided examples that waned from this initial stance. Another authorizer took a different approach. This authorizer provides schools the opportunity to improve, but limits autonomy after that chance has not produced the improvement necessary:

If we've given you this chance to come up with this plan and we're not seeing adequate progress or worried about your trajectory towards renewal because everything is aimed towards will you, or won't you be renewed, right? The evaluation is saying we're not confident that you're on that path. So we heightened the intervention. If we allow you to choose a vendor before we say, okay, you're not choosing, we're going to choose for you. You work with these people. This is a vendor that we know and trust. We know that they will hold your feet to the fire, and you have to comply with that.

Two authorizers who strictly upheld autonomy in terms of not telling schools what they needed to do to improve used conditional renewal mechanisms when improvement was deemed warranted. For example, these authorizers have renewed charters "conditionally" meaning the school's charter would be renewed only if the school board agreed to make particular changes. The school board can decline to make the changes and the school will be closed. The changes authorizers "condition" may be closing underperforming grade levels, such as the middle school, changing operators, or even reconstituting the school board itself. Authorizers typically review these components of a school at inception, or upon expansion of a school during the application phase, so authorizers felt justified in making them conditions to renewal and not considering these conditions to be trampling autonomy.

One authorizer described renewal conditions as a compromise stemming from a lawsuit by a school the authorizer board chose to close.

We have a school that our board actually voted to close this past Fall. A lawsuit ensued. It was a K-12 school. As a result of the lawsuit, we landed in a place where they kept their high school. So the elementary and middle school is closed. We kept the [grade] 9–12 portion of the school. I will say that we're actually really pleased. They hit the 80% mark on their grad[uation] rate. They've moved

their grad[uation] rate very quickly. And that was probably one of our most struggling schools.

The school had such a positive experience with this type of condition, the authorizer now considers the condition for other charters looking to improve. This authorizer went on to describe another school where they "pruned the tree" in a similar situation:

We had another school that struggled. Consistently inconsistent was a term that we had used a lot with that school. They have gotten their most recent ratings to three stars at both the middle and high school. Their graduation rate has been above 80%. They've gotten to a place that I think is pretty stable. This was a school where their elementary school was the weakest part of that program. It was closed, but I think to the benefit potentially of the other two parts of the program, which have been more stable over the last couple years. I think we're optimistic that they've turned that corner and are continuing to head in the right direction.

Another authorizer, however, takes a different approach to autonomy afforded to schools. Instead of waiting to determine whether a school will improve or not and then dialing back autonomy accordingly, this authorizer sets up their accountability check-ins to allow for improvement reflection with the leader and build the leaders' capacities to make midcourse corrections.

So we're looking for folks to understand that there is a problem, you need a solution. The solution is not to keep doing the same thing. You need a very robust plan. Then we look for when we go to the school mid-year and say, well, how are things going? If they're able to report on some data that tells [*sic*] them some things are going right, they're able to say, we know it's working or not working because of X, Y and Z. Sometimes the first plan doesn't work. And that's okay.

But we want them to be able to tell us if they know what's working or not working. And how they're adapting.

Quality authorizing practices outline the need for a delicate balance of autonomy and accountability. The fourth and last theme pertaining to research question two found examples of how this balance changes when authorizers offer low performing charters an opportunity for turnaround and the opportunities and implications for this option in their context. At the end of the day, charters lose all autonomy when they are closed. The role of authorizers in upholding autonomy was interpreted differently by authorizers, and schools were provided varying degrees of autonomy when in improvement status. In all but one case, curricular, budgetary, and staffing decisions seemed to be upheld. However, authorizers limited schools' decision-making ability in other ways, such as the grade levels served, the members on the board, or even the leader or operator itself.

Summary

The themes of this study were organized by research question. The first research question explored the contextual conditions and the public's perception of closure and improvement in each of the authorizer's contexts, including how the purpose of school was factored into decisions about allowing a school to improve. The political theory, Overton's Window, was used to explore whether improvement was deemed "acceptable". One theme that emanated from the data was the notion that authorizers found improvement to be viewed as a better option for students by both the authorizer and the public. Lastly, formal and informal mechanisms for holding authorizers accountable were also explored as well as how authorizers provided support to schools working to improve.

The second research question explored policy, practice, and accountability levers authorizers employ to hold schools accountable. The mechanisms authorizers used to

hold schools accountable and what they were accountable for was reviewed based on the *four domains* improvement framework in the literature that identifies four domains needed to ensure sustainable charter school turnaround: leadership and governance, talent management, instruction, and culture, as well as financial and operational soundness (Evan & Canavero, 2020). Four themes related to the mechanisms authorizers used to hold schools accountable arose in the data acknowledging that all schools are held to the same accountability framework. This framework focused on outcomes of their educational program, site visits to monitor for improvement and identify support needed, contract year terms used to increase the level and cadence of oversight, and a reduction of school autonomy only when schools fail to improve.

CHAPTER 5

SUMMARY, DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS, IMPLICATIONS

In this chapter, I synthesize and provide evidence as to whether this research study supported each of the research questions. I also provide some reflections on policy implications and recommendations for future research. Last are some concluding remarks on this study's place in the much larger canon of research.

The purpose of this multi-case study was to understand the experiences of authorizers from a variety of contexts who have offered low-performing schools an improvement option by investigating both the contextual conditions in which turnaround was offered and their models of accountability for holding charter schools accountable to these turnaround efforts. Given the slowing growth of charter schools and recent legislation limiting new charter schools in particular contexts, I hoped to gain insights for current authorizers who are looking to implement or improve this option for their own schools, and to provide implications for practice and future research.

Research Questions

There were two questions that guided this research study. The first was to explore the optimal contextual factors in place for the authorizer to facilitate school turnaround, including (a) public perception of turnaround and whether improvement fit into Overton's Window of "acceptable"; (b) policies and legislation that allowed low performing schools to engage in turnaround instead of being automatically closed; and (c) how the authorizer was held accountable to improving charter schools and whether this authorizer accountability supported authorizers in offering schools the chance to improve. The second question was designed to document the models of accountability authorizers used for schools conducting turnaround, including (a) what decisions the authorizer allowed the schools to make pertaining to improvement; (b) when and how turnaround progress was monitored; and (c) what components the schools were monitored for progress to improve.

The authorizers chosen for this study all offered the option of turnaround, or as quickly discovered via the interviews, was referred to as significant improvement. Authorizers all had portfolios of at least 25 schools, and at most over 100. Authorizer types included independent chartering boards, institutions of higher education, and other. Although a district authorizer was recruited, they declined participation due to limited capacity.

Summary and Discussion of Findings

Based on the results of this research study, I discuss whether the findings supported each of the research questions. Summaries of findings are organized by topic of the question, with research question one pertaining to the contextual factors of improvement and research question two the accountability mechanisms of improvement.

Contextual Factors of Improvement

The first research question determined the contextual conditions in which they offered schools a turnaround option. All authorizers described positive repercussions to offering turnaround that they indicated outweighed some of the negative implications. The most often stated outcomes were the success stories in their midst. All authorizers recalled schools that really struggled to educate their students effectively and were able to turn themselves around and sustain improvement. Authorizers looked to these success stories oftentimes as positive proof that, with the right supports, schools could be the beacon of change in an area.

Other successes included more positive and stronger relationships with the schools, boards, and families, and a more universal understanding and appreciation by stakeholders about the outcomes authorizers were expecting and holding them accountable. Authorizers found that providing the option for a significant improvement effort helped them create positive relationships with the community and with parents. Communities portrayed authorizers as working with them to ensure a high-quality education for their children. At the same time, stories of attempted but unsuccessful turnaround were neither downplayed nor forgotten. In fact, authorizers more often had stories of unsuccessful turnarounds than those that did work. What was different about these two situations was the place of blame. Schools, and often school leaders, were blamed for unsuccessful turnaround efforts; authorizers were blamed for automatic closure.

In these contexts, and in answer to the research question about public perception of turnaround and whether improvement fit into Overton's Window of "acceptable", it was. Closure, on the other hand, was often seen as disruptive by communities, demeaning to families, and disheartening to the long-term impacts on students. To make closure more palatable and understood by the community, authorizers employed several tactics of what Overton's Window would argue were inclined to make closure more acceptable by the community.

The first tactic was to offer the schools a chance at turnaround. If schools attempted improvement and were unsuccessful or were too low or seen as too far gone to

be improved, authorizers described in detailed rationale their justification for closure. This particular tactic sometimes worked to share with the public why the school was being closed, especially if the school was not sharing these outcomes with families. Another authorizer added language to a school's charter when offered the opportunity of improvement. If a school agreed to the new charter, the conditions stated if the school was unable to improve for whatever reason, the school would relinquish their charter voluntarily. Therefore, closure was not "on the hands" of the authorizer.

Exploring the legislation allowing authorizers to provide an improvement option that I found lacked written policies and legislation. Instead current legislation and policy of the authorizers interviewed detailed when a school had to close, but not specifics pertaining to improvement. This lack of information may be due to the authorizers purposefully sampled, in that their states did not specify automatic closure stipulations.

The last sub-question under research question one pertained to how the authorizer was held accountable to improving charter schools and whether this authorizer accountability supported authorizers in offering schools the chance to improve. Within the political context where closure was often "unacceptable," the informal accountability mechanisms of elected boards of trustees, legislatures that provided funding, or officials that held authorizers accountable were also more inclined to accept turnaround as a workaround to a contentious closure. Lacking in this setup of holding authorizers accountable was a mechanism to determine whether the authorizer's particular recipe for accountability and support made a positive impact to the charter sector. Once the authorizer offered a low performing school the opportunity for turnaround, the public perception of responsibility for conducting a successful effort typically shifted to the school and away from the authorizer.

To summarize, the contextual conditions examined under research question one that authorizers found optimal for offering turnaround were when authorizers had the capacity and expertise to understand what was needed for improvement, and what was to be expected during turnaround. Also, when authorizers had legislative "stop gaps" to close a school when needed was also found to be optimal. When authorizers were intentional about keeping parents and the public informed of the decisions being made about schools and why, they were less likely to fight and protest closures. In addition, when an authorizer offered turnaround (even for a shortened period of time) and was not successful, the blame was no longer on the authorizer for closing a beloved school.

Accountability Mechanisms for Improvement

The second research question was designed to document the models of accountability authorizers used for schools conducting turnaround, including (a) what autonomy the authorizer allowed the schools when in improvement; (b) when and how turnaround progress was monitored; and (c) what components the schools were monitored for progress to improve.

In reference to the autonomy provided to schools in improvement status, this study found some states' legislation articulated the regulations from which charters are exempt and therefore authorizers cannot impede. In these states, authorizers were very careful to uphold autonomy. How "upholding" autonomy was interpreted varied. Given their portfolio consisted mostly of independent charter schools, one authorizer sought out to address any and all barriers (transportation, substitute teachers, schedule) to schools participating in direct (but still voluntary) support. At the other end of the spectrum, authorizers with strict autonomy laws seemed to "hide" behind autonomy and not provide any support to schools undergoing improvement for fear of being seen as trampling autonomy. Other states' legislations do not specifically identify or exempt charters from specific regulations and therefore can and often do take a more hands-on approach to charter improvement.

Like an assessment system for students, authorizers employ multiple accountability mechanisms for different purposes in regard to when and how turnaround progress is monitored. The performance framework is equivalent to a summative assessment and measures how well a school is advancing or retreating toward renewal criteria. Like formative assessment results, site visits served to measure the progress schools are making toward these renewal criteria. In this way, site visits can potentially be an immensely helpful tool to schools leading an improvement initiative for a few reasons. While authorizers

collect a lot of information regarding performance and compliance through electronic and paper submissions, relying solely on written documentation would not provide them with a comprehensive view of their schools. The majority of these offices also use focused site visits to gather information that is only apparent on-site at the school. The offices differed in the number and timing of visits, but most agreed that the visits were an effective monitoring tool. (U.S. Department of Education, 2007b, p. 35)

Site visits, when done well, can be informative to improvement. In terms of which components the schools were monitored for progress to improve, for example, school site visits go deep into the core components of a school's functions of leadership, governance, talent, instruction, and culture, and can identify whether schools are on the path to success or need improvement. Oftentimes, the site visit team will write a comprehensive report that identifies the factors that most significantly support effective learning and those factors that limit effective learning. Recommendations will be made for how to improve the quality of support provided. One authorizer stated:

The site visit report will identify examples of the school demonstrating/not demonstrating the criteria and which justifies the ratings. For criteria in need of improvement, the [authorizer] will offer solutions grounded in best practice and/or aligned with the school's mission, vision, and academic program as outlined in its charter. (Authorizer, 2020, p. 10)

Equally important, site visits for the purpose of support, such as a "new school support visit" were often employed for turnaround schools and described as able to "get school year started on the right foot and help them make sure they have everything in place," can help schools troubleshoot and not get stuck.

But in the [name of elementary school], I think it was pretty consistently two stars and has been on our radar as a concern I would say for a year and a half now. We did an extra site evaluation on them because we wanted to make sure that we did some follow-up. We were really intentional about thinking about some of the academic pieces. And one of the things we found on our site evaluation was some real potential misalignment between content that was being taught and what the standards are. There was a lot of thought that went into that site evaluation around what are we looking for that helped us to uncover some of that. Our team met probably monthly with them to talk about progress in response to our site evaluation. And I think for the first time we are seeing a shift and we know that there's a shift because we went out and did another site evaluation and we heard teachers and kids talking about a change. So I think that that's a piece of it, too. Connecting the dots there. In sum, the accountability context that was optimal occurred when authorizers held schools to the same high standards as other schools but recognized the sometimes herculean effort needed to meet those criteria. When authorizers were versed enough to understand leading indicators of school quality through site visits prior to seeing impacts due to lagging student outcomes, authorizers could intervene and help schools adjust as needed. When a school had the time and autonomy to make decisions based on the needs of their school is when turnaround options seemed to flourish. Offering schools a significant improvement option provided authorizers with a more in-depth examination at what it took to turn around a school, including the comprehensiveness of improvement needed, the overlap of core school functions with the time necessary for schools to put the systems, functions, and staff in place to see real impacts.

Conclusions

While the role of authorizers has continually evolved as the charter sector has matured, authorizers are finding themselves caught in the middle of policy recommendations to close low performing schools and the public outcry around schools they deemed to be of lower quality than their alternatives being closed. This middle ground creates an auspicious opportunity to attempt turnaround with those charter schools that have thus far failed to meet their potential.

We know from research that significant improvement efforts at any school are time consuming, expensive, and require a systemic approach from the entire ecosystem to ensure sustainable success. Once seen as a potential inspiration of reform, charter schools have shown us their potential and their limitations. Some of the best–and worst–schools in the U.S. are charter schools. Some charters need help if they are going to thrive in providing our students with a high-quality education. Improvement efforts are not new, and we need to apply the lessons learned thus far to these efforts.

The public attitude and growing willingness of authorizers, legislators, and policy makers to dial back the rhetoric of a dichotomous-only path forward to improving public education consisting of starting new schools and closing underperforming schools allows for further innovation of this research base. The findings of this study tell us that part of what the sector is doing is working: having an external entity hold schools accountable is working; examining improvement progress from a comprehensive lens focused on the core functions of school (i.e., leadership, governance, talent, culture, instruction) is working; and recognizing that improvement takes time is working. However, not all authorizers have amassed the professional judgment, either in staff or experience, to be able to support schools in improvement. I next discuss what this means for the field as we move forward.

Implications for Policy, Practice and Leadership

While the charter movement began in 1991, between 2004 and 2017 the number of students enrolled in charters grew from just under 1 million to 3.2 million in 44 states and territories (McFarland et al., 2017; National Alliance for Public Charter Schools, n.d.-b). Examining charter schools' legacy, researchers recently examined the number of charter school closures between 1999 and 2017. What they found was staggering. Over 867,000 students had to move to another school because their charter school closed. Researchers analyzed groups of schools that opened in the same year and looked at their failure rates at three, five, 10 and 15 years. Close to 1 in 5 charter schools closed by the three-year mark. A large proportion of schools failed by the end of the first year. By the five-year threshold, 1 in 4 schools had closed. By charter schools' 10th year anniversary, 40 percent had closed. Of those schools that made it to their 15-year mark, only one in two of those schools remained. Failure rates by the 15th year mark ranged from 47 to 54 percent (Burris & Pfleger, 2020). These findings signal a deeper issue with the charter sector than previously examined, which is their lack of sustainability.

With the annual growth rate of new charter schools steadily climbing until 2014, authorizers increased their support to new schools. As sector growth has slowed since 2014, and as the field has recognized that even charter schools who have demonstrated success for years can be subject to failure, authorizers are beginning to recognize the need to provide resources and support to more mature schools in sustaining success

. This new era of the charter sector, and what this study has borne out are implications for policy, practice and leadership as indicated in Table 7 and further explored below.

Table 7

Implications for Policy, Practice and Leadership

Implications for Policy Makers	Implications for Practitioners	Implications for Leadership
Holding authorizers	Updating authorizing	Intentional sector
accountable for improvement	principles and standards	involvement in improvement
Introducing legislative	Improving authorizer	
guardrails to support	accountability	Build authorizer capacity
improvement options	mechanisms	regarding improvement
Explicitly examining equity in accountability		

Note. Implications derived from study themes.

Implications for Policy

There are several implications this study raises for policy. The first implication regards accountability of authorizer practice and policies. The second implication for policy requires tightening up legislative supports for authorizers offering turnaround. The third implication is a need to have frank discussions about the reality of addressing the needs of vulnerable and historically underserved populations and push for widespread reckoning of inequitable access and outcomes within our education system, including charters.

Holding Authorizers Accountable for Improvement

The first policy implication pertains to holding authorizers accountable for the quality of their sector. While authorizer accountability has often focused on authorizer type and philosophy, perhaps a deeper dive into authorizer staffing and capacity is warranted (Chen, 2016). The three types of authorizers represented in my sample represented the authorizers with the largest portfolios (and presumably, the largest capacity): independent chartering boards, institutes of higher education and other. All three types provided and did not provide direct supports to schools, suggesting that the overall capacity of an authorizer might be more important than the authorizer's type. NACSA found that authorizers average one-third of a fulltime equivalent staff member for each charter school in their portfolio (NACSA, 2013). Some of the authorizers in this study were at and above that threshold. Authorizers that were at or above that threshold hired and organized their staff to provide direct supports to charter schools. Authorizers that fell below that threshold did not provide direct support. The authorizers with the lowest capacity ratio were much less likely to provide differentiated explicit support to schools than were those with higher ratios. With so many schools per each staff member

at low-capacity authorizers, the data they collected and provided back to schools were also generally related to each school's overall performance, rather than focused on specific findings that a school would find actionable.

None of the authorizers in this study participated in an external evaluation, either formally or informally. Some executive directors, while not having complete authority over granting new schools, did have ultimate decision-making authority over charter renewals, expansions, and replications. Authorizers mentioned being held accountable to the success of the sector indirectly by "many layers": the public, their boards, the legislatures in their state. Determining the needs of individual sectors, and whether or not the authorizer's priorities, resources, and capacity meet those needs is warranted.

One authorizer commented that part of the reason they offer improvement was because opening new charter schools was becoming more politically unacceptable, and therefore improving the current schools was their tactic to keeping the charter sector alive and functioning. As we move to a potentially more hostile environment for charters, without authorizer evaluations the potential for authorizers to sacrifice quality over philosophy becomes potentially more likely.

Introducing Legislative Guardrails to Support Improvement Options

The second policy implication suggests providing legislative guidance authorizers can lean on when offering schools an improvement option. While authorizers who were unable to offer a turnaround option because of legislative prohibitions were not included in this study, authorizers appreciated when they had legislative guardrails to an improvement option. These supports may seem counter-intuitive, such as timeframes for improvement and stop gaps that mandated closure after a certain number of consecutive years at the lowest performing category. However, authorizers explained that flexibility was a two-edged sword when it comes to accountability. When done well, flexibility gives schools the space and time needed to improve; when done poorly, or without "teeth," flexibility allows schools to avoid making the improvements needed to better serve their students. Some authorizers offered lessons learned on how to structure flexibility well that included clear, rigorous, direct but realistic goals, clear and realistic timelines, clear consequences for not meeting them, and willingness to follow through on the consequences when not met. Authorizers shared lessons learned in using flexibility that merely allowed schools to "kick the can further down the road" and offered no clear milestones, just continuing recommendations that "dance" around the issues and a lack of prioritization of the issues (i.e., laundry list) with no real consequences when milestones are not met or improvement is not occurring.

When authorizers could lean on legislation that mandated regulations, the conversation between authorizer and board and leader shifted to ensuring the schools would meet the requirements rather than a plea for another chance at meeting them. Each context will need to determine, perhaps through evaluation and best practice, what those specific guardrails would entail.

Explicitly Examining Equity in Accountability

Finally, the third policy implication is about more explicitly examining equity within accountability frameworks. Charter schools and closure intersect deeply with racial inequality in schools. While the purpose of charter schools varies greatly across the United States, presidents, state legislators, and local education authorities envisioned charter schools as, in some cases, an alternative to the inadequate education happening within many communities of color. The failure and closure of charter schools, disproportionately in these same communities, has illuminated the need for high expectations but needs further innovation for obtaining them. Racial balance and equity have recently become a conversation not just in our school system, but in society as a whole. Several authorizers in this study spoke about their recent work in wrestling to ensure accountability frameworks were equitable.

Part of the reason I'm so bent on equity is we don't have enough of it. I don't think we ask the right questions to know if a school is a place where families feel safe and loved. That needs to be factored in. And if we're not factoring that in, we're not seeing the whole nature of what the school is. And so I think that's another impetus for this change that we're trying to offer in how we hold schools accountable.

The Overton's Window suggests that if public opinion continues to push a strong desire for racial equity, authorizers may soon have to illustrate the will and commitment to address equity in their sector and put in place the efforts and evidence to address.

With that said, we also cannot assume charters will save education. By doing so, we neglect the real work it takes to meet the needs of our most vulnerable populations (who given the pandemic may be growing). Charter laws were enacted to encourage innovation in education, address the needs of all students—including at risk students, improve student achievement, provide choices in education, encourage parental and community involvement, develop and use site-based budgeting, and hold charter schools accountable for meeting the state standards and fiscal requirements. Although these purposes may at times seem competing, charter schools are to be incubators of innovation designed to provide alternative education opportunities and improve student performance. But they also need help and help before they fail.

Implications for Practice

There were two implications for practice that arose from the findings of this study. The first implication includes updating authorizer principles and standards to include best practices around improvement scenarios. The second implication for practice concerns aligning these new principles and standards to improve authorizer accountability mechanisms to include lessons learned from the research base on improvement.

Updating Authorizing Principles and Standards

The first implication for practice is around updating authorizing principles and standards. Most authorizers look to the National Association for Charter School Authorizers (2018b) to guide their authorizing practices. Statewide authorizing practices are often based on these principles and standards and if authorizers participate in a formal evaluation of their own work, authorizers are evaluated according to their upholding or delineation from them. One area of improvement this study implies is the dire need to update these principles and standards to meet the current reality of authorizing.

While only 20% of charter schools close in the first year, more than 50% do by year 15. The role of an authorizer is evolving. Schools need support in attaining *and sustaining* high quality educational options for students. The literature base for charter school improvement is relatively thin; however, the literature on traditional public school improvement is invariably rich and full of lessons learned that can be applied to charter schools, starting with the *Four Domains for Significant and Sustainable Charter School Improvement* (Evan & Canavero, 2020). Authorizers need to mine the improvement literature and align their practices not with just openings and closings, but with all the

steps and life cycle of charters in between. Weaving these lessons into the practice of authorizers will ensure our turnaround track record also improves.

Improving Authorizer Accountability Mechanisms

The second implication for practice includes improving authorizer accountability mechanisms. The authorizers in this study all collected similar information and held schools accountable to similar indicators on their performance or renewal frameworks. Site visits, however, varied considerably. Site visits have the potential to be either incredibly useful for improvement purposes or a missed opportunity for a school to be reflective. If the visit protocol is either not aligned to renewal criteria, does not take into account a comprehensive examination of the school, or is carried out by individuals without the expertise needed to examine, interpret, and describe the data in actionable ways for leadership and boards, it may be a missed opportunity. Creating model documents, much like the performance standards, would benefit authorizers greatly. Model documents such as site visit criteria, document review instructions, protocols, rubrics (if desired), and practices would help ensure the valuable opportunity of being onsite would ensure an external review of progress is not squandered.

In addition, given the drastic fall-off of charter schools after the 15-year threshold, long range planning and reflection are warranted as we look to develop more intentional and compassionate accountability. This practice will entice school leaders, authorizers, and state education agencies to engage in the exercise of seeing past just the year in front of them to lay out and reflect on what it will take to achieve and sustain success for all students through:

- Overview of future goals/plans/strategies for achievement
- Review of academics and updated academic benchmarks

- Review of organizational changes
- Review of projected financial security
- Review of operational management
- Review of enrollment projections

Implications for Leadership

Finally, there were two implications for leadership that arose from the findings of this study. The first is an acknowledgement that school improvement is not just a school issue, but rather there is a need for stakeholders across the sector to be involved to build capacity at the schools. Secondly, there is a growing need for authorizers to bring improvement expertise to their role, as an increase of schools are participating in these efforts. Without this expertise, authorizers may repeat similar mistakes found in the literature that districts make around school autonomy and inadvertently impede improvement progress.

Intentional Sector Involvement in Improvement

The first leadership implication is ensuring sector involvement in improvement initiatives. We know from the literature that school turnaround is not just a school's issue alone, and successful improvement efforts require alignment and accountability across the ecosystem of stakeholders (Center on School Turnaround, 2017). Schools experience failure due to internal and external factors. If authorizers are not involved or are not knowledgeable of improvement to be involved, schools are less likely to be able to sustain a successful turnaround, as external factors may not be addressed. In addition, some authorizers have realized that schools do not fail on purpose. School leaders would improve their systems, processes, and functions but may need help to do so. Some authorizers have also realized that school improvement is a very needs-driven process. Crowd-sourced capacity building opportunities are often not as impactful to schools in improvement status, but rather these schools require individualized support to meet their needs.

One example of how supports have improved the charter sector pertains to finance management and operations functions. Authorizers spoke of schools that closed due to financial reasons. Initially, financial closures were approached as a lost cause:

Most of the closures were financial. So, it's harder to have a turnaround in that realm because the bottom has already fallen out. It's a dire situation.

Some authorizers hired staff with this specific capacity and expertise to provide guidance and supports for financial reasons, "So we do have similar intervention systems for financial issues as well as operational or organizational issues because the last schools that have closed or been closed by [us] were closed because of financial challenges, not academic challenges." Other authorizers sought out organizations to provide this guidance to schools. Either way, the support helped stave off closures due to schools lacking capacity to manage their finances.

Authorizers approach board and leadership capacity building similarly and from one of two ways: finding the "right" people or training them. Few authorizers provide individualized support to schools and school leaders and their boards to ensure they can drive a long-term improvement effort. Charter schools, unlike traditional public schools that are part of a district or local school system, lack a designated "support" system. Some authorizers served as the connection between support provided by agencies, vendors and/or the state education agency. Several authorizers expressed difficulty with finding operators to take on the task of turnaround and found when board members and leaders did not have the requisite skills or experience to lead a turnaround, they typically failed to do so successfully. Our leadership training and leadership pipelines must turn out more leaders with the knowledge, training, and experience to lead a school in improvement. Like financial management, leading a school through an improvement effort is a learned skill set, but one that is currently lacking in typical leadership development programs.

Build Authorizer Capacity Regarding Improvement

The second implication for leadership involves building authorizer capacity concerning improvement skills and capacity. Much of the turnaround literature is based on research conducted in traditional public schools, where turnaround often fails to improve the school (Baroody, 2011; Bonilla & Dee, 2020; Center on School Turnaround, 2017; Dee & Dizon-Ross, 2019; Dougherty & Weiner, 2019). The limited successful attempts of turnaround revealed what conditions schools need in order for turnaround to be successful. School leaders need a greater level of autonomy to confront the needs specific to their school (Dragoset et al., 2017; U.S. Department of Education, 2014). Schools afforded autonomy to make decisions pertaining to staffing budgets, how time is allocated and used, as well as being held accountable to improvement goals by an external entity, led successful turnaround efforts (Lutterloh et al., 2016). Charters already exist with these autonomies by definition (Corbett, 2015; Evan & Canavero, 2020).

Corbett (2015) described the type of autonomy charters are offered, in lieu of the results of successful turnarounds. The first type of autonomy concerns staff autonomy. Autonomy of staffing entails having the decision-making ability to hire, fire, and whether to offer incentives. Autonomy in staffing found to be most useful also included how and where to assign staff, as well as how to develop the staff professionally. A second type of

autonomy is that charters also have the freedom to determine how to use time, both in how long school lasts for the year and day and what students and staff are doing during that time. A third type is to give charters the decision-making authority regarding programming, such as the ability to choose how the school will teach state standards and how these decisions will be financed. Depending on state law and local autonomy, charters can determine what their priorities are as a school and allocate funding accordingly (Corbett, 2015).

Authorizers that dial back this autonomy when schools fail to improve may be repeating the cardinal sin of districts impeding turnaround efforts. Because a leader has the autonomy does not equate with capacity to use the autonomy. Leaders with capacity need to lead the school or the capacity needs to be built. School improvement is highly contextualized work. Authorizers who build relationships with school boards and leaders, who understand the phases of school decline, who provide or look for extra assistance to schools at risk of or currently failing will help their schools improve the educational options for students. Authorizers need the capacity to understand what is needed in turnaround in order to set up the conditions that allow a school in improvement to flourish. Once the authorizers begin "voluntelling" schools how to improve, our historical trajectory of mostly failed attempts at improvement will continue. Improvement efforts will be short lived, superficial and increase inequities in our system as schools will shy away from serving our most vulnerable populations.

Opportunities for Future Research

Although the themes emanating from the interviews in this study were based on the authorizers' perceptions and judgments, they offered only a snippet in time and were not verified based on evidence of implementation over an extended period of time. While interview findings were triangulated across multiple staff members within an authorizer's office as well as with authorizer documentation, measures such as additional observations, interviews of constituents in the schools that turned around, or the collection of artifacts to substantiate the consistency or quality of implementation related to what the authorizers shared would be an excellent follow up to the study conducted. Further examination of these themes quantitatively as factors with the ability to predict successful improvement efforts would benefit the sector by verifying these themes and potentially further refining them.

District authorizers did not participate in this current study, although they were recruited. The authorizers participating in this study tended to have a more robust staff who were independently focused on their charter school portfolio. Since district authorizers make up the majority of authorizers, it would be beneficial to explore the research questions from this study and understand the perceptions, supports and challenges of district authorizers in offering schools an improvement option. While research found district authorizers to be more knowledgeable of the content of school improvement, district authorizers tend to have to balance multiple priorities and may not have the capacity to put their expertise to use. However, there may be ways to capture their expertise for other authorizers.

Another area of study that was not explored in this one was to interview and explore these issues with authorizers that did not offer a turnaround option. Working with authorizers who (1) are legislatively prohibited to provide the option of improvement or (2) are able, but choose not to, would provide insight into understanding and providing a more complete view of the contextual conditions pertaining to school improvement. Exploring accountability perspectives with authorizers who do not offer turnaround would also be warranted.

In particular, a deeper understanding of the specific components of turnaround that supported or impeded successful improvement would be beneficial to the field– which specific autonomies, which specific policies, timeframes, procedures, on the part of the authorizer, board, and school were beneficial or detrimental to improvement efforts. As part of this exploration, understanding how to engage parents in the conversation about school quality and improvement also has the potential to change the conversation about the quality of schooling.

Closing Remarks

Schools have one of the most important jobs imaginable: educating the next generation of citizens. As authorizers, how well they are educating our students is the basis of how they are held accountable. And yet, they are also historical markers; community gathering places; childcare providers; meal providers; wellness providers for eye, hearing, and dental checks; social and emotional supports; and much more. Schools are often places where our most vulnerable students are fed, sheltered, and feel safe. How do we encourage and acknowledge the heavy lift some of our schools are taking on in the name of "educating" students, while at the same time holding them accountable to the same high milestones? How do we take some of the burden off of them so they can focus on education, instead of making sure students are able to be educated?

As the charter sector has expanded and matured, authorizers have almost universally expanded the supports and intensity of documentation, training, and review during the initial stages of starting a charter school, including the phases around designing and planning and preparing to open successfully (NACSA, 2018b). This

expansion of supports reflects the increased interest in ensuring new charter schools have a strong foundation on which to build before student enrollment even begins. With the annual growth rate of new charter schools steadily climbing until 2014, authorizers increased their support to new schools. As sector growth has slowed since 2014, and as the field has recognized that even charter schools who have demonstrated success for years can be subject to failure, authorizers are recognizing the need to provide resources and support to more mature schools in sustaining success.

Unfortunately, the way states' charter laws are structured is to wait until a charter school fails or they have not met the requirements of local and state laws before they even get a second look. Many authorizers consider the performance milestones laid out in the performance framework to be the minimum of what schools should be reaching. In addition, authorizer accountability frameworks measured lagging indicators of distress and success, such as measures of student achievement. If the school is meeting criteria and thresholds laid out in the performance contract—regardless of lift it takes to get there—there is not much an authorizer will do to enact changes. If the school is not meeting performance contract, it is only after a school does not meet the performance contract terms that any kind of change can be required, or any help offered if at all.

This dissertation was written amidst the most unexpected and unprecedented challenges to schools, parents, families, and those who support them our generation has ever seen. While the challenge of delivering educational services was felt by the nation during 2020 and into 2021, determining the fallout and repercussions of this school year's disparate educational services is still yet to come. We need to reevaluate, now, what was working from our "old" way of holding schools accountable and what new and innovative ways need to be introduced. These lessons learned need to be a part of the

knowledge development and dissemination for national and local policy leaders and practitioners at state, district, and higher education entities. Authorizers who are not mired in getting back to "where we used to be," but building back stronger, and more equitably than we used to do, will show us the promising practices of tomorrow. We are in the midst of an historic moment to reinvent schooling so that all children have the educational opportunities to meet the demands of the future.

REFERENCES

- Abdulkadiroğlu, A., Angrist, J., Cohodes, S., Dynarski, S., Fullerton, J., & Kane, T. (2009). *Informing the debate: Comparing Boston's charter, pilot and traditional schools.* The Boston Foundation. http://hdl.handle.net/10244/726
- Abdulkadiroğlu, A., Angrist, J. D., Dynarski, S. M., Kane, T. J., & Pathak, P. A. (2011).
 Accountability and flexibility in public schools: Evidence from Boston's charters and pilots. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *126*(2), 699–748.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/qjr017
- Alexander, L. (n.d.) *Lamar Alexander biography*. Lamar Alexander: United States Senator for Tennessee. https://www.alexander.senate.gov/public/index.cfm/lamaralexander-bio
- Almanzan, H. M. (2005). Schools moving up. Educational Leadership, 62.

http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-

leadership/summer05/vol62/num09/Schools-Moving-Up.aspx

Anderson, S., Leithwood, K., & Strauss, T. (2010). Leading data use in schools: Organizational conditions and practices at the school and district levels. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 9(3), 293–327. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15700761003731492</u>

Barnum, M. (2018). Does the portfolio model improve schools? *Education Digest*, 83(8), 60–64. <u>https://search.proquest.com/openview/0e58005f90d17bab987b09aa47fb051e/1.pdf?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=25066</u>

- Baroody, K. (2011). *Turning around the nation's lowest performing schools: Five steps districts can take to improve their chances of success*. Center for American Progress. https://cdn.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/issues/2011/02/pdf/five_steps.pdf
- Baude, P. L., Casey, M., Hanushek, E. A., Phelan, G. R., & Rivkin, S. G. (2019, January 8). The evolution of charter school quality. *Economica*, 87(345), 158–189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ecca.12299</u>
- Betts, J. R., & Tang, Y. E. (2018). A meta-analysis of the literature on the effect of charter schools on student achievement (Discussion Paper No. 2018-1). San Diego Education Research Alliance at UC San Diego. https://sandera.ucsd.edu/publications/DISC%20PAPER%20Betts%20Tang%20Charter%

20Lit%20Review%202018%2001.pdf

- Bifulco, R., & Ladd, H. F. (2006). The impact of charter schools on student achievement: Evidence from North Carolina. *Journal of Education Finance and Policy*, 1(1), 50–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/edfp.2006.1.1.50</u>
- Black, P., & William, D. (1998). Assessment and classroom learning. *Assessment in education*, 5(1), 7–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0969595980050102</u>
- Bonilla, S., & Dee, T. (2020). The effects of school reform under NCLB waivers: Evidence from focus schools in Kentucky. *Education Finance and Policy*, 15(1), 75-103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/edfp_a_00275</u>

Booker, T. K., Gilpatric, S. M., Gronberg, T. J., & Jansen, D. W. (2008). The effect of charter schools on traditional public school students in Texas: Are children who stay behind left behind? *Journal of Urban Economics*, 64(1), 123–145.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jue.2007.10.003

Brackett, A., Mundry, S., Guckenberg, S., & Bourexis, P. (2007). An analysis of state data on the distribution of teaching assignments filled by highly qualified teachers in New York schools (Issues & Answers Report No. 047). Regional Education Laboratory Program. <u>http://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs</u>

Brouillette, L. (2002). Charter schools: Lessons in school reform. L. Erlbaum Associates.

- Bryk, A. S., Sebring, P. B., Allensworth, E., Luppescu, S., & Easton, J. Q. (2010). Organizing schools for improvement: Lessons from Chicago. *Contemporary Sociology: A Journal of Reviews*, 40(1), 16-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0094306110391764b</u>
- Burris, C., & Pfleger, R. (2020) *Broken promises: An analysis of charter school closures from* 1999-2017. Network for Public Education.

https://networkforpubliceducation.org/brokenpromises/

Campbell, N. (2019). *Modernizing the federal charter schools program*. Center for American Progress. <u>https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education-k-</u>

12/news/2019/10/28/475994/modernizing-federal-charter-schools-program/

Campbell, C., Heyward, G., & Gross, B. (2017). Stepping up: How are American cities delivering on the promise of public school choice? Center on Reinventing Public Education. <u>https://www.crpe.org/sites/default/files/crpe-stepping-up-american-citiespublic-school-choice.pdf</u>

- Carlson, D., & Lavertu, S. (2015). School closures and student achievement: An analysis of Ohio's urban district and charter schools. Thomas B. Fordham Institute. <u>https://fordhaminstitute.org/ohio/research/school-closures-and-student-achievement-</u> analysis-ohios-urban-district-and-charter
- Center on School Turnaround. (2017). Four domains for rapid school improvement: A systems framework. WestEd. <u>https://csti.wested.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/CST_Four-</u> Domains-Framework-Final.pdf
- Chait, R., Evan, A., & Canavero, S. (2019). Considering turnaround for low-performing charter schools. WestEd Policy Brief. <u>https://www.wested.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/2019/08/resource-considering-turnaround-for-low-performing-charter-<u>schools.pdf</u>
- Chen, J. (2016). *Charter schools and accountability: A study of market and compliance accountability by charter authorizers* [Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Northeastern University]. <u>https://repository.library.northeastern.edu/files/neu:cj82nf66n/fulltext.pdf</u>
- Chingos, M. M., & West, M. R. (2015). The uneven performance of Arizona's charter schools. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 37(1), 120–134. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373715576077
- Clark, M. A., Gleason, P. M., Tuttle, M. A., & Silverberg, M. K. (2015). Do charter schools improve student achievement? *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *37*(4), 419–436. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373714558292</u>

- Clifford, M., Behrstock-Sherratt, E., & Fetters, J. (2012). *The ripple effect: A synthesis of research on principal influence to inform performance evaluation design*. American Institutes for Research. <u>http://www.nysed.gov/common/nysed/files/principal-project-the-</u> *ripple-effect.pdf*
- Cohen, R. (2017, April 27). The untold history of charter schools. *Democracy*. <u>https://democracyjournal.org/arguments/the-untold-history-of-charter-schools/</u>
- Cohen, S. A. (1987). Instructional alignment: Searching for a magic bullet. *Educational Researcher*, *16*(8), 16–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X016008016</u>
- Consoletti, A., (2011). *The state of charter schools: What we know—and what we do not—about performance and accountability*. Center for Education Reform. <u>http://edreform.com</u>
- Corbett, J. (2015). *Chartering turnaround: Leveraging public charter school autonomy to address failure* (ED559988). ERIC. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED559988.pdf</u>
- CREDO. (2009). *National charter school study*. Center for Research on Education Outcomes. https://credo.stanford.edu/sites/g/files/sbiybj6481/f/multiple_choice_credo.pdf
- CREDO. (2013). *National charter school study*. Center for Research on Education Outcomes. <u>https://credo.stanford.edu/sites/g/files/sbiybj6481/f/ncss_2013_final_draft.pdf</u>
- CREDO. (2015). *Online charter school study*. Center for Research on Education Outcomes. https://credo.stanford.edu/sites/g/files/sbiybj6481/f/online_charter_study_final.pdf
- CREDO. (2017). *Lights off: Practice and impact of closing low-performing schools* (Vol. I). Center for Research on Education Outcomes.

https://credo.stanford.edu/sites/g/files/sbiybj6481/f/closure_final_volume_i.pdf

- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (3rd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W. & Poth, C. N. (2018) *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches* (4th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Darling-Hammond, L., Wei, R. C., Andree, A., Richardson, N., & Orphanos, S. (2009).
 Professional learning in the learning profession: A status report on teacher development in the United States and abroad. National Staff Development Council.
- David, R., & Hesla, K. (2018). 2017–2018 estimated public charter school enrollment. National Alliance for Public Charter Schools.

https://www.publiccharters.org/sites/default/files/documents/2018-

03/FINAL%20Estimated%20Public%20Charter%20School%20Enrollment,%202017-

<u>18.pdf</u>

- Davis, D., & Raymond, M. (2012). Choices for studying choice: Assessing charter school effectiveness using two quasi-experimental methods. *Economics of Education Review*, 31(2), 225–236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2011.08.012</u>
- Dee, T., & Dizon-Ross, E. (2019). School performance, accountability, and waiver reforms: Evidence from Louisiana. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 41(3), 316–349. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373719849944</u>

de la Torre, M., Gordon, M. F., Moore, P., Cowhy, J., Jagešić, S., & Huynh, M. H. (2015). School closings in Chicago: Understanding families' choices and constraints for new school enrollment. University of Chicago Consortium on Chicago School Research. <u>https://consortium.uchicago.edu/sites/default/files/2018-</u>

Dougherty, S. M., & Weiner, J. M. (2019). The Rhode to turnaround: The impact of waivers to No Child Left Behind on school performance. *Educational Policy*, 33(4), 555–586. https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904817719520

Doyle, D., & Field, T. (2013). *The role of charter restarts in school reform: Honoring our commitments to students and public accountability*. New Schools Venture Fund; Public Impact. <u>http://www.newschools.org/wp/wp-content</u>

/uploads/the_role_of_charter_restarts_in_school_reform.pdf

10/School%20Closings%20Report.pdf

Dragoset, L., Thomas, J., Herrmann, M., Deke, J., James-Burdumy, S., Graczewski, C. Boyle,
A., Upton, R., Tanenbaum, C., & Giffin, J. (2017). School improvement grants: *Implementation and effectiveness executive summary* (NCEE 2017-4012). National
Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Institute of Education
Sciences, U.S. Department of Education.

https://ies.ed.gov/ncee/pubs/20174013/pdf/20174013.pdf

Duncan, A. (2009, June 22). Turning around the bottom five percent [Conference session]. National Alliance for Public Charter Schools Conference. Washington, D.C. https://www2.ed.gov/news/speeches/2009/06/06222009.html Education Commission of the States. (2020). 50 state comparison: Charter school policies. ECS.

- Eisenhardt, K. M. (1989). Building theories from case study research. *Academy of Management Review*, *14*(4), 532–550. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1989.4308385
- English, F. W., & Steffy, B. E. (2001). Deep curriculum alignment: Creating a level playing field for all children on high-stakes tests of educational accountability. Rowman & Littlefield Education.
- Engec, N. (2006) Relationship between mobility and student performance and behavior. *Journal of Educational Research*, *99*(3), 167–178. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/27548126</u>
- Evan, A. (2019). From the brink of closure: Key factors in one charter school's successful turnaround (ED601877). ERIC. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED601877.pdf</u>
- Evan, A., & Canavero, S. (2020). Four domains for significant and sustainable charter school improvement: A systems framework for the charter context. WestEd. <u>https://www.wested.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Four-Domains-Significant-</u> <u>Sustainable-FINAL.pdf</u>
- Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA), 20 U.S.C. § 6301 (2015). https://www.congress.gov/bill/114th-congress/senate-bill/1177
- Finn, C., Manno, B., & Wright, B. (2016). *Charter schools at the crossroads: Predicaments, paradoxes, possibilities.* Harvard Education Press.
- FL 1002.33 Charter schools, Fla. Stat. Ann. § 1002.33 (2019).

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=1000-1099/1002/Sections/1002.33.html Forbriger, K. (2019, November 5). NACSA launches search for new leader following resignation of CEO. National Association of Charter School Authorizers (NACSA). <u>https://www.qualitycharters.org/2019/11/nacsa-ceo-resigns/</u>

Friedman, M. (1962). Capitalism and freedom. University of Chicago Press.

Fullan, M., Bertani, A., & Quinn, J. (2004). New lessons for district wide reform. *Educational Leadership*, 61(7), 42–46. <u>https://michaelfullan.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/13396058360.pdf</u>

- Furgeson, J., Brian, G., Haimson, J., Killewald, A., McCullough, M., Nichols-Barrer, I., Teh, B.-R., Verbitsky-Savitz, N., Bowen, M., Demeritt, A., Hill, P., & Lake, R. (2012). *Charterschool management organizations: Diverse strategies and diverse student impacts.* Mathematica Policy Research. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED526951.pdf</u>
- Garn, G. (1999). Solving the policy implementation problem: The case of Arizona charter schools. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 7(26), 1–17.

https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.v7n26.1999

Gleason, P., Clark, M., Tuttle, C. C., & Dwoyer, E. (2010). *The evaluation of charter school impacts: Final report*. (NCEE 2010-4029). National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED510573.pdf

Hallinger, P., & Heck, R. H. (2010). Collaborative leadership and school improvement:
Understanding the impact on school capacity and student learning. *School Leadership & Management*, 30(2), 95–110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13632431003663214</u>

Hamilton, L., Halverson, R., Jackson, S., Mandinach, E., Supovitz, J., & Wayman, J. (2009).
Using student achievement data to support instructional decision making (NCEE 2009-4067). National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED506645.pdf

- Hanushek, E. A., Kain, J. F., & Rivkin, S. G. (2004). Disruption vs. Tiebout improvement: The costs and benefits of switching schools. *Journal of Public Economics*, 88(9–10), 1721–1746. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0047-2727(03)00063-X</u>
- Hanushek, E. A., Kain, J. F., Rivkin, S. G., & Branch, G. F. (2007). Charter school quality and parental decision making with school choice. *Journal of Public Economics*, 91(5), 823– 848. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2006.09.014</u>

Herman, R., Dawson, P., Dee, T., Greene, J., Maynard, R., Redding, S., & Darwin, M. (2008). *Turning around chronically low-performing schools: A practice guide* (NCEE 2008-4020). National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Institute of Education Sciences. U.S. Department of Education. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED501241.pdf

Herman, R., Gates, S. M., Arifkhanova, A., Bega, A., Chavez-Herrerias, E., Han, E., & Wrabel, S. (2017). School leadership interventions under the Every Student Succeeds Act: Evidence review: Updated and expanded. RAND Corporation.
https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/research_reports/RR1500/RR1550-3/RAND_RR1550-3.pdf

- HI 302D-6 Principles and Standards for Charter Authorizing, Haw. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 302D-6 (2016). <u>https://www.lawserver.com/law/state/hawaii/hi-</u> <u>statutes/hawaii_statutes_chapter_302d</u>
- Hitt, D. H., & Meyers, C. V. (2017). Promising leadership practices for rapid school improvement that lasts. WestEd.
 <u>https://www.compcenternetwork.org/sites/default/files/local/24/CST_Promising-Practices-2_15_17.pdf</u>
- Hitt, D. H., Robinson, W., & Player, D. (2018). District readiness to support school turnaround: A guide for state education agencies and districts (2nd ed.). WestEd. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED593091.pdf
- Holme, J., Jabbar, H., Germain, E., & Dinning, J. (2017). Rethinking teacher turnover:
 Longitudinal measures of instability in schools, *Educational Researcher*, 47(1), 62–75.
 https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X17735813
- Hoxby, C., Kang, J., & Murarka, S. (2009). Technical report: How New York City's charter schools affect achievement. New York City Charter Schools Evaluation Project. http://users.nber.org/~schools/charterschoolseval/how_nyc_charter_schools_affect_achie vement_technical_report_2009.pdf
- Hoxby, C. M., & Murarka, S. (2007). Charter schools in New York City: Who enrolls and how they affect their students' achievement. National Bureau of Economic Research.
 http://www.nber.org/~schools/charterschoolseval/nyc_charter_schools_technical_report_july2007.pdf.

- Hursh, D. (2007). Assessing No Child Left Behind and the rise of neoliberal education policies. *American Educational Research Journal*, 44(3), 493–518. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831207306764
- Jason, Z. (2017). The battle over charter schools: How did things become so polarized? *Harvard Graduate School of Education Magazine*.

https://www.gse.harvard.edu/news/ed/17/05/battle-over-charter-schools

- Klute, M., Cherasaro, T., & Apthorp, H. (2016). Summary of research on the association between state interventions in chronically low-performing schools and student achievement (REL 2016–138). National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Regional Educational Laboratory Central, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED565613.pdf</u>
- Kowal, J., Hassel, E. A., & Hassel, B. (2009). Successful school turnarounds: Seven steps for district leaders [Issue Brief]. Center for Comprehensive School Reform and Improvement, Learning Points Associates. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED507589.pdf</u>
- Lachat, M. A., & Smith, S. (2005). Practices that support data use in urban high schools. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk*, 10(3), 333–339. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327671espr1003_7

Ladd, H. F., Clotfelter, C. T., & Holbein, J. B. (2017). The growing segmentation of the charter school sector in North Carolina. *Education Finance and Policy*, 12(4), 536–563. https://doi.org/10.1162/edfp_a_00226

Lake, R., & Hill, P. (2006). *Hopes, fears, and reality: A balanced look at American charter schools (School of Public Affairs)*. University of Washington.

- Leithwood, L., Seashore Louis, K., Anderson, S., & Wahlstrom, K. (2004). *How leadership influences student learning*. The Wallace Foundation. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/11299/2035</u>
- LiBetti, A., Burgoyne-Allen, P., Lewis, B., & Schmitz, K. (2019). *The state of the charter sector*. Bellwether.

https://bellwethereducation.org/sites/default/files/State%20of%20the%20Charter%20Sect or_Bellwether.pdf

- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage Publications.
- Love, N., Stiles, K. E., Mundry, S., & DiRanna, K. (2008). *The data coach's guide to improving learning for all students*. Corwin Press.
- Lubienski, C. A., & Weitzel, P. C. (Eds.). (2010). *The charter school experiment: Expectations, evidence, and implications*. Harvard Education Press.
- Lutterloh, C., Cornier, J. P., & Hassel, B. C. (2016). *Measuring school turnaround success*. WestEd.

https://www.schoolturnaroundsupport.org/sites/default/files/resources/Measuring_School ______Turnaround_Success.pdf

- Mackinac Center. (n.d.) *The Overton window*. Mackinac Center for Public Policy. https://www.mackinac.org/OvertonWindow
- Marsh, L. (2016, October 27). The flaws of the Overton window theory. *The New Republic*. <u>https://newrepublic.com/article/138003/flaws-overton-window-theory</u>

Masumoto, M., & Brown-Welty, S. (2009). Case study of leadership practices and schoolcommunity interrelationships in high-performing, high-poverty, rural California high schools. *Journal of Research in Rural Education*, 24(1), 1–18. http://jrre.vmhost.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/24-1.pdf

http://jffe.viinost.psu.edu/wp-content/upi0aus/2014/02/24-1.pur

Macdonald, B. & Walker, R. (1975). Case-study and the social philosophy of educational Research. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 5(1), 2–11. https://doi.org/10.1080/0305764750050101

- McFarland, J., Hussar, B., de Brey, C., Snyder, T., Wang, X., Wilkinson-Flicker, S.,
 Gebrekristos, S., Zhang, J., Rathbun, A., Barmer, A., Bullock Mann, F., & Hinz, S.
 (2017). *The condition of education 2017* (NCES 2017-144). National Center for
 Education Statistics, U.S. Department of Education.
 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED574257.pdf
- Mead, S. (2012). *New demands shape a field in transition*. National Association of Charter School Association (NACSA). <u>https://www.qualitycharters.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2015/11/Monograph_NewDemandsShape.pdf</u>
- Measures of Effective Teaching Project. (2010). *Learning about teaching: Initial findings from the measures of effective teaching project*. Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation. <u>http://k12education.gatesfoundation.org/download/?Num=2683&filename=Preliminary_</u> <u>Finding-Policy_Brief.pdf</u>

Merriam, S. (2009). Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation. Jossey-Bass.

Merriam, S., & Tisdell, E. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). Wiley.

- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). Qualitative data analysis: A sourcebook of new methods. Sage Publications.
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldaña, J. (2014). *Qualitative data analysis: A sourcebook of new methods* (3rd. ed.). Sage Publications.
- Minnici, A., Barringer, M., & Hassel, B. (2016). *Time for action: Building the educator* workforce our children need now. Center on Great Teachers & Leaders at American
 Institutes for Research. <u>glcenter.org/sites/default/files/Building_Educator_Workforce.pdf</u>
- Miron, G., & Nelson, C. (2002). *What's public about charter schools: Lessons learned about choice and accountability*. Corwin Press.
- Moore, K. A., & Emig, C. (2014). Integrated student supports: A summary of the evidence base for policymakers. Child Trends. <u>https://www.childtrends.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2014/02/2014-05ISSWhitePaper3.pdf</u>
- Mora, R., & Christianakis, M. (2013). Missing the mark: Neoliberalism and the unwarranted rise of charter schools. In J. Gorlewski & B. J. Porfilio (Eds.), *Left behind in the race to the top: Realities of school reform* (pp. 85-102). Information Age Publishing.
- Morando-Rhim, L., & Kothari, S. (2018). Key trends in special education in charter schools: A secondary analysis of the civil rights data collection. National Center for Special Education in Charter Schools. <u>https://www.ncsecs.org/wp-content/uploads/NCSECS-15-16-CRDC-Report.pdf</u>
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Sage Publications.
- Mulgan, R. (2000). Accountability: An ever-expanding concept? *Public Administration*, 78(3), 555–573. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9299.00218</u>

National Association for Charter School Authorizers (NACSA). (2013). *The state of charter school authorizing: 2012.*

https://www.qualitycharters.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/NACSA_2013-SOCA.pdf

National Association of Charter School Authorizers (NACSA). (2015). State of charter authorizing: 2015 state of charter authorizing report.

https://www.qualitycharters.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/2015-State-of-Charter-

Authorizing-FINAL.pdf

National Association of Charter School Authorizers (NACSA). (2018a). Leadership,

commitment, judgment: Elements of successful charter school authorizing.

https://www.qualitycharters.org/wp-

content/uploads/2018/03/LJC_Elements_of_Successful_Charter_School_Authorizing_FI

<u>NAL_02.27.2018.pdf</u>

National Association of Charter School Authorizers (NACSA). (2018b) Principles and

standards for quality charter school authorizing. https://www.qualitycharters.org/wp-

content/uploads/2018/10/NACSA-Principles-and-Standards-2018-Edition.pdf

National Alliance for Public Charter Schools (NAPCS). (2020). Who authorizes charter schools?

Knowledge Base: Charter School Data Digest.

https://data.publiccharters.org/digest/charter-school-data-digest/who-authorizes-charter-

schools/

National Alliance for Public Charter Schools (NAPCS). (n.d.-a) About charter schools.

https://www.publiccharters.org/about-charter-schools

- National Alliance for Public Charter Schools (NAPCS). (n.d.-b) *National charter school facts: Charter school data dashboard*. NAPCS. <u>https://data.publiccharters.org/</u>
- National Commission on Excellence in Education. (1983). *A nation at risk: The imperative for educational reform*. U.S. Government Printing Office. https://doi.org/10.1086/461348
- National Charter School Resource Center (NCSRC). (2014). *Restarts: An alternative to closing a school*.
- National Conference of State Legislatures (NCSL). (n.d.). *Charter schools in the states: A series* of briefs. <u>https://www.ncsl.org/research/education/charter-schools-in-the-states.aspx</u>
- National Education Association (NEA). (2017). *NEA policy statement on charter schools*. <u>http://www.nea.org/home/CharterSchoolPolicyStatement.html</u>
- Ni, Y., & Rorrer, A. K. (2012). Twice considered: Charter schools and student achievement in Utah. *Economics of Education Review*, *31*(5), 835–849.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2012.06.003

- No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, P.L. 107-110, 20 U.S.C. § 6319 (2002).
- NY 2855–Causes for revocation or termination, NY Educ L § 2855 (2014).
- O'Brien, E. M., & Dervarics, C. (2010). *Charter schools: Finding out the facts*. Center for Public Education.
- Odden, A., Archibald, S., Fermanich, M., & Gallagher, H. A. (2002). A cost framework for professional development. *Journal of Education Finance*, 28(1), 51–74. https://www.jstor.org/stable/40704157
- Ouchi, W. (2009). *The secret of TSL, the revolutionary discovery that raises school performance*. Simon & Schuster.

- Palmer, B. L., & Gau, R. (2003). *Charter school authorizing: Are states making the grade?*Thomas Fordham Institute. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED498009.pdf</u>
- Paredes, M. (2011). Parent involvement as an instructional strategy: Academic parent-teacher teams [Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Arizona State University]. ASU Library Digital Repository.

https://repository.asu.edu/attachments/56346/content/Paredes_asu_0010E_10305.pdf

- Patterson, C. (2018). *Measuring the lasting impact of a nation at risk*. Walton Family Foundation. <u>https://www.waltonfamilyfoundation.org/stories/k-12-education/measuring-the-lasting-impact-of-a-nation-at-risk</u>
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice* (4th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Phenicie, C. (2019, October 28). New CAP report urges federal charter program to shift focus from opening new schools to fixing problems in sector.

https://www.the74million.org/article/new-cap-report-urges-federal-charter-program-toshift-focus-from-opening-new-schools-to-fixing-problems-in-sector/

- Ravitch, D. (2010). *The death and life of the great American school system: How testing and choice are undermining education*. Basic Books.
- Rees, N., & Edelin, R. (2019, May 17). Charter school facilities are still overlooked and underfunded. Washington Examiner. <u>https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/opinion/op-</u> eds/charter-school-facilities-are-still-overlooked-and-underfunded
- Rumberger, R. and Larson, K. (1998) Student mobility and the increased risk of high school dropout. *American Journal of Education*, *107*(1), 1-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/444201</u>

- Saldaña, J. (2013). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers* (2nd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Sass, T. R. (2006). Charter schools and student achievement in Florida. *Education Finance and Policy*, *1*(1), 91–122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/edfp.2006.1.1.91</u>
- Schwerdt, G., & West, M. R. (2011). The impact of alternative grade configurations on student outcomes through middle and high school. Program on Education Policy and Governance Working Papers Series at Harvard University.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2012.10.002

- Seashore-Louis, K., Dretzke, B., & Wahlstrom, K. (2010). How does leadership affect student achievement? Results from a national U.S. survey. *School effectiveness and school improvement*, 21(3), 315–336. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2010.486586</u>
- Shannon, G. S., & Bylsma, P. (2007). The nine characteristics of high-performing schools: A research-based resource for schools and districts to assist with improving student learning (2nd ed.). Washington Office of Superintendent of Public Instruction.
 <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED499819.pdf</u>
- Smarick, A. (2005). Original intent: What legislative history tells us about the purposes of *chartering* [Unpublished manuscript].
- Sondel, B. (2015). Raising citizens or raising test scores: The development of the neoliberal citizen in "no excuses" charter schools. *Theory and Research in Social Education*, 43(3), 289–313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00933104.2015.1064505</u>

- Spees, L. P., & Lauren, D. E. (2019). Evaluating charter school achievement growth in North Carolina: Differentiated effects among disadvantaged students, stayers, and switchers. *American Journal of Education*, 125(3), 417–451. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/702739</u>
- Spillane, J. P., Halverson, R., & Diamond, J. B. (2001). Investigating school leadership practice: A distributed perspective. *Educational Researcher*, 30(3), 23–28. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X030003023

Stake, R. (1995). The art of case study research. Sage Publications.

Steiner, L. (2009). Tough decisions: Closing persistently low-performing schools. Center on Innovation & Improvement.

http://www.centerii.org/survey/downloads/Tough_Decisions.pdf

- Steiner, L., & Hassel, E. A. (2011). Using competencies to improve school turnaround principal success. University of Virginia's Darden/Curry Partnership for Leaders in Education. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED539544.pdf</u>
- Stigler, J. W., & Hiebert, J. (2009). *The teaching gap: Best ideas from the world's teachers for improving education in the classroom.* Simon & Schuster.
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1998). *Basics of qualitative research: Grounded theory procedures and techniques* (2nd ed.). Sage Publications.

Therriault, S. (2016). A new approach to school turnaround: Charter operators managing district schools [Policy brief]. American Institutes for Research. https://www.air.org/sites/default/files/downloads/report/New-Approach-to-School-Turnaround-Charter-Schools-Lawrence-July-2016.pdf

- Thompson, C. L., Henry, G., & Preston, C. (2016). School turnaround through scaffolded craftsmanship. *Teachers College Record*, 118(13), 1–26. <u>https://my.vanderbilt.edu/scalingupcenter/files/2016/12/School-Turnaround-through-Scaffolded-Craftsmanship.pdf</u>
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2018). Four geographic regions and nine divisions of the United States -Health, United States.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK551093/figure/appii.fig1/

U.S. Department of Education. (2007a). *Innovations in education: Successful charter schools*.U.S. Education Publications Center.

https://www2.ed.gov/admins/comm/choice/charter/report.pdf

- U.S. Department of Education. (2007b). *Supporting charter school excellence through quality authorizing*. https://www2.ed.gov/nclb/choice/charter/authorizing/pub_pg14.html
- U.S. Department of Education. (2014). School improvement grant (SIG) national assessment results summary: Cohorts 1 and 2. https://www2.ed.gov/programs/sif/index.html
- U.S. Department of Education. (2016). *Funding status*. Laws & Guidance: Charter Schools Program State Educational Agencies (SEA) Grant.

https://www2.ed.gov/programs/charter/funding.html

- U.S. Department of Education. (2018). *Department of Education fiscal year 2019 congressional action budget*. <u>https://www2.ed.gov/about/overview/budget/budget19/19action.pdf</u>
- U.S. Department of Education. (2019a). *The condition of education 2019, public charter school* enrollment. (2019–144). <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED594978.pdf</u>

- U.S. Department of Education, (2019b). *Public elementary/secondary school universe survey*, 1999-00 and 2017-18. <u>https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator_cla.asp</u>
- U.S. Department of Education. (2020). *Review of individual studies protocol, version 3.1*. What Works Clearinghouse.

https://ies.ed.gov/ncee/wwc/Docs/ReferenceResources/Review_of_Individual_Studies_Pr otocol_3.1_508_Compliant.pdf

- U.S. House of Representatives. (2018). Department of Defense for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2018, and for other purposes: Conference report to accompany H.R. 8157. <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CRPT-115hrpt952/pdf/CRPT-115hrpt952.pdf</u>
- Vergari, S. (2001). Charter school authorizers: public agents for holding charter schools accountable. *Education and Urban Society*, 33(2), 129–140. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124501332003
- Vescio, V., Ross, D., & Adams, A. (2008). A review of research on the impact of professional learning communities on teaching practice and student learning. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24(1), 80–91. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2007.01.004</u>
- Waters, T., & Cameron, G. (2007). The balanced leadership framework: Connecting vision with action. Mid-continent Research for Education and Learning (McREL). <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED544245.pdf</u>
- Weiss, H. B., Kreider, H. E., Lopez, M., & Chatman-Nelson, C. E. (2010). Preparing educators to engage families: Case studies using an ecological systems framework. Sage Publications.

- Wells, A. S., Grutzik, C., Carnochan, S., Slayton, J., & Vasudeva, A. (1999). Underlying policy assumptions of charter school reform: The multiple meanings of a movement. *Teachers College Record*, 100(3), 513–535. (EJ588862). ERIC https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ588862
- Wohlstetter, P., Smith, J., & Farrell, C. C. (2013). *Choices and challenges: Charter school performance in perspective*. Harvard Education Press.
- Yin, R. K. (2009). Case study research: Design and methods (4th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Zavadsky, H. (2016). *Scaling turnaround: A district-improvement approach*. American Enterprise Institute. <u>https://www.aei.org/outlook/education/k-12/system-reform/scaling-</u> <u>turnaround-a-district-improvement-approach/</u>
- Zimmer, R., Blanc, S., Gill, B., & Christman, J. (2008). *Evaluating the performance of Philadelphia's charter schools*. RAND Education.
- Zimmer, R., & Buddin, R. (2006). Charter school performance in urban districts. *Journal of Urban Economics*, 60(2), 307–326. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jue.2006.03.003
- Zimmer, R., Buddin, R., Chau, D., Gill, B., Guarino, C., Hamilton, L., & Brewer, D. (2003). Charter school operation and performance: Evidence from California. MR-1700. RAND.
- Zimmer, R., Buddin, R., Smith, S.A., & Duffy, D. (2019). Nearly three decades into the charter school movement, what has research told us about charter schools? (EdWorkingPaper 19-156). Annenberg Institute at Brown University. <u>https://doi.org/10.26300/wkkj-3559</u>
- Zimmer, R., & Engberg, J. (2016). Can broad inferences be drawn from lottery analyses of school choice programs? An exploration of appropriate sensitivity analyses. *School Choice Journal*, 10(1), 48-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15582159.2015.1132936</u>

- Zimmer, R., Gill, B., Booker, K., Lavertu, S., & Witte, J. (2012). Examining charter school achievement in seven states. *Economics of Education Review*, 31(2), 213–224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2011.05.005</u>
- Zimmer, R., Gill, B., Attridge, J., & Obenauf, K. (2014). Charter school authorizers and student achievement. *Education Finance and Policy*, 9(1), 59–85. <u>http://doi.org/10.1162/EDFP_a_00120</u>

APPENDIX A: DRAFT RECRUITMENT EMAIL

Dear X,

I am engaged in research to identify authorizer frameworks for charter schools participating in an improvement/turnaround effort. I would like to interview seasoned charter authorizers, such as yourself, to hear thoughts and reflections on your perspective of allowing under-performing charters to turnaround as well as holding charter schools accountable during an improvement effort.

I would like to request a one-hour virtual interview with each member of your team involved with school closures, school performance reviews and school support. If you would like to participate, please send your resume and complete the doodle poll linked below to schedule a time to talk. The discussion will not take more than 1 hour. Please feel free to forward this invitation to others on your team who are involved in school closures, school performance reviews, and school support; each team member can schedule their own interview time. The goal of these interviews is to answer the following questions:

- 1. What contextual factors were in place for you (the authorizer) to facilitate school turnaround, such as policies (state-local) allowing for improvement in lieu of closure; and
- 2. What models of accountability were used for schools conducting turnaround, such as autonomies provided, and how turnaround progress was monitored?

I have reserved time during [two-week window] for interviews but are willing to work around your schedule. Please use the following link to schedule a time: [doodle poll]

If you have any questions about the research you would like to discuss in advance, please let me know! Thank you for your consideration.

157

APPENDIX B: INTERVIEW PROTOCOLS

Semi-Structured Interview Protocol for Authorizers and Board Members

Thank you for taking the time to meet with me today.

To ensure the accuracy in our data collection, I would like to audio record this session. I will destroy the audio recording after ensuring my notes have captured the content of this interview. The recording will be transcribed and used for coding purposes, but both the audio and transcript will be destroyed once coded so I may summarize the findings. Do I have your permission to record?

Any interpretation or quotation will be sent for your review to ensure I have interpreted our discussion correctly. In the final write-up, your personal information will not be used to identify individuals, nor authorizing entities. A pseudonym will be used to uphold confidentiality.

Do you have any questions for me before we begin?

Philosophy/Context

- 1. What role to charter schools serve in your sector?
- How do parents and other stakeholders view charter school closures in your context?
 Renewal Criteria
- 1. What criteria do schools need to meet to have their charter renewed?
 - a. *Probe:* Are there circumstances where expectations vary from school to school, reflecting schools' differing missions and purposes?
 - a. *Probe:* Are advantages and disadvantages of a school's student body factored into the school's renewal criteria? How so?

- 2. What are the options for low-performing charter schools in your sector?
- 3. As an authorizer, what and how are you held accountable to the quality of the charters you authorize?

Decision making process to offer turnaround

- 1. How did turnaround become an option for low- or under-performing schools?
- 2. Why do you offer schools a turnaround option?
- 3. Are all under/low performing charter schools offered a turnaround option?
 - a. *Probe*: When is it appropriate to offer turnaround to a school?

Specific school examples of turnaround

- 1. Walk me through [name of school offered turnaround]:
- 2. Are there particular expectations, activities, data collection schedules, etc. for schools conducting turnaround?
 - a. *Probe:* How long did the school have to improve?
 - b. Probe: Who oversees turnaround initiatives?
- 3. What kinds of information do you gather as part of the turnaround process?
- 4. Who gathers the information? How is this information gathered? How often? How is it used?
- 5. What is the responsibility of the authorizer to support low-performing charters? How so?
 - a. *Probe:* The State?
 - b. *Probe:* Other entities? Whom?

Open Codes	Axial Codes	Themes
More in favor of closure for low performing schools for students' sake	Authorizer philosophy	
More in favor of improvement option for students' sake		Improvement
Easier on authorizer to revoke a charter than improvement		
Not all schools improve		
Turnaround is a lot of staff time, resources	Negative experience	
Turnaround is a delay of closure: kicking the can down the road	with improvement	
Past examples of successful improvement efforts		
Authorizer accountability rigidity is a negative		
Improvement can be what starts upward trajectory for community	Positive experience with improvement	
When a school improves; offers a great opportunity for families		
Improvement is less disruption on community		
Improvement leads to better relationships with community		
High dropout rates from closed schools		
Closure is disruptive to community institutions		
Closure is disruptive to students		vs. closure
Closure is difficult decision that takes time and analysis		vs. closure
Parents protest school closures	Negative experience	
Community does not understand why schools are closed	with closure	
Schools get community to show up at board meetings to show support		
Closure is very emotional		
Past closure that was difficult on authorizer	-	
Getting harder to close schools		
Difficult to open schools: districts fight it		
Authorizer reluctance to give up charters		
Schools are more than academic institutions	Other reasons for	
Schools serve as community hubs	improvement option	
Education outcomes are most important for authorizers to measure		
School offers students beyond that which is measured		
High-capacity/strong board chair		
High capacity/solid board		
Capacity-building supports to offer	Needed for turnaround	-
The right leader with turnaround competencies	-	
Board members resign	What should	
Drop in student enrollment		
Staff turnover is expected	schools/boards expect	
Standardized test data; outcome data dip	during turnaround	
Back of the office support/for hire	External supports available	
Charter support organization/membership org		Supporting
One stop shop of support: the [name of vendor]		
School improvement funds from State Education Agency		
Not a budget to provide direct support themselves	Lack of support available	School
No real statewide charter support org		Improvement
Authorizer does not provide support for struggling schools		
Pre-vet and predetermine vendor		
Authorizer can connect to others but does not provide support	Indirect supports from	
Recruitment of school board members	authorizer	
Connections to State Education Agency support		
One-to-one board training/coaching	Direct supports from authorizer]
Board training		
Critical friend for Improvement Plans		
Root cause analysis		
Root cause analysis		

APPENDIX C: OPEN AND AXIAL CODES AND THEMES

Open Codes	Axial Codes	Themes
Personalized support to schools		
Board to board meetings discussing data		
Conversations with school leaders		
Cohort training with leaders		
Held accountable by public through public position		
Only one point of accountability	Indirect authorizer	
Board only approves charters	accountability	
Renewal is biggest accountability lever		
Improvement aligned to meeting renewal criteria	-	
Need clear renewal expectations	Lessons learned about	
Need clear repercussions to not meeting renewal criteria	accountability	
Holding true to standards is difficult		
Renewal is biggest accountability lever	-	
Accountability framework for schools in turnaround not different than		
other schools		Performance
All schools are held to a bare minimum	Doutoman as contract	Frameworks
Stair step gradually builds toward renewal criteria	Performance contract for turnaround	
Academic framework based on state tier system	for turnaround	
Improvement plan criteria determined by state		
Improvement plan: alignment of everyone and everything to improvement		
Legislation about mandatory closure		
No legislation about mandatory closure	State-local law	
No legislation about turnaround option		
Underperforming schools treated as new schools		
Make sure improvement getting started on the right foot		
More/added oversight	Determining the amount	
Increased oversight led to better practice	of oversight	
Sometimes do extra site evaluations		
How to support the school		
Are you on a positive trajectory	Purpose of site visit	
Underperforming schools treated as new schools		a
Midyear teacher retention		Site visits
Midyear student withdrawals	Differing data	
Local benchmark assessments	collection for improvement schools	
Improvement plan progress		
Financial markers		
Most attention paid to academic improvement		
Financial and academic went hand in hand		
Get board involved in visit	Lessons learned	
Depending on improvement offer varying contract lengths	Authorizer levers for	
Have ability to offer variable term limits at renewal	contract terms	
There is a timeframe for improvement	Authorizer lessons learned regarding time	-
Time it takes to improve is around 3 years	for improvement	
"Accountability clock" of 5 years	Contract terms in	
Mandatory closure after 3 consecutive years of 1 star performance	statute	
Create a sense of urgency on the part of the school		Contract
Renewal is biggest lever for authorizers		Year Terms
Even with shorter contracts, renewal conditions must be met	Reason for shorter term	i cui i cimb
Increased oversight	contracts	
School comes before the authorizer board more often		
Authorizer engages earlier		
Shorter contracts were more burdensome on the schools trying to make		1
progress	Reason for longer contract terms	
Allowing schools time for turnaround puts focus back on kids		
The sing senoors time for turnaround puts focus back on Rids	l	1

Open Codes	Axial Codes	Themes
Schools have the time they need to get what they need in place		
We can remove board members/reconstitute the board	Authorizer lever limiting autonomy	Autonomy
Find an operator for the school		
Find a new/different leader		
Prune the tree: close lowest performing grade levels		
Tiers dictate what happens next for accountability		
Autonomy reductions as go through Tiers	Autonomy based on time or attempts at improvement	
(Level 1) School improvement plan		
(Level 2) Heightened intervention = lowered autonomy		
(Level 3) More heightened intervention = vendor must use		
Authorizer chooses vendor for school		
We do not tell a school what to do	Authorizer upheld autonomy	
It's a school's choice who they work with		
Our role is not to prescribe changes		